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Corporate Information
NIV
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Corporate Information
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the audited annual results of the
Group for the Year 2024.

During the Year 2024, global economic growth gradually stabilised, and
trade activities steadily recovered. The semiconductor industry continued
to exhibit rapid development, driven by technological advancements,
increasing market demand, and the restructuring of global supply chains.
During the Year, innovations and applications in artificial intelligence (Al)
technology accelerated the iteration of consumer electronics, presenting
new market opportunities. Following a prolonged period of inventory
destocking, the industry began to recover, clearly signaling a return to
growth. Meanwhile, the global storage market experienced a notable
shift from downturn to recovery. The industry benefited from both price
rebound and technological upgrades. The domestic storage industry chain,
from upstream chip manufacturing to end-use applications, achieved faster
integration and demonstrated strong momentum. In addition, sectors
such as new energy, automotive electronics, and industrial automation
saw simultaneous growth in both volume and value, with market demand
becoming increasingly robust.

To capture these market opportunities, the Group steadily advanced its
business diversification strategy, continued to optimise its product mix, and
strengthened its supply chain to ensure healthy and sustainable growth.
During the Year 2024, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$3,051.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 20.6%. Profit
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$6.7 million, a
significant turnaround from the net loss of HK$16.2 million in 2023.

During the Year 2024, amid rapid changes in economic models and
accelerating technological upgrades, the Group remained committed to
a customer-centric market expansion strategy in 2024. It actively explored
new markets to respond to dynamic industry demands and continued to
grow its customer base, further consolidating its market share. Meanwhile,
in the face of global digitalisation and intelligent transformation, the
Group pursued continuous innovation and expanded its footprint in the
fields of new energy and new materials, making new progress in product
development. The Group also implemented effective cost control measures
to enhance efficiency and reduce expenses.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

Looking ahead, with the implementation of domestic subsidy policies
for the consumer electronics sector and the acceleration of Al-driven
product replacement cycles, the upward trend in consumer electronics
market growth is expected to strengthen. The deepening integration of Al
applications continues to diversify storage requirements, with sustained
strong demand for memory chips from downstream sectors such as smart
vehicles and robotics. Driven by the triple engines of policy support,
technological advancement, and market forces, China's semiconductor
industry is expected to maintain parallel trajectories of scale expansion and
structural optimisation. Despite challenges from international competition
and supply chain vulnerabilities, China is poised to assume a more central
role in the global semiconductor landscape through technological
innovation, import substitution, and global strategic deployment. This
momentum positions China to lead technological transformations in
emerging fields like Al and automotive electronics, thereby establishing a
solid foundation for our Group's business development.

In the traditional consumer electronics market, Al is empowering electronic
products in all aspects, becoming a major driver for consumer device
upgrades. The penetration rate of smart electronic products is gradually
improving, with smartphone voice assistants evolving into intelligent
agents and interactive features like real-time translation becoming
standard. In the Al PC sector, hardware innovations are set to redefine
PC usage scenarios, while wearable gadgets show a clear trend toward
lightweight design. The deep integration of artificial intelligence and
loT technologies is driving the transformation of consumer electronics
from single-function demand to an “all-scenario intelligent ecosystem”
stimulating market demand growth. In traditional sectors such as mobile
phones and computers, the demand for high-performance, low-power
semiconductor products are increasing against the trend, maintaining
positive prospects for the global semiconductor industry.

In emerging markets, intelligent vehicles, industrial Internet, AR/VR and
other sectors will become new growth points for the semiconductor
market. According to predictions from the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, China'’s total automobile sales in 2025 are expected to reach
329 million units, representing a year-on-year growth of 4.7%. Among
these, under the combined effects of multiple favorable factors including
accelerated release of macro policy vitality, continued effectiveness of the
“Two New" policies, extension of the new energy vehicle purchase tax
exemption policy, and continuously expanding overseas market space,
China’s new energy vehicle market will maintain rapid growth momentum.
Annual sales are expected to reach 16 million units, recording a year-
on-year increase of 24.4%. In terms of energy storage and photovoltaics,
the National Energy Administration stated that 2025 will see vigorous
advancement in wind and solar power development and utilisation, with
annual new installed capacity of wind and solar power expected to reach
around 200 million kilowatts. The prosperity of both the new energy
vehicle and photovoltaic industries will provide strong supply chain
support for the high-speed growth of Al-driven power semiconductors.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

With the support of national policies, the acceleration of localisation
replacement, and the driving force of emerging technologies, China’s
semiconductor market is expected to maintain its growth momentum in
2025. The rapid development of 5G and the loT has driven up demand
for semiconductor materials, while the rising popularity of electric and
smart vehicles has fueled the growth of automotive semiconductors. In
terms of energy storage and photovoltaics, technological innovations
from wafers to systems—combined with advancements in efficient heat
dissipation, packaging, and integrated drive technologies—are expected
to continuously improve the power density of photovoltaic inverters
and energy storage power conversion systems (PCS). The outlook for
power devices such as Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistors (IGBTs) remains
promising. Moreover, third-generation semiconductors, centered around
silicon carbide (SiC) and gallium nitride (GaN), are leading a new energy
revolution and transforming industry chains with their high-frequency,
high-power, and low-loss characteristics. Their applications are becoming
increasingly widespread.

The acceleration of localisation replacement has also created golden
opportunities for the localisation of supporting industries. From ChatGPT
to DeepSeek large models, and from autonomous driving to Al-
powered terminal devices, the surging demand for computing power
is propelling the semiconductor industry into a new cycle of growth.,
The rapid development of these Al applications has not only opened up
new growth avenues for the semiconductor sector but also sped up the
localisation replacement of the semiconductor supply chain, providing
vast development potential for domestic semiconductor enterprises.
Meanwhile, the global trend of de-risking and localised manufacturing
has prompted countries to increase investment in their domestic
semiconductor industries. In response, China has introduced a series of
growth-stabilising measures aimed at revitalising the relevant supply
chains, which will further stimulate semiconductor demand.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

Overall, as the foundational pillar of a new form of technological
productivity, China's semiconductor industry is entering a period of
triple opportunity driven by technological breakthroughs, supportive
policies, and growing demand—particularly amid the surging need
for Al computing power, tightening technological restrictions, and the
accelerating pace of localisation replacement. This will help establish a
complete industrial ecosystem and competitive edge while mitigating
related risks. The Group will continue to consolidate its foundation in the
traditional consumer electronics market, enhance resilience and deepen
innovation in the face of industry challenges, and expand into key verticals
such as industrial manufacturing, new energy vehicles, and Al large models.
The Group will further optimise our diversified product portfolio and
place greater emphasis on building a resilient supply chain to improve
risk resistance and agility. In doing so, the Group aims to contribute to the
high-quality development of China's domestic semiconductor value chain
and create greater value for our shareholders and investors.

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong
Chairman
28 March 2025
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEhENEERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (“Mr. Lee”), aged 70, the founder of the Group and
a Controlling Shareholder, was appointed as an executive Director on 4 July
2012 and is also the CEO and the Chairman as well as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Lee is also a director of certain Subsidiaries. Mr. Lee obtained a
bachelor's degree of applied science from the University of Toronto, Canada
in 1980. Mr. Lee established Nicegoal Investments in 1987 with business
mainly in manufacturing of personal computer motherboard and trading
of components and accessories for personal computer and AVT in 1992
which started its business of trading of electronic components in 2005.
Prior to the establishment of Nicegoal Investments, Mr. Lee acted as sales
engineer and marketing engineer in the sales and marketing department
of Motorola Semiconductors (HK) Limited during the period from 1981
and 1985. Mr. Lee has been active in the semiconductor field for more than
35 years. Mr. Lee is the sole director of Best Sheen Limited, a Controlling
Shareholder. Mr. Lee is the husband of Ms. Lo Yuen Lai, an executive
Director, and the brother-in-law of Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (NED), and the father of
Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai (“Ms. Lo"), aged 69, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 March 2019. Ms. Lo is also a director of certain Subsidiaries.
Ms. Lo worked as the assistant to the chief executive officer of AVT, an
indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary, from August 2015 to February 2018 and
has been the sales director and a director of AVT since February 2018 and
March 2019 respectively. Ms. Lo has also been a director of |-Sky Electronic
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary, since March 2004. Ms. Lo is
the wife of Mr. Lee, (a Controlling Shareholder, the Chairman, the CEO and
an executive Director), the elder sister of Mr. Lo, (NED), and the mother of
Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEhENREERERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (“Mr. Lo”), aged 62, was appointed as an executive
Director on 21 February 2014. On 1 September 2024, Mr. Lo was
redesignated as a NED in order to focus on the business development of
the Group. Mr. Lo is also a director of certain Subsidiaries. Mr. Lo joined
our Group in May 2012 as finance director and was appointed as the Vice
President of AVT in May 2021. In September 2024, Mr. Lo was transferred
as the general manager of another subsidiary of the Group. He has been
a project manager of AVT since August 2020. Mr. Lo obtained a bachelor’s
degree of engineering from The Cooper Union for the Advancement of
Science and Art, New York, US in 1988 and a master’s degree of science
(aeronautics and astronautics) from Stanford University, California, US in
1990. In 1987, Mr. Lo was elected by The Cooper Union — Cooper Union
Pi Phi Chapter and declared a certified member of Pi Tau Sigma Fraternity.
Further, Mr. Lo was a responsible officer of Positano Wealth Management
Limited for the supervision of Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO during the period
from September 2017 to February 2019 and was a responsible officer of
China Shenghai Investment Management Limited responsible for the
supervision of Type 1 (dealing in securities) (for the period from September
2009 to August 2013), Type 4 (advising on securities) (for the period from
April 2009 to August 2013) and Type 9 (asset management) (for the period
from April 2009 to August 2013). During the period from December 2002
to February 2007, Mr. Lo worked for SinoPac Capital Limited as director
of equity trading. During the period from 1990 to 2016, Mr. Lo worked
with various financial institutions and accounting firm, including Price
Waterhouse, Credit Lyonnais (Asia) Limited, Mees Pierson Securities (Asia)
Limited, Morgan Grenfell Asia Securities (HK) Limited, BZW Asia Limited,
China International Capital Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited, ING Baring
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, GK. Goh Securities (H.K) Limited and YGD
Asset Management (HK) Limited. Mr. Lo is the younger brother of Ms. Lo
and the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee, both being executive Directors and an
uncle of Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEhENEERERE

INDEPENDENT NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui (“Mr. Cheung SK”), aged 75, was appointed as an
INED on 15 February 2018. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Cheung SK obtained a bachelor’s degree of
applied science from the University of Toronto, Canada in 1975. Mr. Cheung
SK was elected a member of the Association of Professional Engineers of
the Province of Ontario, Canada and the Institution of Electronic and Radio
Engineers in 1977 and 1983 respectively. Mr. Cheung SK retired in 2008.
Prior to Mr. Cheung SK’s retirement, he acted as vice president (Greater
China Operation) of Renesas Technology (Hong Kong) Limited during
the period from 2003 to 2008 responsible for, amongst others, strategic
planning and operation support for the Greater China Market. During the
period from 1983 to 2003, Mr. Cheung SK worked in various electronic
components companies, including Motorola Semiconductors (HK) Limited
and Hitachi Electronic Components (Asia) Limited; and was responsible for
the sales and marketing of electronic components.

Mr. Yim Kwok Man (“Mr. Yim"”), aged 56, was appointed as an INED on
15 February 2018. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Yim has over 20 years'
experience in the areas of corporate finance, debt and equity capital
markets, asset management and merger and acquisition advisory. He
has been a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the UK since 2003 and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (now known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants) since 2002. Mr. Yim is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1314), with effect from November 2012. Mr. Yim is also a non-executive
director of Star Group Company Limited (formerly known as Star Properties
Group (Cayman lIslands) Limited), the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1560), with effect from March
2016. Mr. Yim was a responsible officer of Odysseus Capital Asia Limited
(formerly known as GALAXY CAPITAL LIMITED), a corporation licensed
under the SFO, for Type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate finance)
till July 2014. Mr. Yim graduated with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in
civil engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in 1991 and obtained a master in business
administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1994.
From Mr. Yim's graduation to present, he worked with various financial
institutions and investment banks, including Rabobank International Hong
Kong Branch, DBS Asia Capital Limited and CITIC Capital Markets Holdings
Limited.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEhENREERERE

Dr. Chow Terence (“Dr. Chow"), aged 62, was appointed as an INED on
15 February 2018. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Chow obtained a Bachelor of Medicine
and Bachelor of Surgery degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1987. Dr. Chow worked in various public and academic units, including
medicine, surgery, orthopaedics & traumatology, oncology, anaesthesia
and intensive care before starting his private general practice in 1991. Dr.
Chow founded Bright Growth Doctors & Associates in 1993, which was the
first private medical group in Hong Kong to have its own CT (computerised
tomography) machine. In 2000, Dr. Chow founded TY Healthcare
Corporation and has been its chairman and medical director since then.
From 2007 to 2012, Dr. Chow was appointed by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as a Penal Member of the
Human Organ Transplant Board. He is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Medical Association and the Hong Kong College of Family Physicians.
Dr. Chow is also an Honorary Clinical Assistant Professor in Family Medicine
at The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (“Mr. Cheung HK"), aged 57, was appointed
as an INED on 1 September 2024. Mr. Cheung HK has over 30 years
of experience in auditing, financial accounting, initial public offerings,
merger and acquisitions, corporate finance activities and investor
relations. Mr. Cheung HK joined PricewaterhouseCoopers in July 1994
and left as @ manager in the corporate finance and recovery department
of PricewaterhouseCoopers in March 2003. From March 2003 to March
2008, Mr. Cheung HK served in Boto Company Limited, a festival product
manufacturing company, and held various positions including chief
financial officer. Mr. Cheung HK joined Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1638.HK) in July 2008 and for the period from November 2009 to
December 2014, served as its chief financial officer, company secretary and
joint authorised representative. From January to March 2017, Mr. Cheung
HK served in Culture Landmark Investment Limited (stock code: 674.HK)
as the company secretary and chief financial officer. From March 2017 to
March 2020, Mr. Cheung HK served in Harvest Property Holdings Limited,
a China-based property developer, and held various positions including
chief financial officer, vice president, joint authorised representative and
company secretary. Mr. Cheung HK is currently an executive vice president
of Ganglong China Property Group Limited (stock code: 6968.HK).

From December 2011 to March 2022, Mr. Cheung HK served as an
independent non-executive director, and was the chairman of the audit
committee, of China Aluminum International Engineering Corporation
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2068) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601068).
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Mr. Cheung HK was admitted as a member of the AICPA in August 1996.
He was designated as a Chartered Financial Analyst by the Association for
Investment Management and Research in the United States of America
in September 2000. Mr. Cheung HK obtained his bachelor’s degree in
science from the University of Hong Kong in December 1990 and his
master’s degree (distinction) in quantum fields and fundamental forces
from Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of
London in January 1992.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lau Wai Yee (“Ms. Lau”), aged 58, joined our Group in August 2018
and was appointed as the Regional General Manager of the Group. Her
scope of duties include market development, sales and marketing and
customer development. She has over 20 years of management experience
in electronics field on sales and marketing in listed company.

Mr. Ho Yuen Tung (“Mr. Ho"), aged 45, joined the Group in 2017 and
was appointed as the financial controller of the Group in July 2018 and
was promoted to Vice President, Finance of the Group in January 2021.
Mr. Ho is responsible for the Group’s financial management, including
financial budget, accounting, strategic planning, merger and investor
relations. He has extensive experience in auditing, financial and treasury
management, information technology, credit control as well as banking. He
has accumulated more than 15 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and financial management in international audit firms and listed company.
On 11 March 2022, he was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Minerva Group Holding Limited (formerly known as Power
Financial Group Limited) (stock code: 397), the shares of which are listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Business
Administration (Accounting) from Hong Kong Baptist University and he is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom.

Mr. Lee Chak Hol (“Mr. CH Lee”), aged 33, joined our Group in October
2015 and was redesignated as a Vice President of the Group on 1 April
2022. He is mainly responsible for the procurement of the corporate
management strategies for administrative operation and business
operation of the Group. He is also a director of certain Subsidiaries.
Prior to the re-designation, Mr. CH Lee was appointed as the Deputy
CEO of the Group and was mainly responsible for assisting the CEO in
daily management of the Group for relevant coordination with internal
management and external business alliances, including but not limited
to the operation and management of the Information Technology and
Human Resources Departments of the Group and the supervision of
internal control implementation. Mr. CH Lee obtained a Bachelor of Science
degree from the University of Toronto, Canada in November 2014. Mr. CH
Lee is a son of Mr. Lee and Ms. Lo and the nephew of Mr. Lo.
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INDUSTRIAL OVERVIEW

The Group is a Hong Kong-based distributor of semiconductors and other
electronic components, and is engaged in the supply of digital storage
products and general electronic components along with the provision
of complementary technical support. It focuses on identifying, sourcing,
selling and distributing quality electronic components produced by
branded upstream manufacturers to downstream manufacturers within the
technology, media and telecommunications sector in Mainland China and
Hong Kong.

In 2024, the chip market exhibited a dual trend of recovery and divergence.
Driven by the strong momentum of artificial intelligence (Al), demand for
high-performance semiconductor products continued to grow. Meanwhile,
memory prices gradually rebounded from low levels, stimulated by
market demand, and sales began to pick up, achieving both volume
and price increases. According to statistics from the World Integrated
Circuit Association (WICA), the global semiconductor market size reached
USS$635.1 billion in 2024, representing a year-on- year increase of 19.8%.

Specifically, memory, logic chips, and micro-processors achieved positive
growth in 2024. Among them, memory products such as High Bandwidth
Memory (‘HBM"), high-performance dynamic random-access memory
("DRAM"), and server Solid State Drives (“SSDs") saw a significant increase
in sales driven by the demand for Al large models, making memory the
fastest-growing category in the semiconductor market. Similarly, Graphics
Processing Units (“GPUs"), Field Programmable Gate Arrays ("FPGAs"),
and Application - Specific Integrated Circuit ("ASICs") experienced rapid
growth due to the increasing demand for computing power. However, the
market size of analog chips, optoelectronic devices, sensors, and discrete
components saw a slight decline.

In the power semiconductor market, since 2024, against the backdrop of
economic recovery and rising downstream industry demand, the need
for power semiconductors has continued to grow. Major foundries of
wafer manufacturing are operating at near-full capacity, and some power
semiconductor companies have raised product prices while optimising
inventory levels, gradually emerging from the cyclical trough of 2023.

In addition, as global protectionism intensifies, the upstream supply chain
of China’s semiconductor industry faces export controls, with shrinking
access to high-end equipment and materials. Ensuring the resilience of
the domestic semiconductor industry and enhancing its risk resistance
capabilities have become key development goals for China. Addressing the
weaknesses in the domestic supply chain and advancing chip localisation
have emerged as the core driving forces for the growth of the domestic
semiconductor industry, with domestic brands continuing to receive
strong policy support.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As a stable supplier of digital storage products and general electronic
components, the Group has seized industry development opportunities
by continuously advancing business diversification, expanding customer
types, and strengthening market competitiveness. To further increases in
market share for core products and an expanding customer base, achieving
steady business growth. In the Year 2024, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HKS$3 billion, or a year-on-year increase of 20.6%. Profit
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$6.7 million,
marking a significant turnaround from a loss of HK$16.2 million in Year 2023
to a profit.

By Product Type
Digital Storage Products

The Group'’s digital storage products include DRAM, flash and multi
chip package (“MCP") memory products, which are widely applied to
multimedia and mobile devices such as set- top boxes, smart TVs, wearable
devices, mobile phones, etc. These products also include optical and mass
storage products which are mainly used in enterprise-level storage and
server systems.

During the Year 2024, revenue generated from this product segment
increased by 18.5% to approximately HKS$2,079.0 million (Year 2023:
HKS$1,753.9 million), primarily driven by the growth in sales volume
resulting from increased market share of core products and an expanded
customer base. Gross profit of the segment decreased slightly to
approximately HK$92.5 million for the Year 2024 (Year 2023: HK$97.0
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 4.6%. Gross profit margin
of this segment decreased to 4.5% for the Year 2024 (Year 2023: 5.5%)
which was mainly due to the extent of increase in product costs was more
than that of the increase in product selling price of the Group during the
Year 2024.

General Components

General components include switches, connectors, passive components,
main chips, sensors, power semiconductors and analog-to-digital
converters, which are mainly designed for use in mobile and multimedia
devices.

The Group's recorded revenue growth in this segment for the Year 2024.
The revenue of the this segment for the Year 2024 increased by 25.4% year-
on-year to approximately HK$973.0 million (Year 2023: HK$775.9 million).
The gross profit of this segment increased by 27.1% to approximately
HK$85.2 million for the Year 2024 (Year 2023: HK$67.0 million), with a gross
profit margin of 8.8% (Year 2023: 8.6%).

14  APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED HEBRHE R B R AE]

FH5[lEE

AEBEABIBFRERURBRE FTas
HRHRER AIRBTEZEREE SEH
EEXRZTTLERE - E—PHETHEDR
RIEMBHEF ROERMBEEXRE—D
B BEERAEIREA > SIRERIZRIZ
R -RIETMOEE AEBBERWZHLI30
ZB70 BEEIEIN206%; AT A AN

Ao EEA T RIE_=ZFEMNEIE
Ne2BEBATERANBHREAR
BERENESD

HIEEREMR

NEBNEISFRHERBEIEDRAM BIFE K& Z
EhHEETMCP ERSER (BZERARS
EREMURBERE NRIER SEEER T
FHERERFERS -ZFEQTOELE
RARBREGRER TERNEERNNE
R IRIFER R o

N B NFEE ) ZE DS EE RIS
m 8.5%;::,\’]20790_'5_%/%71: (CEZ=FE:
175398 887  TBERHENZOERT S
(VS Ak %ﬁﬁé RIB AR IRIHE E M
R R c D ER & “5(/)169\5\7925
BEAT CE_=FE 9708881

EER D 4.6% o 52 D BB ERZE TR E45% (Z E

T=FE 1 55%)  FEHARZZETHFAR
%.Euuﬁ‘zzﬁi‘mmf uu:,1ai“§Fﬁ¢$Z°
BT

BRATHEREIEABHNZHEERERER
MR B R TR &
[RREE ~ R Y BRSNS B eSS o

b‘A_v_EEF“ AEBR AN BRI IR
BEE AW mIZFIENM254%EH
9730%%%75(_7:_@* 77598 B8
70) o AR BRI EFIE N7 1% 285 2E B A
T(CE=ZFE 670A8BBT) » MEFEX
#88% (CTEZ=FE . 86%) °



Management Discussion And Analysis

H_EE njuﬁﬂ& 7|KF|'

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The two major product segments, namely (i) Digital Storage Products; and
(i) General Components, contributed 68.1% and 31.9% of the Group's total
revenue during the Year 2024 respectively.

The Group's revenue for the Year 2024 was HK$3,051.9 million (Year 2023:
HK$2,529.8 million), representing an increase of 20.6% from the Year 2023,
The growth in revenue was primarily due to the rebound in unit prices for
some products in the Year 2024.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit for the Year 2024 amounted to HK$177.7 million
(Year 2023: HK$164.0 million), representing an increase of 84% when
compared with the Year 2023. The gross profit margin for the Year 2024 was
5.8% (Year 2023: 6.5%).

Decrease in fair value of investment property, other income and
other gain

For the Year 2024, the fair value of an investment property of the Group
was decreased by HK$1.8 million (Year 2023: HK$3.0 million). Other income
and other gain increased from HK$3.7 million for the Year 2023 to HK$14.9
million for the Year 2024, which was mainly due to the increase in rebate
income from suppliers in the Year 2024.

Reversal of impairment loss/impairment loss on trade
receivables

A reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables of approximately HKS5.7
million had been recognised during the Year 2024 (Year 2023: impairment
loss of HKS$8.2 million) which arose from the recent settlements of certain
trade receivables for which provision of impairment were recognised in
previous years.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has put in place a credit policy
and performs credit evaluations on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. Certain trade receivable balances on open account
terms are covered by customers’letters of credit or are factored to external
financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables past due over one year
amounted to approximately HK$73.9 million, of which approximately
HKS$13.7 million (the “Settlement Sum”) had been settled during the Year
2024.
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As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables past due over one year
amounted to HK$68.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$73.9 million) and
provision for impairment loss amounted to HK$63.1 million had been
made (31 December 2023: HKS66.5 million). Substantial part of which
was brought forward from the Year 2023. To the best knowledge of
the Directors, the past due over one year as at 31 December 2024 was
mainly attributable to the business deterioration of several customers as
a result of COVID-19 pandemic. Up to the date of this Annual Report, an
aggregate sum of approximately HKS5.7 million has been recovered from
certain delinquent customers. The Group has been negotiating various
repayment schedules with customers taking into account their respective
circumstances. Contemporaneous with the negotiations and rescheduling,
we have also sought legal advice from our Hong Kong legal advisor and
PRC legal advisor on the procedures for taking legal actions against the
relevant customers and/or their guarantors (if any).

For those customers who have been making partial repayments from time
to time, we will refrain from taking legal action against them. The Group
will pay close attention to their business development and continue
monitoring their repayment progress. If they cease to make any further
repayment or if the amount of their further repayment is unsatisfactory to
the Group, the Group shall take all such steps as are appropriate to recover
the sum, including taking legal actions.

The Group aims to maintain healthy business relationships with these
customers while taking all reasonable steps to recover the trade
receivables.

Distribution and selling expenses

The distribution and selling expenses mainly include salaries of marketing
and sales staff, commission and promotion expenses, transportation fees,
freight charges, declarations and sample expenses. For the Year 2024,
distribution and selling expenses amounted to approximately HKS$73.3
million (Year 2023: HK$49.9 million), mainly resulting from increased
commission and promotion expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily comprise salaries and benefits (including
emoluments to executive Directors), legal and professional fees, insurance,
short-term lease expenses and other premises fees, foreign exchange
differences, bank charges and depreciation expenses. The Group's
administrative expenses decreased by HK$5.8 million to HK$72.3 million for
the Year 2024 (Year 2023: HK$78.1 million), which was mainly attributable to
the appropriate cost control measures implemented by the Group.
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Finance costs

The Group's finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on its bank
borrowings during the Year 2024. Such bank borrowings were obtained by
the Group for general working capital. For the Year 2024, the Group had
finance costs of approximately HK$45.7 million (Year 2023: HK$35.3 million),
which edged up on the back of an increased use of factoring loans, import
loans and trust receipts loans.

Net profit/(loss) for the Year

For the Year 2024, the Group recorded a net profit of HKS$6.2 million, while
a loss of HK$10.2 million was recorded in the Year 2023. The improvement
was mainly attributable to the increase in gross profit of the Group resulting
from improved sales performance in the Year 2024, partially offset by
increased distribution and selling expenses and finance costs and decrease
in fair value of investment property.

Net profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of the Company

The net profit attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year 2024
was HKS$6.7 million, compared with a net loss attributable to the owners of
the Company in the sum of HK$16.2 million for the Year 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year 2024, the Group met its liquidity requirements principally
through a combination of internal resources and bank borrowings. The
Group's cash resources as at 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$141.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$96.5 million) and were mainly
denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB"), Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and United
States dollars (“USS”).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total outstanding bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$629.6 million (31 December 2023:
HKS$759.1 million), which mainly comprised bank factoring loans, import
loans, trust receipts loans, instalment loans and revolving loans. The Group’s
bank borrowings that were unrestricted and carried at amortised cost with
a clause of repayment on demand are classified as current liabilities. The
gearing ratio decreased from 252.4% as at 31 December 2023 to 207.6%
as at 31 December 2024 as a result of strict control on usage of banking
facilities. Gearing ratio is calculated based on total external loans and
borrowings divided by total equity at the respective reporting dates.

The Group's financial statements are presented in HKS. The Group carried
out its business transactions mainly in HKS, RMB and USS. As the HKS$
remained pegged to the USS, there was no material exchange risk in this
respect. As the portion of RMB revenue is insignificant, there is no material
exchange risk in this respect. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policies. However, the management monitors the
Group's exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis and will consider
hedging that risk should the need arise. Credit risk was mainly hedged
through credit policy and factored into external financial institutions.
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PSCS and the CB

On 21 October 2021, I-Sky Electronic Limited as purchaser, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”), the Company and Nicegoal
as vendor, which is ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Lee, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (as supplemented on 25 November 2021) (the
‘Agreement”), pursuant to which Nicegoal agreed to sell, and the Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to purchase, a landed property (the “Target
Property”) at the consideration of HK$30.0 million, which was settled by the
issue of the PSCS in the principal amount of HK$10.0 million and the CB on
23 February 2022.

The PSCS was issued without maturity date. It bears a distribution rate of
0.5% per annum and carries rights to convert the principal amount into
Shares at a conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share (to be rounded down to
the nearest board lot of 5,000 Shares as per the deed poll constituting the
PSCS), convertible into 28,570,000 conversion Shares, representing 2.66%
of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 and at the date of this Annual
Report or 2.59% as enlarged by the underlying conversion Shares of the
PSCS. The Company has the option to redeem the PSCS in full at any time
or 50% of the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid distribution.

The CB was issued with a maturity of five years from the date of issue
(i.e. 23 February 2022). It bears an interest rate of 0.5% per annum and
carries rights to convert the outstanding principal amount into Shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share subject to adjustment (to
be rounded down to the nearest board lot of 5000 Shares as per the
instrument constituting the CB), convertible into 57,140,000 conversion
Shares, representing 5.31% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024
and the date of this Annual Report or 5.05% as enlarged by the underlying
conversion Shares of the CB. The Company has the option to redeem the
CB at any time before their maturity in whole or in part of their principal
amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest.

The aggregate underlying conversion Shares of the CB and the PSCS
represent 7.97% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 and the date
of this Annual Report or 7.38% as enlarged by the underlying conversion
Shares.

Since the issue of the PSCS and CB, none of them has been converted into
Shares.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: nil).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the banking facilities of the Group were
secured by its trade receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$221.8 million (31 December 2023: HK$452.8 million), the
legal charge over the investment property of the Group of approximately
HKS46.4 million (31 December 2023: HK$48.2 million), the Group's
leasehold land and buildings valued at approximately HK$67.8 million (31
December 2023: HK$76.0 million), the deposit placed for life insurance
policy of the Group of approximately HK$13.5 million (31 December 2023:
HKS$13.1 million), bank deposit of the Group of approximately HK$39.8
million (31 December 2023: HK$10.4 million).

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the Year
2024 (Year 2023: nil).

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 141 employees (as at
31 December 2023: 141) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s
remuneration policy is built on the principle of equitability with incentive-
based, performance-oriented and market-competitive remuneration
packages for its employees. Remuneration packages are normally reviewed
on a regular basis. Other staff benefits include provident fund contributions,
medical insurance coverage and performance-based bonuses. In addition,
the Company has adopted a share option scheme and a restricted share
reward scheme as incentives or rewards for eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group, and the Company also provides continuous
training to its employees to improve their marketing skills and enhance
their product knowledge.
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SHARE SCHEMES
Award Scheme

The Company adopted the Award Scheme on 30 August 2019. On 23 July
2021, the Company granted 9,550,000 restricted shares (the “Restricted
Shares”) to nine selected participants (the “Grantees”) in accordance
with the terms of the Award Scheme at nil consideration. On 12 August
2021, the Company issued and allotted 9,550,000 Restricted Shares
under the general mandate granted by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 May 2021 to the Custodian.
These Restricted Shares are held on trust by the Custodian who shall
transfer the Restricted Shares to the Grantees in three tranches subject
to the Company’s satisfaction of such vesting conditions as specified in
the grant notices issued to the Grantees. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of the Grantees is a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or an
associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of any of them. The Custodian
and its ultimate beneficial owner(s), and all of the Grantees are third
parties independent of, and not connected with, the Company and its
connected persons. During the Year 2024, no Restricted Shares had been
vested and there were 4,940,000 Restricted Shares remained unvested as
at 31 December 2024, which represented 0.46% of the entire issued Shares
as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this Annual Report. On 12
February 2025, the 4,940,000 Restricted Shares were forfeited for the reason
that the vesting condition had not been fulfilled before the relevant vesting
dates.

During the Year 2024, the Custodian purchased a total of 1,950,000 Shares
on the market for the purpose of the Award Scheme. As at 31 December
2024, the Custodian held 21,105,000 Shares, representing 1.96% of the
entire issued Shares.

Subject to any early termination of the Award Scheme as may be
determined by the Board, the Award Scheme is valid and effective for a
term of 10 years commencing on 30 August 2019 (i.e. the adoption date
of the Award Scheme). As at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the
Award Scheme is approximately 4 years and 8 months.

Details of the grant of the Restricted Shares are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 23 July 2021.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 15 February 2018,
which is valid for a period of 10 years from its adoption. No options have
been granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

As at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
was approximately 3 years and 2 months.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share awards and
options granted under the Award Scheme and the Share Option Scheme,
being all the share schemes adopted by the Company, divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue during the Year 2024 was nil.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering in
March 2018 was approximately HK$116.9 million. The applications of the
net proceeds received under the Global Offering up to 31 December 2024
are as follows:

Actual Use of
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of Net  from Global Expected
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Repayment of bank loans BERTER 39045 39045+ - - =
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development department
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* Such net proceeds had been used as intended.
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Notes:

1. Given the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic and the continuing global
economic downturn, the Group has been taking a more prudent approach to
control and minimise its overall expenditures. Therefore, the Board considers
it appropriate for the Group to only make such enhancements as are
necessary for the time being. The Board will, from time to time, consider such
enhancements and update the Shareholders in due course.

2. Given the unfavourable industry conditions, the Board considers that a more
prudent approach should be taken and as such, it was resolved by the Board
that the software installation should be implemented progressively.

3. In 2019, taking into consideration (i) the US trade war with China; (i) the
drop in global and domestic demands for consumer electronic products;
(iii) the drop in the Group's sales revenue and gross profit; (iv) the unstable
real estate market in the PRC, the Group took a prudent approach to control
and minimise its overall expenditures and postponed the acquisition and
establishment of Shenzhen head office. Thereafter, due to the COVID-19
pandemic and the unfavourable property market, the Board considered a
further postponement was necessary. Given the continuing global economic
downturn and the downward trend of the property market in the PRC,
the Board will, from time to time, reassess the appropriate timing for such
establishment and update the Shareholders in due course.

The Company will continue to utilise the net proceeds from the Global
Offering for the purposes as mentioned above.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments as at 31 December
2024 and did not have any future plans for material investments or capital
assets as of the date of this Annual Report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Board is not aware of any significant event affecting the Group and
requiring disclosure that has been taken place subsequent to 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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PROSPECTS

In 2025, driven by the sustained impetus of the artificial intelligence
wave, the continued development of the Al ecosystem is expected to
drive the deployment of computing power and storage capacity, thereby
maintaining strong demand in the Al server market. In addition, emerging
products in downstream applications, such as Al personal computers, Al
smartphones, and Al earphones, are poised for large-scale adoption, which
will serve as new growth drivers for the semiconductor market. According
to WICA estimates, the global semiconductor market is projected to
expand to US$718.9 billion in 2025, representing a year- on-year increase of
13.2%.

In the new energy market, under the backdrop of the global energy
transition, China's new energy industry is expected to maintain steady
growth. According to data from the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, in 2024, China's new energy vehicle production and
sales volumes reached 12.888 million units and 12.866 million units,
respectively, representing year-on-year increases of 34.4% and 35.5%.
Notably, new energy vehicle sales accounted for 40.9% of total automobile
sales, an increase of 9.3 percentage points over 2023. The sustained rise
in new energy vehicle market share is expected to drive demand for
automotive semiconductors. Moreover, the increasing prevalence of
vehicle intelligence, advanced driver-assistance systems, and autonomous
driving technologies will further stimulate demand for automotive
semiconductor components. In terms of photovoltaic energy storage,
ongoing advancements in photovoltaic technology and continuous cost
reductions have rapidly expanded the market scale of the photovoltaic
industry, leading to an increased demand for semiconductor chips.

Meanwhile, as the semiconductor industry continues its positive
momentum, the pace of domestication is expected to accelerate. In
light of uncertainties in the international supply chain, the importance of
domestication for semiconductor equipment has become increasingly
evident. Driven by both supportive national policies and robust market
demand, there is significant potential for domestication, and local
semiconductor companies are poised to benefit from the deepening
domestication process.

Overall, the Group is well positioned to capitalise on market opportunities
arising from national policy support, stable growth in downstream
demand, and the accelerated domestication of the semiconductor
industry. In 2024, the Group continued to advance its business
diversification strategy by deepening its presence in multiple markets,
expanding its customer base, and enhancing its market competitiveness,
achieving breakthroughs across various sectors. In the industrial
manufacturing arena, the Group strengthened its collaboration with
leading domestic and international high-end manufacturing enterprises to
expand its industrial automation applications. In the Al large model market,
the Group closely monitored developments in the Al industry and crafted
customised products and solutions targeting key areas such as computing
power, storage, and energy. Looking ahead, the Group expects to forge
new strategic partnerships in emerging sectors, such as Al computing
and intelligent manufacturing, thereby laying a solid foundation for future
growth.
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Looking ahead to 2025, driven by domestic consumption stimulus policies
and measures to stabilise economic growth, downstream demand is
expected to significantly rise, thereby boosting orders from the Group’s
clients. Coupled with a market recovery, the Group anticipates that the
growth rate of its core business lines will exceed that of 2024. The Group
will focus on strengthening partnerships with leading industry customers,
enhancing supply chain resilience, and optimising delivery capabilities
to support business growth. Moreover, the development of new
infrastructure, smart manufacturing, and green energy will create structural
growth opportunities and open up new business avenues for the Group.

In the highly promising Al industry, the Group will strategically invest in
the three key segments of the Al industry chain, namely computing power,
storage and energy, to seize emerging market opportunities and propel
its development to new heights. In the computing power segment, the
Group will continue to refine its high-performance computing solutions to
provide more efficient support for Al training and inference. In the storage
segment, it will bolster R&D and supply of data storage products to meet
the Al industry’s big data storage demands. In the energy segment, the
Group will target the high energy consumption challenges within the Al
industry by offering efficient energy management solutions to enhance
overall system energy efficiency. Simultaneously, the Group will closely
monitor domestic Al-related policies to secure policy support and facilitate
rapid business deployment.

In 2025, uncertainties in the international trade environment will persist.
In the face of risks such as U.S. tariff policies and interest rate fluctuations,
the Group will closely monitor potential cost pressures and exchange rate
risks arising from changes in the international trade landscape. Measures
will be taken to enhance supply chain flexibility, increase the proportion
of localised procurement, optimise the export market strategy, and
strengthen the Group’s risk resilience. At the same time, the Group believes
that robust domestic demand is expected to serve as a ballast for overall
performance. With strong domestic market momentum, domestic sales are
anticipated to grow further, offsetting any adverse impacts from potential
uncertainties in overseas markets, and ultimately delivering improved
performance to shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance practices and the corporate governance principles
of the Company are adopted in the best interest of the Group as well as the
Shareholders. The Company has adopted the applicable code provisions
and, where appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices as set
out in the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance.

Except for deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code during
the Year 2024, the Company had complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code as in force during the Year 2024:

Under code provision C2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee, who has considerable
experience in the semiconductor and other electronics components
industry, is the Chairman and the CEO. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in Mr. Lee has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group. The Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power between
the Board and the management of the Company. The balance of power is
further enhanced by the Audit Committee, which comprises all INEDs and
is responsible for overseeing the internal control procedures of the Group.
The INEDs have free and direct access to the Company’s independent
auditor and independent professional advisers when considered necessary.
The Board will, nevertheless, review the structure from time to time and
separate the roles of the Chairman and the CEO to two individuals, if
appropriate.

To enhance the Board's function and effectiveness, the Board conducted an
evaluation of the performance of the Board and the Board committees for
Year 2024. Each of the Board members provided an evaluation of identified
areas and also suggestions for improvement. Notwithstanding the
suggestions made by the members of the Board, no material issue which
requires immediate improvement had been identified by the members
of the Board. The Company will continue to strive to improve its Board
performance through this and other processes.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. A specific enquiry has been
made by the Company with each of the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the requirements set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year 2024.
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THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive
Directors and senior management who perform their duties. The Board
has established the Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. The responsibilities of these Board committees include
monitoring the Group's operational and financial performance and
ensuring that appropriate internal control and risk management are in
place.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprised two (2) executive
Directors, one (1) NED and four (4) INEDs. The members of the Board during
the Year 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report are set out below:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

NED:
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (redesignated from executive
Director on 1 September 2024)

INEDs:

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui

Mr. Yim Kwok Man

Dr. Chow Terence

Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (appointed on 1 September 2024)

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship between
the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 8 to 12 of this Annual Report. Save
for such relationship disclosed in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management’, there is no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships among the members of the Board.

Chairman and CEO

The Company has appointed Mr. Lee as the Chairman and CEO, who is
primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate development and
strategic planning of the Group.

INEDs

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed four
(4) INEDs, representing at least one-third of the Board, with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received a written
confirmation from each of the INEDs in respect of their independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent
during the Year 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance of the Group
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning.

All executive Directors actively involve in managing the affairs of the
Company with a good understanding of the business, and play important
roles in the daily operations, whilst all INEDs participate in the Board
meetings and bring their independent views and judgments on various
issues.

INEDs provide the Group with a wide range of skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through their regular attendance and
active participation at various Board committee meetings of the Company.
They bring independent opinion and judgment on the strategy and
policies to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and the management has an obligation to supply the Directors
with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management team. Such management team is accountable for their
performance to the Board.

During the Year 2024, each executive Director frequently met and
discussed with the management team in order to maintain an effective
feedback system and enable the Group to react to changes or problems
quickly and efficiently. The Board reviews its arrangement on delegation of
responsibilities and authority regularly to ensure that such delegations are
appropriate in view of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.
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Each Director is free to seek advice from and has access to the Company’s
senior management team independently.

Board Proceedings

The Board is required to convene four (4) regular meetings in a financial
year with intervals of not more than four (4) months. Notices of not less
than 14 days are required to be given to all Directors and each Director is
invited to include matters in the agenda. The Company Secretary assisted
the Chairman in establishing the meeting agenda. Detailed agenda and
related meeting materials were circulated to all Directors at least three days
before the date of the regular meetings.

Minutes were recorded in sufficient detail and draft minutes have been
circulated to all Board members for comments. Finalised minutes were
also sent to all Directors for their records within reasonable time after the
meetings. All minutes were kept by the Company Secretary and were open
for inspection by Directors.

All Directors have been given the relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors and duty of disclosure of interest.
During the Year 2024, the Board held four (4) meetings and, one (1) AGM
was held. Details of the attendance of the Directors are set out below:
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Attendance of
HE
Board Meeting(s) AGM
EFxegs RRBERY
Attended/eligible to attend
Name of Directors EFEns Bl SERLE
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong E=RAKE
(Chairman and CEO) (F/EFITHAEZ) 4/4 11
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai ETxEX T 3/4 /1
NED ERITES
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (Note 1) ExRAaE (sE 4/4 /1
INEDs BIEMITES
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sRANE ST 4/4 /1
Mr. Yim Kwok Man EE e 4/4 1/1
Dr. Chow Terence PEHELE 4/4 /1
Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (Note 2) SR A (MiEE2) 1/1 N/ATE B
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Notes:

1. Mr. Lo Yuen Kin was re-designated from executive Director to NED effective
on 1 September 2024.

2. Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong was appointed as INED effective on 1 September
2024.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development
which is relevant to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction package to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operation and business and the relevant
statues, common laws, the Listing Rules, legal and regulatory requirements
and governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and
other relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses
at the Company's expense and they have been requested to provide the
Company with their training records.

During the Year 2024, all Directors attended suitable training and/or
briefings by certain professional advisers and/or participated in continuous
professional development courses organised by professional bodies/firms
on corporate governance or updates on laws, rules and regulations relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a director to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

According to the training records maintained by the Company, the
continuous professional development programmes received by each of the
Directors during the Year 2024 is summarised as follows:
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Type of Training
Name of Directors SR 1R
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong ERMAKE Aand B
ARB
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai ETEL T AandB
ARB
NED ERITES
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (Note C) EnEaiE (M0 Aand B
ARB
INEDs BIAERTES
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/ANEISTAE Aand B
ARB
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BB So Aand B
ARB
Dr. Chow Terence SIEEELE Aand B
ARB
Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (Note D) SRIBSESE (MIEED) Aand B
ARB
Notes: Mk -
A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,  A: SRR > GFEERRERATE E
conferences, forums and workshops NE -G -VwmahIIEH
B:  reading materials relating to the seminars material, requlatory updates on B! BIEERMEEME -EFHEREEDN
laws, rules and regulations to directors'roles and functions, economy, general FENRAREREEEMER - KH
business, corporate governance and directors duties and responsibilities BEE CEEAUREERBEREEN
Bio
C: Mr. Lo Yuen Kin was redesignated from executive Director to NED effectiveon € EXBREER T _NEAS —HHAIT
1 September 2024. ERBETAIERITESE-
D:  Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong was appointed as INED effective on 1 September  D:  REBXEENR T _MEHB—BESE

30

2024. On 29 August 2024, Mr. Chueng HK obtained legal advice relating to
director's duties and responsibilities under applicable laws and regulations
from a law firm qualified to advise on Hong Kong law pursuant to Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules, and had confirmed that he understood his obligations as
a Director.
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The Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Under the Articles of Association, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment and that every director, under the Articles of
Association and the CG Code, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three (3) years.

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three (3) years, and thereafter continue
on a monthly basis; the NED has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of one (1) year and is automatically renewable
for a further one (1) year, and each of the INEDs has renewed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three (3) years, and is subject
to retirement provision pursuant to the Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association contains provisions for the appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors as follows:

Appointment of Directors

Article 83(2) of the Articles of Association provides that subject to the
Articles of Association and the Act, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board.

Re-election of Directors

Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association also provides that any Director
so appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointment by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third
(1/3) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.

Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association provides that a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he/she retires and any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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At the AGM held on 21 May 2024, each of Ms. Lo and Dr. Chow retired
and was re-elected as a Director by the Shareholders. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors in respect of legal
action against them.

Removal of Directors

Under article 83(5) of the Articles of Association, the members may, at
any general meeting and by an ordinary resolution, remove a Director at
any time before the expiration of his/her period of office notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in these articles or in any agreement between
the Company and such Director (but without prejudice to any claim from
damage under any such agreement).

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Directors’ remuneration for the Year 2024 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than the Directors) whose
particulars are contained in the section headed "Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management”in this Annual Report for the Year 2024 by band is
set out below:
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Number of

individual(s)

Remuneration band (HK$) FEN&R R GEJT) A#
Nil to 1,000,000 4 251,000,000 2
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 % 1,500,000 1

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’'s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

5. toreview the Company's compliance with the code and disclosure in
this report.
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During the Year 2024, the Board reviewed (i) all the policies adopted by the
Company, including Shareholders Communication Policy, which were all
considered adequate and appropriate; (i) topics covered in the directors’
training held during the Year 2024, which were considered appropriate
for the Directors; and (iii) the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and the Listing Rules and the Board considered the Company had full
compliance therewith.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three (3) Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board under the
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, which are posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are
available for inspection by the Shareholders upon request made to the
Company Secretary. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Yim, Mr. Cheung
SK'and Dr. Chow. Mr. Yim is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has extensive
commercial experience and the Audit Committee has a suitable expertise
in various businesses, financial and legal sectors and that the composition
and establishment of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly (i) to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and to oversee the audit process
of the Group, (ii) to oversee internal control procedures of our Group, and
(ii) to review risk management and internal control systems of our Group. It
has the responsibilities and powers set forth in the terms of reference.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year to consider
the interim and final results prepared by the Board.

During the Year 2024, the Audit Committee held five (5) meetings to,
among others, review and supervise the financial reporting process and
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and its audit related matters. It had, in conjunction with Graham H. Y.
Chan & Co,, the Independent Auditor, reviewed the Group's audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year 2023 and the unaudited
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June
2024 and recommended the same to the Board for its consideration and
approval. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the relevant results
were prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements and that adequate disclosures had been made. The Audit
Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties as set out in the
CG Code.
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The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee meetings during the
Year 2024 is as follows:

EEUFNTEEN S _NFEHREEZ
LZEEEEMREWT !

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE AE%
Members [54=1 HENSERE
Mr. Yim Kwok Man =GR 5/5
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/NEIST A 5/5
Dr. Chow Terence BB L 5/5

The Audit Committee held one (1) meeting on 28 March 2025 and, among
other matters, reviewed the Group's audited consolidated results for the
Year 2024.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two (2) INEDs, namely Mr.
Cheung SK'and Mr. Yim and one (1) executive Director, Mr. Lee. Mr. Cheung
SK'is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly (i) to
develop a transparent policy in relation to remuneration; (i) to review the
remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group; (jii) to assess performance of all Directors and
review performance-based remunerations payable to Directors and senior
management of our Group and determine the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, which include
benefits in kind; (iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (v) to review and/or approve
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year 2024, the Remuneration Committee held two (2) meetings
for reviewing and determining the remuneration and other benefits
payable by the Company to the executive Directors, NED, INED and senior
management and recommending the Board of the remuneration of
executive Directors, NED and INEDs.

34  APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED Y EERHE IR A R AT

EREEENR _E_AE=B_+)\H#E
T—Xgs U (EHoE BERAER -
T NEENSEGR S A

HINEEE

HINEEEHMQBEILIFNITESHERM
BIsR/ B ERBREUR—NERITE
SoFRE RN ERFNEEE LR

HNESENIERMEAOFIEREHREZ
IR (M~ EBFEESERERE
B NSRS (DT EFrB ESH
RERGBHENAEREERSREEREZ
ERGRIN E E BRI MTEE RS R EERE
BUFIN RS (BEBYEFN) S(VRLIERITE
SHNPESERMHERRESR  RkWETR
/A ETRBIE1 7EIE T RS 5T EIAERE
ESEI

R_EMEER HMEEEEITWORE
FUBRLEBERATRARNITES JFR
TEE - BIFCTESEASREERRN
BUFRBN R E @M I LT E S > JFITE
SRBIUIFRITESHNAESSIRMIER
2i&e



Corporate Governance Report
TEERWS

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at its
meetings during the Year 2024 is as follows:

FNEZEEENENR S NFENERES
BREUT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE AER
Members 24=1 HENEERY
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/NEIST A 2/2
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BREISC T E 2/2
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong ERAKE 2/2

The Remuneration Committee held one (1) meeting on 28 March 2025
and considered certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors and
senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two (2) INEDs, namely Mr. Cheung
SK and Dr. Chow and one (1) executive Director, Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to
make recommendations to the Board relating to the appointment, re-
appointment and any matters relating to the continuation in office of the
Directors; (iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board; and (iv) to assess the independence of the INEDs.

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 15 February 2018 and
the Nomination Committee shall monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and review the progress of its measurable objectives from
time to time.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together with the implementation
is disclosed as below.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to strengthen the performance
of the Board, promote effective decision-making and better corporate
governance and monitoring. To achieve a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company encourages increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Directors appointment will be based
on applicable merits and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Board encompasses a wide range of age
groups, from 56 to 75. Regarding gender diversity, the Board consists of
one female director, who accounts for approximately 14% of the Board.
Considering the nature and scope of the Group's business, the Nomination
Committee is of the opinion that the current Board has sufficient
independence and is well-balanced in terms of gender, age, nationality,
professional experience, skills, and knowledge to support the execution
of business strategy and maintain the Board's effectiveness. The Board
currently comprises one female Director and six male Directors. The Board
is of the view that the existing gender diversity in respect of the Board is
sufficient, and that the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination policy
of the Company can ensure that there will be a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board which continues the existing gender diversity in
the Board.

In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the proportion of female members
among all employees (including senior management) of the Company
was 44%. Based on the current gender ratio in the Group’s workforce, the
Board is of the view that the Company has basically achieved a certain
degree of balanced diversity. The Company will take steps to maintain
gender diversity among all employees (including senior management). The
Company plans to provide comprehensive training for female employees
who we believe have the appropriate experience, skills and knowledge in
operations and business, including but not limited to business operations,
management, accounting and finance, legal compliance, and research
and development. The Company expects to perform a further review of its
diversity in workforce by the end of 2025.

During the Year 2024, the Nomination Committee held two (2) meetings
for, among other matters, reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board, assessing the independence of INEDs and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at its
meetings during the Year 2024 is as follows:
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

Members BHE AER
331 HENEERY
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong E=RAKE 2/2
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/NEIST A 2/2
Dr. Chow Terence BREIHEL 2/2
The Nomination Committee held one (1) meeting on 28 March 2025 Tm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ\: —HRE=RBZ+NHET
and recommended the re-appointment of all the retiring Directors at the R RN IRBIRAEER u?TﬁHE
forthcoming AGM after assessing their contribution and performance Jﬁﬂi’z?ﬁﬁé ARIRETHRREBFRE
based on the Nomination Policy. BEMEZEMBREES-
Nomination Policy RBEE

The Nomination Policy which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for Directors. The
policy is embedded in the NCTOR. Please refer paragraphs 8.1.1 to 8.1.4 and
paragraph 9 of the NCTOR.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the Year 2024.

The statement of the Independent Auditor about its reporting
responsibilities and opinion on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 59 to 64 of this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Independent Auditor,
Graham H.Y. Chan & Co,, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the Year 2024 is set out below:

EFHRBRRNVEE

EFHRARSAEERREAERN S -MF
B HRE -

B2 HEN A R E S MR VERSEM
TR BVEBRSIN A F IR EOEAR MBI
HEMRE A

ENVEE ST b

— T NFEMERRS RIFERRBE
/B IZ B ETRRE B & StEm B F5 AT BB
TOMESIIMT

Fee paid/payable

gt EHER

HKS$'000

Service BR#S FET
Annual audit services FEEZARTS 1,453
Non-audit services IEEIZARF 487
Total st 1,940

Non-audit services mainly include review of interim financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders and through the Audit
Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis.

Procedures have been set up for, amongst others, identifying, analysing,
categorising, mitigating and monitoring significant risks, and safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring reliability of financial information,
ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and regulations and
protecting the interests of the Shareholders. Such systems are designed
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and aims to provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to keep track
of and record identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of risks, the
development and continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the
ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their effectiveness.
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An ongoing risk management approach is adopted by the Company
for identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that affect the
achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is adopted to determine risk
rating (L = low risk, M = medium risk, H = high risk) after evaluation of the
risk by the likelihood and the impact of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect
the level of managements, attention and risk treatment effort required.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, each risk owner of departments
and major Subsidiaries is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent risk is
evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into consideration the
risk response, such as control measures in place to mitigate the risk, the
residual risk of each inherent risk is evaluated again. The risk register with
the risk responses and residual risks is reported to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and
reports to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to resolve
material internal control defects

The Audit Committee has performed ongoing review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems (during which
an external independent consulting firm was engaged to offer assistance)
for the period from 1 October 2023 to 30 September 2024, according to
the scope of review covering the Group's material controls in financial,
operational and compliance aspects agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in compliance with the requirements under Code Provision
C.2 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee was satisfied that there had been no major
deficiency noted in the areas of the Group's risk management and internal
controls systems, following the implementation of recommendations
against the internal control defects revealed. The Audit Committee has
access to information necessary to fulfil their duties and responsibilities
with respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the
Audit Committee and the Board considered the risk management and
internal control systems to be effective and have been implemented with
adequate resources during the Year 2024.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Board has already established a policy on the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The policy stipulates the obligations of the Group, in respect of the
restriction on disseminating non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and waiver to the disclosure
of inside information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Senior management must take all reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of any disclosure requirement
from time to time, promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of
inside information to the attention of the Financial Controllers, or his/her
delegates, who will notify the Board timely and accordingly for taking the
appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the
Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course of
actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board
currently takes the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function in light of the size and nature of the Group's
business. The need for an internal audit function will be reviewed from
time to time. However, for the Year 2024, the Audit Committee, through
the engagement of an external independent consultant, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control are adequate and effective. The
Board expects that a review of the risk management and internal control
systems will be performed annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced as soon as reasonably practicable when it is the subject
of a decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure
by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to
the public through channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and its website;
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the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs, so that
only the executive Directors, Company Secretary and investor
relations officers are authorised to communicate with parties outside
the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tang Yuen Ching, Irene has been appointed by the Board since 1
February 2022. Ms. Tang has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the Year 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 31 December 2018.

According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose any
dividend payout and/or determining the amount of any dividend to be
paid, the Board will take into account, amongst other matters:
(@)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(b) interests of Shareholders;

(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

(d)  the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
financial covenants to which the Group is subject;
(e)  possible effects on the Group's creditworthiness;

(f)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

(@) the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;
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(h)  liquidity position of the Group and any future commitments at the
time of declaration of dividend;

() taxation considerations;
() statutory and regulatory restrictions;
(k) general business conditions and strategies;

() general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(m) other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall be subject to all applicable
laws and regulations including but not limited to the Companies
Ordinance and the Memorandum and Articles.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings of the
Company (the “General Meeting”), including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at General Meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after each
General Meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at General Meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; any such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after deposit of such requisition; and
if within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Act for the
Shareholders to move new resolutions at General Meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a General Meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Company Secretary

Apex Ace Holding Limited
Units 2-3, 1/F

Sun Cheong Industrial Building
1 Cheung Shun Street Kowloon
Hong Kong

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact

details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders'

information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavors
to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular,
through AGMs and other General Meetings. At the AGM, Chairman and
the relevant chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.apexace.com as a
communication platform with the Shareholders and investors, where the
financial information and other relevant information of the Company are
available for public access.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group will be
issued simultaneously with, but separately from, this Annual Report and will
be available only on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the report of the Directors together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sales of electronic components,
and sales and integration of storage systems. The Shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date. Segment analysis
of the Company for the Year 2024 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. A list of the Subsidiaries, together with their places
of incorporation, principal activities, place of operation and particulars
of their issued shares/registered share capital, is set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 65
and 66 of this Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 184 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company during the
Year 2024 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

During the Year 2024, no CB was converted into ordinary shares of the
Company. Details are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

During the Year 2024, no PSCS was converted into ordinary shares of
the Company. Details are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year 2024 (Year 2023: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of our Business and Performance

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance using financial
key performance indicators during the Year 2024 and the key factors
affecting its results and financial position are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

Information about a review of, and an indication of likely future
development in, the Group’s business is set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this
Annual Report does not constitute a recommendation or an advice for
anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are advised
to make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Financial risks

Details on the financial risks on foreign currency, credit on trade receivables,
liquidity and interest rate facing the Group on its operation can be referred
to note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Seasonality of products demand

Our Group's business is generally seasonal in nature. It is possible that
seasonality in demand for our customers' products might affect our Group's
sales in the future. Market conditions faced by our customers may be
volatile and are beyond the control of the Group. Future downturns in the
end markets of our customers may affect the business of our Group.

Reliance on major customers and suppliers

Our stable relationship with our major customers and suppliers enables
our business to achieve stable revenue and profitability level. On the other
hand, if there are any changes in such relationships, which may lead to
withdrawals, cancellations or terminations of transactions, the Group's
performance and business growth may be adversely affected.

Evolvement in information technology

Our Group operates in a highly competitive industry which faces rapid
changes in market trends, consumer preferences and constantly evolving
technological advances in hardware models, software features and
functionalities. The ongoing changes in technology require us to constantly
incorporate new features or technology into our sensitivity and adaptability
to market demand and/or services in order to cope with the evolving
environment and customer demands.
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Future economic and political policies of the PRC government

The development of PRC's economy is based on many factors, including
but not limited to structure of economy, government involvement, control
of foreign exchange, allocation of resources and capital investment.
However, any of such changes to the economic and political strategies and
policies of the PRC government may have an adverse impact on the overall
global economy and affect all the industries in which the Group operates.

Future economic and political uncertainties in the world

Economic and political uncertainties in the world resulted from major
events such as downward pressure of the persistent threat of global
inflation and the global economy, the unresolved war between the Ukraine
and the Russia, and the surging trend in the US interest rates and the US-
China trade tensions, continue to affect the global economy both in short-
term and long-term. Such uncertainties in turn may adversely impact the
performance of the Group.

Performance history and forward-looking statements

The performance and the results of the operations of the Group as set out
in this Annual Report are historical in nature and past performance is not a
guarantee of future performance. This Annual Report may contain forward—
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and uncertainties.
Actual results may also differ materially from expectations discussed in
such forward-looking statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor
the Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume any obligations
or liabilities in the event that any of the forward-looking statements or
opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable and
environmental friendly environment. Our Group does not engage in the
manufacturing of products and does not have any production facilities.
The inventories are kept at our Group's storage and warehousing facilities
situated inside the headquarters office unit. Therefore, our Group is not
subject to significant health, safety or environmental risks. In addition, the
Group has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimise unnecessary waste. During the Year 2024, our
Group had not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to non-
compliance with health, safety or environmental regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our operations are mainly carried out by the Subsidiaries in Hong Kong and
the mainland China while the shares of the Company itself is listed on the
Stock Exchange. Our operations shall comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in the mainland China and Hong Kong.

During the Year 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and
Hong Kong in all material respects.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group is constantly aware of the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. We encourage employees
to strengthen their knowledge of the industries in which the Group
operate and attend courses or training sessions to improve their relevant
industry and technical knowledge. The Group also maintains ongoing
communications with its employees, customers and suppliers through
various channels such as regular meetings, calls and emails in order to
allow employees to contribute to the development of the Group, deliver
better customer services to our clients and obtain better services and
cooperation from our suppliers.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the Year 2024 for charitable and
community purposes amounted to HKSnil (Year 2023 HK$234,000).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the Year
2024 on pages 69 to 70 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2024, the Company's distributable reserves calculated
in accordance with the Act amounted to HK$99.4 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year 2024 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date with
net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering in the
amount of approximately HK$116.9 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and all related expenses and before the exercise of
overallotment option (the “Net Proceeds”). The Net Proceeds will be used
in the manner consistent with that was mentioned in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. Please refer to the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual
Report for the utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the Year 2024.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of 1,950,000 Shares during the Year 2024 through
the Custodian as set out in the section headed “Award Scheme” in this
report, the Company did not redeem any of its Shares listed on the Stock
Exchange nor did the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell
any of such Shares during the Year 2024.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year 2024 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

NED:
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin
(Redesignated from executive Director on 1 September 2024)

INEDs:

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui

Mr. Yim Kwok Man

Dr. Chow Terence

Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong
(Appointed on 1 September 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” to this Annual Report. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, Mr. Lee, Mr. Cheung SK, Mr. Lo and Mr. Cheung
HK shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of our Group has been set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and the Award Scheme
as the incentives to the eligible participants.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under note 33 “Related Party Transactions” to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance (as defined in Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules)
to which the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director, an entity connected
with the Director or Controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries (other
than members of the Group) had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2024 or at any time during the Year
2024 and up to the date of this report.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors was interested in any
businesses apart from our business which competed or was likely to
compete with our business, either directly or indirectly or would otherwise
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. All related party transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions exempted from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders” approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Directors
(including the INEDs), the related party transactions were carried out in
the ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related parties
which are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year 2024 had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance
with the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided by the
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Directors confirm that save as disclosed in the section headed “Related
Party Transactions” of this report, none of the related party transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed. Save
as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had not entered into any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this report pursuant to
the Listing Rules during the Year 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required: (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), (i) pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein (the
“Register”), or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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Note: Such interest includes (i) 750,000,000 Shares beneficially held by Best Sheen;
and (i) the PSCS and the CB beneficially held by Nicegoal convertible into
85,710,000 Shares in aggregate. As Best Sheen and Nicegoal is, directly or
indirectly, wholly-owned by Mr. Lee, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all
the interest held by Best Sheen and Nicegoal under the SFO.

e B REREREIWEZEEaFEN
750,000,0008% & 15 ; (WEBERFEH
it A4 4 $£85,710,0000% BE 15 AU K A 2R 4R
AR ESRTBRRES HNRNEER
EFHRTLELEERABEEEZERESE R
BESRPERIEZRERRTANES
MEBFIFENFBERTHEE R

ANNUAL REPORT 202438 49



Report of the Directors

EERHE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is known
to the Directors, none of the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had or were deemed to have any interest or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (i) to be notified the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the Register; or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the Company, as
at 31 December 2024, the following corporation (other than a Director or
the chief executives of the Company) which had interests or short position
in the Share and underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Name of substantial Capacity/ Number of Percentage of

Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held MNete" issued Shares
HERT

TERRLE B/ EmitE FrisR{n &8 men RIPERLE

Best Sheen (Note 2) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 69.76%

2 (fe2) BakEE A

Nicegoal (Note 3) Beneficial owner 85,710,000 797%

ER (:3) EakEE A

Notes: MIsE

1. These represent the entity’s long position in the Shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Best Sheen is held by Mr. Lee, the Chairman,
the CEO and an executive Director.

3. These interest represents the PSCS and the CB convertible into 85,710,000
Shares in aggregate. Nicegoal is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Lee.

Save as those disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company are not aware of any other
person or corporation having an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to a resolution
in writing passed by the Shareholders on 15 February 2018 and is valid for
a period of 10 years from its adoption as incentives or rewards for eligible
participants who contribute to the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 3 years 2
months.

No share options have been granted since the Listing Date. Therefore, no
share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year 2024 and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme divided by the weighted
average number of Shares in issue during the Year 2024 was nil.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 100,000,000,
being 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date.

Summary of major terms of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to our Group. The Directors consider that the Share
Option Scheme will enable the Group to reward the employees, the
Directors and other selected participants for their contribution to our
Group.

(ii) Participants
The following persons of the Company, any member of the Group
or of an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest may be
invited by the Directors to take up options to subscribe for Shares at
the Directors'absolute discretion:

(@)  employees and directors;
(b)  suppliers and customers;

(c) persons or entities that provides research, development or
other technological support;

(d)  holders of any securities;

(e)  advisers (professional or otherwise) or consultants to any area
of business or business development; and

(f) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.
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Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(i.e. 100,000,000 Shares).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant including a Director or the
chief executive of the Company who accepts the offer for the grant
of an option under the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the number of the issued Shares. Any further
grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to the Shareholders'
approval in a general meeting.

Where any grant of options to a Substantial Shareholder or an INED,
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares
in issue at the date of grant and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant) in excess
of HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the
Shareholders'approval in a general meeting.

Options granted to a Director, chief executive of the Company or
Substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the INEDs.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An offer of options may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the options. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer, a grantee is not
required to hold an option for any minimum period nor achieve any
performance targets before the exercise of an option granted to him.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for the
option

The subscription price for Shares will be a price determined by the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee on
acceptance of grant of option.

Period

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 March 2018, the date on which the Share Option
Scheme became effective.
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AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Award Scheme on 30 August 2019. The Award
Scheme is subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose of the Award Scheme

The purpose of the Award Scheme is (i) to recognise the contributions
by the Group's personnel and to increase their incentives in working for
the continual operation and development of the Group; and (i) to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Award Scheme (excluding awarded shares which have been forfeited
in accordance with the Award Scheme) will not exceed 10% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the date of adoption of the Award Scheme
(ie. 1,000,000,000), being 100,000,000 Shares (the “Restricted Share Award
Scheme Limit"). The maximum number of Restricted Shares which may be
granted to a Selected Participant at any one time or in aggregate may not
exceed one per cent. (1%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the Adoption Date. Given that no scheme mandate has been granted by
the Shareholders to the Directors for the Award Scheme, no share awards
involved new Shares are available for grant under the Award Scheme.

Vesting of Awards

The Board may from time to time while the Award Scheme is in force
and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and
conditions or periods for the Award to be vested.

Movements in the Award Scheme

During the Year 2024, the Custodian purchased 1,950,000 Shares on the
market under the Award Scheme and no Shares was vested to employee
participants, which were granted to them in Year 2021. As at the date of
this Annual Report, an aggregate of 4,940,000 Restricted Shares remained
unvested to the employee participants.
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E = IR
BEEEHG
Not yet vested Not yet vested
asat asat
Vesting period 1 January Granted Vested 31 December
Grantee Date of grant (Note 1) 2024 (Note 2) (Note 3) Lapsed Cancelled 2024
gt Jo 13
gt Jo 13 +ZA
BES -RA-H B BHE =t+-H
ERA =L (Htst1) GESl (Mzk2) (Hi5E3) BEX B AR
Employees 23Juy2021 10 March 2022 = = = = = =
B -F _BICE
8 tAZ+=H =R+H
10 March 2023 1,120,000 - = = = 1,120000
ZZ°CE
=R+H
10 March 2024 3820000 = = = = 3820000
ZEImE
=A+H
Total 4,940,000 - - - - 4,940,000
(Note 4)
&5t (Fzta)
Notes:

54

Subject to the rules of the Award Scheme, the Restricted Shares will be
vested to the grantees in three tranches of which 20% of the Restricted
Shares were vested on 10 March 2022, 40% of the Restricted Shares were
supposed to be vested on 10 March 2023 and 10 March 2024 respectively

The Restricted Shares granted under the Award Scheme with the
average closing price of the Shares for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant as quoted on the Stock Exchange
is approximately HK$0.312 per Share. According to the rules of the Award
Scheme, the Board shall consider certain matters when determining the
grant of such Restricted Shares to the grantees, including the performance
and contributions of the grantees of the Group with an objective of
recognising their contributions and increasing their incentives in working for
the continual operation and development of the Group.

The Share price on which the Restricted Shares were vested in employees
under the Award Scheme on 28 August 2023 and 29 August 2023 was
HK$0.34 and HK$0.355 respectively.

On 12 February 2025,. as the vesting condition had not been fulfilled before
the relevant vesting dates, an aggregate of 4,940,000 awarded shares,
representing 51.7% of the total number of awarded shares granted has
lapsed.

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Award Scheme was 100,000,000 Shares, which represents approximately
9.3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report.
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During the Year 2024, the aggregate fair value of the Restricted Shares
granted on 23 July 2021 under the Award Scheme was HK$2,865,000.
The estimated value of the Restricted Shares granted to the employee
participants and the five highest paid employees was HK$2,865,000 and
HK$ 1,485,000, respectively.

RIEZUFE BIERESEN S = —
Etﬁ_+_aﬁﬁm@ﬁﬁk@mﬁ$ﬁ
B4EEEA2,8650008 T R FEEZLHEER
h %R HES RS RPN EEHEE
73 B £52,865,00078 7T 521,485,000/ 7T ©

Fair value of
Total number restricted shares

Grantee Date of grant granted granted

SR

EEA R AL [SEih it RSB AFE

HKS

ATT

Employee 23 July 2021 9,550,000 2,865,000
3= BT —HFtHAZ+=H

Five highest paid employees 23 July 2021 4,950,000 1,485,000
h%EENES B —F+HBAZ+=H

Please refer to note 30(b) to the financial statements for details of
accounting treatment for restricted shares of the Award Scheme.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share awards
granted under the Award Scheme divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue during the Year 2024 was nil.

Subject to any early termination of the Award Scheme as may be
determined by the Board, the Award Scheme is valid and effective for a
term of 10 years commencing on 30 August 2019 (i.e. the adoption date
of the Award Scheme). As at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the
Award Scheme is approximately 4 years and 8 months.
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EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Award Scheme, CB and PSCS as
set out in this Directors’ Report, no equity-linked agreement that would or
might (i) result in the Company issuing Shares, or (i) require the Company
to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the Company
issuing Shares, was entered into by the Company during the Year 2024 or
subsisted at the end of the Year 2024.

NON COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lee, through his interest in Best Sheen, is interested in 69.76% of
the issued Shares. As such Mr. Lee and Best Sheen are the Controlling
Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders have confirmed that they had
been in compliance with all the undertakings provided under the deed
of non— competition dated 15 February 2018 and signed by Mr. Lee and
Best Sheen in favour of the Company (the “Deed of Non-competition”),
since the signing of the Deed of Non-competition and up to 31 December
2024. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Non-competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus. There are no
matters which required to be deliberated by the INEDs in relation to the
compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition and they
considered that the terms of the Deed of Non-competition have been
complied with by the Controlling Shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as of the date of this Annual Report,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the
issued Shares being held by the public) as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands (place of incorporation of the Company) or under the
Articles of Association which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Board considered that during the Year 2024 and up to the date
of this Annual Report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for those disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report included in this Annual Report. For details,
please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report”on pages 25 to 42 of this
Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or in existence as at 31 December 2024 or at any time during the Year
2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for the Directors' and
officers' liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities during the Year 2024
and the indemnity provision and Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
remained in force during the Year 2024 and as at the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year 2024, the five largest customers of the Group comprised 42.0%
by value of our total sales during the Year 2024, with the largest customer
accounted for 10.3%. For the Year 2024, the five largest suppliers of the
Group comprised 67.3% by value of our total purchases during the Year
2024, with the largest supplier accounted for 24.9%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or a Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued
Shares) has an interest in any of our five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year 2024 was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant event affecting the Group and
requiring disclosure that has been taken place subsequent to 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year 2024 have been audited
by Graham H. Y. Chan & Co, who will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming AGM and offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Graham H. Y. Chan & Co. as the Independent
Auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Bing Kwong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE MEMBERS OF APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Apex Ace
Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as, the “Group”) set out on pages 65 to 183, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
1. Impairment assessment of trade receivables; and

2. Provision for inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

1.

60

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Nature of the key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEFNEMFAREMRESFE

We identified the assessment of impairment for
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
use of management judgement and estimates in
evaluating the impairment under the expected
credit losses model.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management considers various
factors when determining the provision for
impairment of trade receivables. These factors
include the ageing analysis of trade debts, the
current creditworthiness of the customers, the
historical collection history of each debtor, the
status of subsequent settlement, the expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances, and the on-going trading relationship
with the customers. Additionally, the management
takes into account forward-looking information
that may impact the ability of customers to repay
the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of trade receivables before impairment was
approximately HK$577,021,000 and an allowance
for impairment was approximately HK$65,710,000.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:

- Understanding the Group's key internal controls for
managing and monitoring credit risk, debt collection and
the estimation of expected credit losses;

- Recalculating the accuracy of ageing analysis of trade
receivables and verifying its accuracy by checking source
documents on a sample basis;

- Obtaining confirmations from debtors to verify the accuracy
of the debtor balances on a sample basis;

- Reviewing subsequent settlements of trade receivables
and verifying them against related sales invoices and bank
records on a sample basis;

= Evaluating the reasonableness of the management’s
impairment assessment by examining the information used,
including testing the accuracy of historical default data
and assessing adjustments based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information; and

- Assessing the adequacy of the credit risk disclosures in
relation to trade receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
2. Provision for inventories

Nature of the key audit matter

MBS FREE

RATEE
2. 1

stHIE (@)
LEL

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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We identified the provision for inventories as a key
audit matter due to the management’s judgement
involved in determining the appropriate levels of
inventory provision.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management considers several
factors when determining the allowance for slow-
moving and obsolete inventories. These factors
include the ageing of inventories, estimated net
realisable value and subsequent sales.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately HK$379,349,000 and
no write-down of inventories was made for the
year.
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Our audit procedures in relation to provision for inventories
included the following:

£~

Understanding the Group's inventory impairment policy and
the management’s assessment of the net realisable values
of inventories;

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s estimates
of the net realisable value on a sample basis, considering
factors such as inventory ageing, subsequent sales, latest
selling prices, and estimated costs to make sales;

Checking the accuracy of the ageing analysis of inventories
by verifying against source documents on a sample basis;

Verifying the status of slow-moving inventories by cross-
referencing them with respective subsequent sales invoices
or sales orders received; and

Obtaining information from the sales team regarding
the expected sales of slow-moving or long-outstanding
inventories.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that

an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is LAl Shuk Ping.

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co.
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

roEmAEMEE @R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+_B=+—HItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L ETTHT)
2024 2023
—E-mIm S ——
FE FE
Note $'000 $'000
B 5F F T
Revenue Wiy 2ez 5 3,051,943 2,529,796
Cost of sales HHE R A (2,874,234) (2,365,799)
Gross profit EH 177,709 163,997
Other income and other gain HA A s E i e 6 14,942 3,661
Decrease in fair value of investment & E#)ZE A FE /D
property (1,800) (3,000)
Reversal of impairment loss/ B 2R E R
(impairment loss) on trade BE, CRERE)
receivables 5,710 (8,191)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of Bk EMER IS
impairment loss on loan and other  CRU{EESTE) /(&
receivables, net k=t EIpe= s (470) 452
Fair value gain in financial instrument $2/AF{E 5t AB &Y
at fair value through profit or loss TR T AN FERE 356 451
Fair value (Ioss)/gain in MEBENRFEE
derivative asset (E518) Wz (1,467) 729
Distribution and selling expenses DERIHERS (73,295) (49,899)
Administrative expenses TERESZ (72,288) (78,078)
Finance costs BB RS 7 (45,738) (35,324)
Profit/(loss) before tax PR A EF (B548) 8 3,659 (5.202)
Income tax credit/(expense) PR e, FEx) 10 2,563 (4,958)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRiaEF (8 6,222 (10,160)
Other comprehensive expense  H{th2E{X
Items that may be reclassified HREGJEM 7 EERm
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEH
Exchange differences arising on MEBINETEFTES:
translation of foreign operations ZERER (2,417) (2,075)
Items that will not be reclassified BETEENTEE B m
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEH
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold ~ EfLFEE LM RIETF
land and buildings Z BS54t (4,248) =
Deferred tax arising on revaluation ~ EfLEE LM RIETF
of leasehold and buildings BEEZIRERIE 625 -
Other comprehensive expense for FREH M2 >
the year, net of tax Np&#gIE (6,040) (2,075)
Total comprehensive income/ FRZEKA -~ (F) 8%
(expense) for the year 182 (12,235)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024E3R 65



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
raBmeEMEEREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+"/A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TET)
2024 2023
ot B =
FE FE
Note $'000 $'000
Fd5F FT T
Profit/(loss) for the year DUF AT REGER
attributable to: wmA (E518)
— Owners of the Company —AREHEE A 6,721 (16,160)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R (499) 6,000
6,222 (10,160)
Total comprehensive income/ IR ATEGER
(expenses) for the year 2EWA S BE) 48%8 -
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company —AREHEE A 817 (18,202)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R (635) 5,967
182 (12,235)
Earnings/(loss) per share TAREE AELER
attributable to owners of the B (B8
Company
~ Basic —HK 1 0.63 HK cents{lll | (1.53)HK cents7 1Ll
— Diluted —#8 0.48 HK cents&flll | (1.53)HK cents/&1ll

The notes on pages 73 to 183 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

—.H
=

RAFSIK iR

At 31 December 2024

S CECME+"A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TET)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
) (1 - 3 S TE=HF
+=A +ZA
=+—H =+—H
Note $'000 $'000
By EE Tt T
Non-current assets JERENE &
Property, plant and equipment M= -BERKE 13 78,043 85,973
Right of use assets FRESE 13 5,670 8,849
Investment property KBEYE 14 46,400 48,200
Financial instrument at fair value BAFEFAEGRN
through profit or loss EHTA 15 13,481 13,125
Intangible assets mILEE 16 2,334 7,253
Deposits paid for acquisition of URREYD 2 BB R sk B Y
property, plant and equipment BfEE 20 = 228
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 27 15,977 13,094
161,905 176,722
Current assets MENEE
Derivative asset mEBEE 17 262 1,730
Inventories 78 18 379,349 227,665
Trade and bills receivables B 5 eI AR R R e I R 4 19 513,249 747,721
Other receivables, deposits and HMEIWAHIE e K&
prepayments SEENEE 20 94,983 103,844
Income tax recoverable AW [EIFT1ER 1,216 84
Bank balances, pledged and restricted #R1T45 8% - BIEIF K= R
balance and cash EERRIRE 21 141,697 96,520
1,130,756 1,177,564
Current liabilities mHaR
Trade payables B 5 TR 2 216,078 164,622
Other payables, accruals and deposits EAAE(IFRIE ~ FE5T & A
received RBEWEE 23 76,343 25,075
Lease liabilities — current portion HEsGE-—REE D 13 4,268 3,702
Loan from controlling shareholder, R BRI R AT
unsecured ER—Eig 24 19,188 43,784
Bank borrowings, secured fﬁmﬁ‘*—*ﬁ‘}fﬂfﬁ 25,38 629,601 759,072
Income tax payable FEIFR1SHR 165 3,802
945,643 1,000,057
Net current assets TMENEERE 185,113 177,507
Total assets less current liabilities 2B E R RSEE 347,018 354,229
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e FBRR

At 31 December 2024

A B _NE+—"B=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L BT
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R-B_OF B =F
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 FT T
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Convertible bond RS 26,38 17,073 16,150
Lease liabilities — non-current portion fHE&E—IERBIT D 13 2,316 5448
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 27 3,672 4552
23,061 26,150
Net assets HERE 323,957 328,079
Capital and reserves B Ri#EE
Share capital B4 28 10,751 10,751
Reserves i 268,562 269,865
Equity attributable to owners of AT HEH A E(LIER
the Company 279,313 280,616
Perpetual subordinated convertible 7K A 2R 4R BT 2 B& 2%
securities 29 10,000 10,000
Non-controlling interests R RS 34,644 37,463
Total equity HarE 323,957 328,079

The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 183 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and

were signed on its behalf by

Lee Bing Kwong

FRA

Director

4

The notes on pages 73 to 183 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
/\\7]_\ 4‘% £ 2 e @J %E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+_B=+—HItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TTET)
Attributable to owners of the Company
BAFAREARL
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
restricted  Share-based Asset subordinated Non-
Share  shareaward payment  Convertible revaluation Exchange Retained convertible  controlling
Share capital premium scheme reserve  bondreserve  Other reserve reserve reserve earnings Subtotal securities interests  Total Equity
AR
HEiE  LBRARR ThE KR4
Bs  BBEE TRERR 0 AERE  GHEE  ARHE HEEMEE ERBRE  REEY 0t UBRES  RRRER s
S000 5000 5000 §00 SO0 SO0 SO0 S0 S0 S000 5000 5000 §00
fn T T T T T n T fn fn T T T
Balanceat 1 Janary 2023 WZ5ZZE-B-R2
i 10751 13388 (5104) 1641 9735 3086 13912 (1617) 136372 301,164 10000 31386 32550
(lossfproftfor theyer ER (58 /8 o S S S S - - - (16160) (16160) - 6000 (10160
Other comprehensive expense fortheyesr - EREHZERT
- Echang diferencesasing on -HESIEHEL Y
transiation offorign aperaions EQZE - - - - - - - (M) - (M) - ®) 07
Totlcomprehensieepense fortheyerr  ERAERFAE - 5 5 - - - - o) (16160 (18202 - 5%7 123
Shares putchased forthe Award Scheme— ARBIEEIE AN = = 2990) = = = = = = 29%0) - - 2990)
Recogriton of equiy-setle share-based  ESBLUEREE 21D
peyment bGEY - - - 568 - - - - - 58 5 5 568
Sharesvested orthe Awad Scheme - BT EIE BRI - - %7 10 - - - - (127) - - - =
Reveluaton resrve relised upon BB HRETZ
depreciaton onrevaluaion of fEEREMAER
Jezsehold and and buldings - - - - - - (34) - 068 1% - - 1%
Distrbuton o hoderofPSCS ARG TR
FEANRR - S S S S S s s ] 50 S S 50
Contrbution fiom anorvcontroling RE-LEnRRELE
shareholder & = = = = = = = = & = 110 110
Balanceat 31 December 2023 i Sk
2R t-RkR 10751 13238 (7157) 139 9735 3086 13310 (3659 120703 280616 10000 37463 38019
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
/\\7|_\ 4‘% £ 2 A5 @J %E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZNF+-_RB=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L BT
Attributable to owners of the Company
FAAREARG
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
restricted  Share-based Asset subordinated Non-
Share  shareaward payment  Convertible revaluation Exchange Retained convertible  controlling
Share capital premium scheme reserve  bondreserve  Other reserve reserve reserve earnings Subtotal securities interests  Total Equity
Rtk
REHE  MBARR T4k KAxdh
Bt RREE THRERR  REHRE  GSHE  ARNE ERENER  ERER  RERN bt ThRES  HERER S
§00 5000 S000 500 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §00 §000 §000 500
r T T T T n n n n r T T T
Balanceat 1 anuary 2024 R-FZRE-R-RZ
g 10751 13238 {7150 139 9735 30% 13310 (3659 120703 180616 10000 31463 38079
Profitlos) forthe year EREH/ R = = = = = = = - 6721 6701 - (459 620
Othercomprehensive expenselincome  EREM2T (%) /WA
fortheyear
~Bichange difencesasng on -hEENEREL
ranslaton of foreign operatons EQEE = = = v - - - (281) - (281) - (136) 2417)
Deficton reveluaton feasehold -EffiETHRETZ
land and buiings Eit - - - - - - () - - (4249) - = (249
Deferedacarsngonreluztionol  ~ERAETIHRET
Jeasehold and and buings BEVRERE - - - - - - 65 - - 65 = = 65
Totalcomprehensie fexpense)incomefor  EA2E (B%) /HAEE
the year o S S S S S (3623) (2280) 6721 817 S 633) 18
Shares purchased for the Award Scheme - - (19 - - - - - - (79 - - (19

Recogition of equity-sttled share-Dased
peyment Wﬁ g - - - 8 - - - - - 8 5 5 8
Reverd ofshre-based paymentexpenses SR REIRMRE TR
forthe subsequenty forfeed share GBS

awads _ _ _ (148) R B - - S (148) - - (1480)
Reveluaton resrve relised upon BB HRETZ

depreciaton onrevaluaion of fEEREMAER

leasehold knd and bings - - - - = = (537 - 3 1% - - 1%
Contrbutions fom non-contrling REHERRRLE

shareholder = - - - - - - - - - - 2 %
Diidend paid o thenon-conwoling - BAi—EMELTIERRRE

hateholder of a subsidary RE = > > > S = - - - - - 2730) (2730
Distrbuton o hoderofperpetual ARG TR

subordinaed convertble securies REANSTR - - - - - - - - ) (0 - - 50
Balanceat 31 December 2024 3

t2R=+-RZkGH 10751 1338 (7954) - 9735 3086 910 (5%40) 18037 19313 10000 ou 3957

Note: Other reserve mainly represents the difference between the historical cost of ~ FffsE : Hthi#EE T EHLERIZERBREEH—

the shares of a subsidiary paid by the then controlling shareholder and the HREBARBERMMAHEEARIAR
consideration paid by the Group in exchange. NAEEENREBZENESE-

The notes on pages 73 to 183 form part of these consolidated financial  $573ZE 1838 Z i sk BRI FiR S IREK
statements Z—85e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

I\\7r\ Eﬁiun%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_T NF+"A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L ETTHT)
2024 2023
—EmEF B =&
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 FT T
Operating activities REREY
Profit/(loss) before tax BRigETEF, (E518) 3,659 (5,202)
Adjustments for: KR .
Decrease in fair value of investment IR B ZE QA FE D
property 1,800 3,000
Loss on disposal of property, plant  HEYZE - BEKRZE
and equipment 518 8 49 14
Fair value gain in financial &@?Tﬁ st AIBIHY
instrument at fair value through M TEMAFEKRTE
profit or loss (356) (451)
Fair value loss/(gain) in derivative MEBEENRTE
asset B8, () 1,467 (729)
Reversal of share-based payment PBER IR U BIBRD B2 Bh
expenses for the subsequently O] 5 Y R AP (T R BE =2
forfeited share awards 6 (1,482) -
Write-back of other payables RO H MR RIE 6 (186) -
Interest income FEWA 6 (1,483) (886)
Depreciation — property, plant and %ﬁé Mz~ BE R
equipment &t 8 5,640 5418
Depreciation - right of use assets ?ﬁ% FREEE 8 4,161 3,363
Amortisation — intangible asset i mIEE 8 4,780 4,716
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8 - 2,498
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ B S EWERR CRIEE 18
impairment loss on trade o) REEE
receivables (5,710) 8,191
Impairment loss/(reversal of FEW & 71 R E Ath
impairment loss) on loans and FE 2R T i (E A5 18,
other receivables (R (B 5 18 5 [0]) 470 (452)
Finance costs BE A 7 45,738 35324
Long service payment obligation %ﬁﬂﬁfﬁkﬁiﬁ 8 361 =
Recognition of equity-settled share- FESRLIMEZEH 2
based payment Mﬁxfﬁi‘iﬁ%lﬁ 8 83 568
Operating cash flows before working & B &S HEILEIRE
capital changes ME 58,991 55372
Increase in inventories FEEM (153,180) (55,844)
Decrease/(increase) in trade B S RUERFURL 7 (18 )
receivables 236,883 (257,181)
Decrease/(Increase) in other HEWARIE EINE R
receivables, loans receivable, B RBEAREBERLD
deposits and prepayments (% ) 11,375 (53,620)
Increase in trade payables B ﬁt%‘hi‘ il 54,800 32,858
Increase in other payables, accruals ~ EME(IFRIE BT BB &
and deposit received BUIZE1E M 51,608 2,513
Cash generated from/(used in) M%xﬁ@]ﬁﬁ g/ (FRA)
operating activities "/E 260,477 (275,902)
Interest income received B UF B WA 1,452 1,165
Tax paid EfRE (6,265) (4,863)
Tax refund B 932 46
Net cash generated from/(used in) &&;E5EFR1E, (FRA) IRE
operating activities /$§E 256,596 (279,554)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

I\\/—r\ Iﬁﬁ/)ni%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_ T NF+"A=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L BT
2024 2023
b Sl 11 3 TETCHF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 FT T
Investing activities REEE)
Payments for purchase of property, E%E %% B R s B IR
plant and equipment, net (1,622) (1,098)
Sales proceeds received from the Hj‘ﬂ@% e TRk
disposal of property, plant and tHEIE
equipment 263 19
Advances to a customer m—% & P Em (3,519) (2,375)
Refund of deposits previously paid for 3B 38 5 B w72 & Uk B8 B 12
proposed acquisition of a target REZNHNEZEE
company - 1,720
Net cash used in investing BREEHFRARARFEE
activities (4,878) (1,734)
Financing activities Al EED
Shares purchased for the Award #IRENFT BB ARG
Scheme (797) (2,990)
Advancement of bank instalment loansT8 Xz $R1T 0 HA & = 38 = 3,289
Repayment of bank instalment loans (& #&$R174 \Hﬂféﬁ}\ 38 (5,092) (5,536)
Net (decrease)/increase in factoring ﬁﬁé\w}\ GrizL) /0
loans 38 (188,083) 229,572
Net increase/(decrease) in other HT’@?E?T%TT}J‘HD/ CRiZL)
bank loans FER
— supplier finance arrangement —T,\Fgﬁﬁﬁ e 38 61,382 71,259
— others —H 3,249 (22,792)
Advancement of loan from controlling 28 B PRREN SRS
shareholder 33,38 19,188 43,470
Repayment of loan from controlling  1EiE2R BRI/ ER
shareholder 33,38 (45,466) -
Interests on bank borrowings paid ~~ BATIRITEER R 38 (42,606) (33,551)
Interest on convertible bond paid B ABRESFHIE 33,38 (100) (100)
Capital element of lease rentals paid B {JFAEHEEAZB D 38 (4,237) (3,304)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEJFAESHE2H B2 D 38 (427) (436)
Increase in pledged and restricted B K3 52 52 PR H 45 BRI 10
balance (29,401) (309)
Distribution to holder of perpetual  [AIZK A 2R AR AT #4 BG 55 5
subordinated convertible securities A AR K 33 (50) (50)
Contribution from non-controlling ~ JEEERRERIFAE ANHE
interests holder 546 110
Dividend paid BETRE (2,730) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from FiE;E8) (FRA) FRiS
financing activities REFEE (234,624) 278,632
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and IR RIBEHEYIE M,
cash equivalents (L) 2R 17,094 (2,656)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIREEFEY
beginning of year 86,165 89,516
Effect of foreign exchange rate change FE R & B 52 £ (1,318) (695)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FRIRSKIRESHEY
the year 21 101,941 86,165
The notes on pages 73 to 183 form part of these consolidated financial ~ 5573E183E Z MiZE BRI E R S FERE

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION 1 —HREN

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 July AKRBNRZE—_Ft AHHREH
2012, as an exempted company with limited liability under the EREARETHEHETMMILA
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The immediate and ultimate —EEREBRAT - ALNBZEEK
holding company of the Company is Best Sheen Limited, a limited BRERERABREZEBRAR JHINE
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The BREZEESMBLZERAT AR
address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Bl 2 SR SRR e = B E MR
Company are disclosed in the ‘Corporate Information’ section of the REIE R —EiREE -

annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company, the principal KRBl R —EREER AT -HINE A
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32. Bl EBEEFHICMIEE320

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board of the Stock KRBNRZE—N\NE=B+/ BT
Exchange on 16 March, 2018. RFTEREAREEE FritnBho

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in KEBGREMBRERUEBTEY) BIE
HKS, which is the same as the functional currency of the Company, BIEARRBZINEEE  RRIEFITHRA
and all values are rounded to nearest thousand, unless otherwise SN FTEBEEREERBANT I
stated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2 [ERMIREEIEAMBRE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY

(a) New and revised HKFRSs adopted as at 1 January
2024

For the current year, the Group has adopted for the first
time the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are effective for the Group's accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2024.

ER R SR ES)

(@ M-E-_NE—A—BFSH
ﬁﬂ&ﬁ@ﬂé%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ
2]
RAEEE AEBERFMNE B
GEHETA G EGIUT S BT
WEEBETAR  ZFETAR
AEBR-_ZE-NFE—F—HE
YRR SRR £ o

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as EAGHENEIR BEENEATIY
Current or Non-Current and (CHEN FRBREERE
related Amendments to Hong F55 (CT2EHF)
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) ZHERBIT A

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with ERGHENEIR SEROKENIER
Covenants (CHEN gan

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements ERGEREIRL RESHETH

and HKFRS 7 EAMBREED
AR

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and EAMBREENE ERHEERZTHH

Leaseback 163% (B3] A) gaf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2.

74

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(a) New and revised HKFRSs adopted as at 1 January
2024 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted
for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability
not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 1 January 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 - Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. The disclosure of relevant information for
supplier finance arrangements is not required for any interim
reporting period during the first annual reporting period in
which an entity applies the amendments. The Group provided
additional disclosures regarding supplier finance arrangements
in the consolidated financial statements for the year.

The adoptions of other new and revised HKFRSs in the current
year did not have any material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and financial position in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA=A
N [

RAFS R MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(b)

Change of accounting policy

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong SAR (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”),
which will come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an
employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory contributions to mandatory
provident fund (“MPF") scheme to reduce the long service
payment (“LSP") in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting mechanism”). In
addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition
Date will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published the captioned accounting
guidance relating to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism.
In particular, the guidance indicates that entities may account
for the accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF
contributions that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP
payable to an employee as deemed contributions by that
employee towards the LSP. To better reflect the substance
of the abolition of the offsetting mechanism, the Group
has applied the above HKICPA guidance and changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability, which
should result in a catch-up profit or loss adjustment in current
year for the service cost up to that date and consequential
impacts on current service cost, interest expense and
remeasurement effects from changes in actuarial assumptions
for the rest of the current year.

The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have a
material impact on the Group's profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2024 and the Group's financial position as at
that date. In light of the immaterial impact, the Group did
not apply the change in its accounting policy retrospectively.
Alternatively, the catch-up profit or loss adjustment was
recognised in the current accounting period with the
corresponding adjustment to the LSP liability.

2

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

FERMRE] RAE ST B R MBS

FAREEHERES (B
(b) EEEEREVES

TECFRABEBRITH
& BT (T EERTIE(C
T FHEEBREBRERRGENA
B GREEZHE) (ERD) 156D (HE
EARC S NDRE I =4 =< e =2 i1
A—H (HEEHL) AR (BT
1561) E31% > BIBERRE EBX
AR BUHEPEGE RS (798
I AEE]) 58 F BRI R
MHRFFEENRE# D > KRB
DRLE B RFF A B REAAR
He ((REARTE)) BITEHRE
il BOH) © 5t - 38 B ATRYAR
B RN RARBERIREET
R@EBRA #FREZEZBH
IEBIRBEEFE -

TERC-FtR BBGEER
GEMBRBUS RGN GS
155l AfEME » &I55/15H 8
RRARERANBRDEN T ES
B RARS TR AR M
PFFEENRBEREREAZES
HRARGSHHR - HEBEN
REREUHIRIH BN EE NS -
FEECEA LIREBGHAR
ERFE5] 0 W o8 H B R BAAR S
TEEABANES R ILEF
BB EZH B LRIRT R
7o URHAFERGRENE
HARF Al A~ F B BB R
REERNENFBERLEME
ERRERR  RAFEIFLHE
BN R

BUHIESE G IR A EFBERE
TERCNF+"HA=+—HLF
ENBEmRAERBEZBHLL
W HBRRERERTE -\
TEUAER AEEILKREMN
FERZEG St BEREE - R
FEBTEER ST HIBEIEHE
A SRS R I REABRFS
TREETHERENAR-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2 [ERMTREETEBMBHRE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE OF AR o sHERES @

ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)
(c) New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective (c)

The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the current year.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures*
Amendments o HKFRS 9 Amendments to the

and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 2

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
to HKFRS Accounting 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
Standards - Volume 11 HKAS 73

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA=A
N [

RAFS R MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(c)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward
from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements for presentation within the statement
of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses
within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations, and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to
HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are
made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings
Per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs
will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18
on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's financial
statements.

2

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

FERMRE] RAE ST B R MBS
FAREEHERES (B

(c)

EIEM{E i R E BT R AR
EIERMBIREER (B)
FRMBHRSENF 18R TE
BRAFLIIZTIRIRE)
BBV BREERNF1SRIAE
BESENB IR BFRERNE
5 - BREFZEHHEEES
SHER S 1A FH AR
BBV BREERF18MRSIAR
BmRRNETHRE  BE7)
BRABRR R\ et - BREEZAREm K
WFATERA KRB D ERUTE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(c)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 “Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments”

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a
financial liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met.
The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash
flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental,
social and governance and other similar contingent features.
Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and
contractually linked instruments. The amendments also
include additional disclosure requirements for investments
in equity instruments designated at FVOCI and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

e TR MYEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes
all individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards, and
interpretations issued by HKICPA, and accounting policies generally
accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. For the
purpose of preparation of the financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis, except for financial instrument at fair value
through profit or loss, derivative asset, certain property, plant and
equipment and investment property which are measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. Fair
value measurements are categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical asset or liabilities

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability

Level 3 — unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
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80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the year in which they occur.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise the judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the
Company:

has the power over the investee,

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use the power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’, when applicable, or the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Revenue recognition
Sale of electronic components:

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being at the point the products are delivered to the customer’s
premise and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts and returns.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Rental income from operating leases:

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term.

Commission income:

Commission income is recognised when entitlement to the
commission has been established.

Interest income:

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings held for own use are stated
at revaluation amount, being fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. Valuations
are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value
of revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying
amount.

Changes in the values of leasehold land and buildings are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the
excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset,
the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.

Other categories of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost
of that asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs or revaluation amount less
their estimated residual value, if any, over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis at the following annual rates:

Over the unexpired
term of lease

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%

Useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting date,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at
cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of five years. The
amortisation expenses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and included in administrative expenses.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation. Investment property is measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gain
and loss arising from change in the fair value of investment
property is included in profit or loss in the period which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method and includes all costs of purchase, cost of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less
estimated selling expenses. At the end of each reporting
period, inventories are assessed for impairment and the
carrying amount is reduced to its net realisable value with the
impairment loss recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which
it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value
assets (such as small items of office equipment and furniture).
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing
rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, initial direct costs incurred
and lease payments made at or before the commencement
days. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are generally
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use assets is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

For the leasehold land and buildings of the Group that are held
for rental or capital appreciation purpose would continue to be
accounted for under HKAS 40 Investment Property ("HKAS 40")
and carried at fair value. For leasehold land and buildings which
are held for own use would continue to be accounted for
under HKAS 16 and carried at revalued amounts at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent impairment losses, if any. The adoption of HKFRS
16 therefore does not have any significant impact on these
right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h)

(i

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contact asset is assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9 and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional.

Customers' deposits are recognised as a contract liability
when the customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also
be recognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income/expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EATHEE @
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) Z=FTH E)
Financial assets (Continued) SHEE (@

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
it in the near term;

on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
loss on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, loans and
interest receivables, and bank balances, restricted balance
and cash). The amount of expected credit loss is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit loss represents the
expected credit loss that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month expected credit loss represents the portion
of lifetime expected credit loss that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3 EXEEHEEK @

(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () =FRMTHG
Financial assets (Continued) EREE (@
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEEBE (B)

90

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables that result from revenue. The expected credit loss
on these assets are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based on its historical
observed default rates which is adjusted for forward-looking
estimates. For other financial assets, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month expected credit loss, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime expected
credit loss. The assessment of whether lifetime expected credit
loss should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EXgHEBR @
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () :FRTHG
Financial assets (Continued) SHMEE @
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () EERMEEILN @)
existing or forecast adverse changes in business, - FEHAEEREHBAE
financial or economic conditions that are expected BEFIE KB T
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s HIZERS ~ A RS S A AR

(i)

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERRNE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3 EXEHEEK @

(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () :FRTHG
Financial assets (Continued) =MEE @
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B)
(iv)  Write-off policy (v HHEHECR
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is BRETREFIERESE

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets'
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn
down as at the reporting date, together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default
date determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.
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e ERRMIE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EATHEE @@
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () =FRMTHG

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

Where lifetime expected credit loss is measured on a collective
basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases
in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
receivables are each assessed as a separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each separate group continues to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime expected credit
loss are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-months expected credit loss at the
current reporting date.

For expected credit loss on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risk are taken into account by adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount
of income recognised over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERRNE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount with the exception of trade and loans receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the relevant group
entities are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

3 EXEHEEK @

(i)
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issue costs. BRI EY R
Financial liabilities THEE

All the Group's financial liabilities (including trade payables,
other payables, loan from controlling shareholder, and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised
initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of the amount
determined in accordance with expected credit loss model
under HKFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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3
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond

CB issued by the Group that contain the liability, equity and
derivative components (which are not closely related to
the host liability component) are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument. At
the date of issue, both the liability and derivative components
are measured at fair value. The difference between the gross
proceed of the issue of the CB and the fair values assigned
to the liability and derivative components respectively,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the CB into equity, is included in equity (i.e. convertible bond
reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the CB is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to convert the
liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bond reserve until the embedded option
is exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible
bond reserve will be transferred to share premium).

Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible bond reserve will be released to
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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e TR MYEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond (Continued)

Upon redemption of the CB, the redemption consideration will
be allocated to the liability component and equity component
using the same allocation basis as when the CB was originally
issued. Differences between the fair value and the carrying
amount of the liability component will be recognised in profit
or loss. The difference between the redemption consideration
and the equity component will be included in equity
(convertible bond reserve) and released to retained earnings.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the CB are allocated
to the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceed. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the CB using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial
instruments are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

PSCS with no contractual obligation to repay their principal or
to pay any distribution are classified as part of equity.

3 EX
(i)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

TR (8

EMIA @
ERIAARRE (B
ARG (#E)

B R ESE > BLORER
e AR AR AR EITRAE
EH D EcEE DI E &[S ER
D RkEmAME D - B RAEMER
PHAFERREEZEHNER
IR P REST - BB B
mAB R ER D Z EIRY 2= BB 5T AR
m (IR AR LEEER

BEEH

BT RIMRESFARZZZ M
A THIZFr S TR IR R 2 S E LE A
BABRKREmAERME D - B
mAENE D B 7 A ERE
ERmANER - BaEEMED
BRAZZ 5 R AR5 A& EAER
oz AREE > W PR ESS
FHRRAERN BIAHIHE-

M I A
TEIARYIIUTTETIRS
N2 BRIRFERES HRIN®
SHRENAERAFTE -&EF
TEERITENAFEEHEE
PR P REST ©

KA KRR AT R IR S

W EAEE AT WA EA D IKEY
BRIRTBRK A RR OTHARREE 5
WDBRREA—B D -

ANNUAL REPORT 20244 %R

97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR e IR MYEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

98

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the Group transfers the
financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent
of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the
financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and
the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair
values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no
longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j)

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and short-term bank deposits with
an original maturity period of three months or less. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
inventories

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised
to reduce the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable
amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standards.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income and expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax assets
and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities
for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Foreign currencies

(n)

(o)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HKS) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the
amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of the past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(o)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans (Continued)

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes, which
are defined contribution schemes, are charged as
an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Defined benefit plan obligations

LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
is defined benefit plan. The Group's net obligation in
respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in the current and prior
periods and discounting that amount. The estimated
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting
the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group's MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are deemed
to be contributions from the relevant employees. The
calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed
by using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans,
which comprise actuarial gains and losses (excluding
interest) are recognised immediately in other
comprehensive income.

Current service cost is measured as the increase in
the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from employee service in the current period.
When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a
plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit
related to past service by employees, or the gain or loss
on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit
or loss at the earlier of when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring costs
or termination benefits are recognised. Net interest
expense or income for the period is determined by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the reporting
period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The
discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting
period on high quality corporate bonds that have
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

Share-based payments

The Group operates a restricted share award scheme, under
which the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the restricted share awards granted to
employees or directors is recognised as an expense with a
corresponding increase in credit to share-based payment
reserve. The fair value is measured with reference to the
Company's share price at grant date taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the restricted share awards
are granted. Where the vesting conditions are met before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the restricted share
awards, the total estimated fair value of the restricted share
awards is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the restricted share awards will be vested.

During the vesting period, the number of restricted share
awards which are expected to be vested is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year.

Upon vesting, the amount recognised as an expense is credited
to shares held for the restricted share award scheme and
debited to share-based payment reserve.

When the restricted share award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
were vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to the grants and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(r) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity
that is preparing its financial statements (‘reporting entity”).

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the reporting
entity;

has significant influence over the reporting entity;
or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following conditions applies:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

the entity and the reporting entity are members
of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the reporting
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
reporting entity;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); or

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on past experience,
expectations of the future and other information that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Such
assets are tested for impairment annually, when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amounts, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs to sell is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market price less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade receivables based on
assessments of the expected credit loss which uses a lifetime
expected credit loss allowance for all trade receivables. The loss
allowances for trade receivable are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement and
estimates in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past collection
history, ageing analysis of the receivables, current creditworthiness
of customers, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectations are different from the original estimates, such difference
will have impact on the carrying amount of trade receivables and
the impairment loss on trade receivables in the reporting period in
which such estimates have been changed. Management reassess the
provision at each reporting date.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of trade receivables are
approximately HK$511,311,000 (2023: HK$746,501,000). Allowance
for impairment amounted of HK$65,710,000 is made on trade
receivables at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$71,564,000).

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is made based
on the ageing, estimated net realisable value and subsequent sales
of inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and the allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
At 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of inventories are
approximately HK$379,349,000 (2023: HKS$227,665,000). For the Year
2024, no inventories was written-down (Year 2023: HK$2,498,000).
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings and investment
property

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings and investment property
are based on valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves assumption of
market conditions. The Directors have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings, and investment property and
corresponding adjustments to the change in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income, and profit or loss respectively. The
movements of fair value of the leasehold land and buildings and
investment property are set out in notes 13 and 14 respectively.

Valuation of CB and derivative asset

Fair values of liability and derivative components of the CB at initial
recognition and fair value of derivative component at the end of the
reporting period are based on valuation performed by independent
professional valuer. Hull model is used to determine the fair value of
CB, which involves several key assumptions and estimates including
volatility levels, credit spreads, spot price and risk-free rate. Details of
the assumptions used are disclosed in notes 26 and 36. The Directors
have exercised their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation
technique to determine the fair values at initial recognition and
at the end of the reporting period. The Directors believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of CB and derivative asset.

Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in multiple jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$14,675,000 (2023: HKS11,485,000) in relation to provision for
impairment and tax losses are set out in note 27. The realisability
of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the actual future taxable profits generated are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or further recognition takes place.

Presentation of liabilities under supplier finance
arrangement

As disclosed in note 25, given that the supplier finance arrangement
could cause the extension of payment due date, the Group has
determined that it is appropriate to present the amounts within bank
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
Group has determined that the amounts repaid to the banks are not
part of the working capital used in the Group's principal activities, so
it presents the cash outflows to settle the supplier finance liability in
financing activities.

The Group considers that the banks settle the invoices as a payment
agent on behalf of the Group. The payments made by the banks are
therefore presented as operating cash outflows and financing cash
inflows in equal but opposite amounts at the point when the banks
pay the supplier. When the Group subsequently pays the amount
outstanding to the banks, this is presented as a financing cash
outflow. As a consequence, the liabilities under the supplier finance
arrangement are included in the reconciliation of liabilities arising
from financing activities in note 38(a).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold by the Group at invoiced value, net of returns and discounts.
The timing of revenue recognition of all revenue is at a point in time
in the Year 2024 and Year 2023. An analysis of the Group’s revenue
recognised during the years is as follows:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

oo Be 7SR E

Wi A EEEE Y E WK B
TRRVEREE WNFRE RN
TERCNFERZFE_=ZFEMAW
m AW SRR B R K — R IR o
RSB EER@m O -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mEF EC=4F

$'000 $'000

FT Tt

Sales of goods HEBY 3,051,943 2,529,796

Segment information

The executive Directors, who are the CODM, review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The CODM has determined the operating segments
based on these reports. Segment information reported internally
was analysed on the basis of the type of products sold and activities
carried out by the Group's operating division. The Group is currently
operating in two operating segments as follows:

(@)  Digital Storage Products; and
(b)  General Components.

Management assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of gross profits. The accounting policies of
the operating segments are the same as those described in note 3
above.

As the segment assets and the liabilities are not regularly reported
to the Directors, the information of reportable segment assets and
liabilities is not presented.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 INEK9EEF (@)

Segment information (Continued) SEEE (B)
The following tables represent segment information of the Group TREJNRBETFEEBE 2 AEENRE
provided to the management for the years: FEZDEER !

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E-MmE BT oF
$’000 $'000
FT T
Segment revenue BBk
Digital Storage Products IS ERES 2,078,988 1,753,883
General Components BATH 972,955 775,913
Total reportable segment revenue B 2R EPUN e 48 ZE 3,051,943 2,529,796
Segment results DEBELE
Digital Storage Products IS FRE®D 92,532 96,956
General Components BATH 85,177 67,041
Total reportable segment profit A2 D EpEF4REE 177,709 163,997
Other income and other gain Hw A R E ik 14,942 3,661
Decrease in fair value of investment KEMEATERD
property (1,800) (3,000)
Fair value gain in financial instrument at ¥ A EFT AR EH
fair value through profit or loss TANAFEWE 356 451
Fair value (loss)/gain in derivative asset T4 EERAFE
(&18) = (1,467) 729
Finance costs BB A A (45,738) (35,324)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BERKREITE
equipment (5,640) (5418)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (4,161) (3,363)
Amortisation of intangible assets m B EH (4,780) (4,716)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment B 5 FEUWER ZUR{E E5 18
loss) on trade receivables BB, (RERER) 5,710 (8,191)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment & & k& EAthEUERIE CRIE
loss on loan and other receivables E18) R AR EE (470) 452
Unallocated corporate expenses KO ERST (131,002) (114,480)
Profit/(loss) before tax FRIRETEN, (E518) 3,659 (5,202)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrgiiEe, ) 2,563 (4,958)
Profit/(loss) for the year FrmF] (E518) 6,222 (10,160)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for the
years. Segment profit represents the gross profit earned by each
segment.

Geographical information

The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong. The following table sets
out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers and (i) the Group's non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location of the non-
current assets other than deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment, financial instrument at fair value through profit
or loss, and deferred tax assets is based on the physical location of
the assets in case of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and right-of-use assets, and the location of operations to
which they are allocated in case of intangible assets.

Wi Be Sy BRE L (48)

SEER (B
EXERZDEBWDIBINBERESE
ZWa -MEEE > E D EHE -
DEREAIER DB PRIFER o

M E

REBEMNNER - FREHANFEEH
REINEPE P W ; Ri)SEBIER
HEEMBUERRMNER - F AR
BABEERERIEM IERBEE
(B2 B BB EE
BATESFABaNER T ARIEIE
MIBEEFRIN BUMIBAIE SHE B
B REVMEREAREENES
BB U BT EEFT D ECRVAEE P
FENE -

Year ended 31 December

B#E+"A=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
—EZME —ET=F
$'000 $'000
FT T
Revenue from external customers R EIMNPE B U
Hong Kong 5% 860,659 666,594
The PRC H [ 2,141,718 1,833,342
Others Hith 49,566 29,860
3,051,943 2,529,796
As at 31 December
®W+=ZB=+—8H
2024 2023
—E_NmE —E=F
$'000 $'000
F T
Non-current assets JERENEE
Hong Kong 5% 116,069 125,745
The PRC 2 16,304 24,530
Others Hih 74 -
132,447 150,275
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(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 UziRSEEF @)
Segment information (Continued) aEER (@)
Information about major customers FEEFREN
The Group's revenue from customers which accounted for 10% or RELAEB B ER0% U EHNE A
more of the Group's total revenue are as follows: R -

Year ended 31 December

B#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
—EmE TEI=fF
Segment $'000 $'000
HE ¥ Fr
Customer A Digital Storage Products 313,313 280,369
ERA YIEFHE®D
Customer B Digital Storage Products N/A* 350,520
=P8 BB FREE AiE R~
& The corresponding revenue did not account for over 10% of the total * BREWmARMAEEZABL KD

revenue of the Group for that period.

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN

10%4 ko

EL U A B H i

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
bl 111 - 3 -
$'000 $'000
FT T+t
Other income: B A -
Interest income A E WA 1,483 886
Rental income HEUWA 1,408 1,380
Government subsidies BT el B - 221
Rebate income EIE PN 4,680 =
Sundry income HEIFURA 5,703 1174
13,274 3,661
Other gain: Htifias -
Reversal of share-based payment PEER QUL BIRR 17 £ Bh (o145
expenses for the subsequently BRI ESE (BT5E)
forfeited share awards (note) 1,482 =
Write-back of other payables B HME I 186 -
1,668 -
14,942 3,661
Note: On 12 February 2025, all restricted shares outstanding as at 31 M R"_E_HA&E_HF+_"-H> Fﬁﬁﬁg
December 2024 were forfeited for the reason that the vesting 2O+ "A=+—HHEHKTT
condition had not been fulfilled before the relevant vesting dates. ERIRBIER M EER BB RN
%E;;*EE&% B R AIERAER
B W ©
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7  FINANCE COSTS 7 WERT

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—EZmE B

$'000 $'000

FT F7t

Discounting charges on factoring loans fRIEER 7 BEIRE H 13,757 6,758

Interest on CB AR ESHE 1,023 1,023

Interests on other bank borrowings HiRITEEFR 28,849 26,793

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEadEMNEZH 427 436
Interest expense on loan from RKE—LERKRRNERZ

a controlling shareholder MESZH 1,682 314

45,738 35,324
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8 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8 BeMauEF, (F518)
Profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at after charging and FRIRAIER] (B518) &SR K 5t AL
crediting: T&RIE:

Year ended 31 December

#E+_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —EI=F
$’000 $'000
FT T
Cost of inventories recognised as an RAEBZZ2HFEERA
expenses 2,874,234 2,363,301
Write-down of inventories FEMR - 2,498
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN = 1,453 1,716
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BRE KRR EITE
equipment 5,640 5418
Depreciation — right-of-use assets TE—EREEE 4,161 3,363
Amortisation of intangible assets (note i) & E#H () 4,780 4,716
Net foreign exchange loss (E R B8R 5 2,181 4,239
Short term leases expenses in respect of T RIEF Z SRHAFA BRI
land and buildings 415 881
Commission and promotion expenses 1A% & BB & F 43,629 27,880
Research and development expenses  Aff 25 K BE2%BE = (B 5Eii)
(note ii) 3,599 2,882
Staff costs including directors’ BImA (BFEENE)
emoluments
— Basic salaries and allowance —BEXF TR 45,243 40,196
— Share-based payments — LU AD 2 RIE 83 568
~ Reversal of share-based payment  —FLHET& /2 WK HY A& (7 £Z ED
expenses for the subsequently BRI D T RRFE
forfeited share awards (note 6) (S 5E6) (1,482) -
— Contributions to defined — R ERFRINGT BIHERR
contribution retirement plans 3,231 4277
— Messing and welfare —RBekEF 932 1153
- Long service payment —RIBRFHE 361 -
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEY) ¥« BB K& HEE
equipment 49 14
Note i: Amortisation of intangible assets was included in administrative Wiz MmEBEESHETAITHRMAS
expenses.
Note ii: Staff costs of HK$2,981,000 (Year 2023: HK$2,605,000) was included in Wistic B T ALZ52,981,0008 7T (B2 =
research and development expenses for the Year 2024. FE 26050008 7) st AZE _UE
EMTkEERESE -
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

9 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9 HEFRHMKAMIRSHEMAL
PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors' remuneration (@) EEFM
The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors for the year FERENHENEZNMNE
were as follows: wur

Year ended 31 December 2024

ﬁﬁ:gzﬂiﬁ':}% =+—H

52

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
it 2R

Name 4 fig -t BfretiifR i

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

r n n n
Executive directors: HiTEE.
M Lee Bing Kwong )i 910 720 - 1,630
Mr Lo Yuen Kin (note ) En Bk (k) 256 160 2 436
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai EnELT 416 360 = 776
Non-executive directors: FHER
Mr Lo Yuen Kin (note ) En Bk (k) 40 100 7 147
Independent non-executive directors:  BLFHTEE .
Mr.Cheung Siu Kui FBEE 180 = = 180
M Yim Kok Man BEEE 180 = = 180
Dr. Chow Terence PEREL 180 = = 180
M. Cheung Hung Kwong (note ) FEAE (s 40 - - 40

2,202 1,340 27 3,569
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9

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9 FEEFHMEAIRSHMAL G
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (@) EEF @)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E-_=4#4+"H=+—H
IEFEE
Salaries, allowances
and benefits — Retirement scheme
Fees inkind contributions Total
Fie 2
Name 4 e REMHE BIRFTEIER i3t
5000 5000 5000 5000
r r r T
Executive directors: HiTEE.
r Lee Bing Kwong X Y i 910 0 s 1630
Mr Lo Yuen Kin (note ) B2 (k) 416 300 3 748
Ms.Lo Yuen Lai EnBLL 416 40 s 836
Independent non-executive directors:  BLHHTEE .
Mr Cheung Siu Kui FNLE 180 - - 180
W Yirm Kwok Man BEDUEE 180 = = 180
Dr. Chow Terence PEERL 180 S = 180
2282 1440 32 375
Note: B 5

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin has redesignated to a non-executive director
from an executive director with effect from 1 September 2024.

ii. Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 1 September 2024.

Fees paid to executive Directors were mainly for services as
Directors. Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind paid to
executive Directors shown above were mainly for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Group.

The independent non-executive Directors’emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as Directors.

ERBRAEER 2 MENAR
—HERNTESBERIFN
TES-

i. RENEEN _E_MENA
—BHEZTABIUIFERNTE
%o

XN FRATEENERTEMNIE
REFZRB A EXFIRE
HITESIHE  EZHRE
YN ETEEMHEREAREH
S ARRBRFETA

PHBIIFRITESMETERM
HIFRESRZRFBM (o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

9 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ remuneration

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included one
director (Year 2023: two directors) of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024, details of whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in note 9(a) above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (Year 2023: three) highest paid
individuals during the years are as follows:

EFFMRAURSHMAL B

(b)

i Er A T EOFE

BE_Z_NME+-_RA=+—H
tEE RERLLERSHMA
TEELRAT— %(_g::
E Mm% EF HEFeHBERLE
XHIEEO@I BB o R ZE MR Y
H(CEI=FE . ZR) RaH
A LRIBNE T ¢

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_HA=1+—HLFE

2024 2023

“E-mEF “E=HF

$'000 $'000

FiT Tt

Salaries and other emoluments HEREMBE 4,431 3,562
Discretionary bonus EIBTEAL 3,185 128
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIMER 49 68
Share-based payments MU 2 HRIE 38 294
7,703 4,052

The emolument of the remaining four (Year 2023: three) is

FrEa (CET=FE: =4)

within the following bands: iH% P T EE
2024 2023
—E-mE TEC=F
Number Number
AE A#
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T LT - 1
HK$ 1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00078 75 2 1,500,00078 75 1
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7875 Z2,000,00078 75 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 78 75 2 3,500,00078 75 1
No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the REFERN XEELERARAF

directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the years. In
addition, the directors of the Company have not waived any
emoluments during the years.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

10 FRiSHE GE%) B

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —s-=x
$’000 $'000
FT T
Current tax: BPEAFRIA -
Hong Kong Profits Tax FANER 324 5,392
PRC tax REliRIA 1 71
Under(over) -provision in prior years —  BEFEEEENE, (B
Hong Kong profits tax BH) —SBFE/R 238 6)
563 5457
Deferred tax (Note 27) IRIEFR 1A (M5E27) (3,126) (499)
Total income tax (credit)/expense FRRIERERZFTER
recognised in profit or loss for the year (&%) Bz 42%E (2,563) 4,958

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HKS2 million
of the estimated assessable profits of the qualifying group entity and
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HKS2 million. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

For qualified small and thin-profit enterprises in the PRC, the effective
Enterprise Income Tax rate for Year 2024 is 5% (Year 2023: 5%) on
the annual taxable income up to RMB3 million (inclusive). Certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Company enjoy this preferential income tax
treatment for the years.

EEREREREE ) EES TGt
FESRIRHE 128 25% 51 B E B IS
M2EEABTU L2 At ERERER
AIZ165% 5T EEBHEBR - AFTFEH
BRmAG zEBERB 2 AN FEE
F216.5%89 8 — TR IR 0

REFEMBIEREFEMSIRIEER
155 > REIM B A B AR R 2325%°

HEBRENFE/NEMFISE LE
EREMRFSENBRAAREIEET
(BARg) FH —S-NEENERE
EFRERREAsw (CE_=FF
5%) e RABMNETHEMBADR
EREEZRILBERERNEIRFBC
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

10 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 10 FRiSH GES%) Bz (@
The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to the FERZFIER ER) X EEzaE
profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated statements of profit or R EMEE W R E SRR SR
loss and other comprehensive income as follows: (B518) HERWT

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—=-mE ==&
$’000 $'000
FT T
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ATRF) (B518) 3,659 (5,202)
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of  #216.5% 2 B FFF 1SN =
16.5% (Year 2023: 16.5%) SENME(CE_=FEF:
16.5%) 604 (858)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for RAIHNFRFI®L 2 TS &
tax purpose 5,146 4453
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax  HBERMUA Z MR E
purpose (1,762) (1,847)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BN AR ARSI RIERSIE .
previously not recognised MEE (228) -
Recognition of tax losses previously not  HEER ST Al R MR < ML IEES 18
recognised (4,441) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ FRIEBIRIBER B MIE T E 862 2,168
Tax effect of different tax rates of REMBEEZREEE
subsidiaries operating in other B ARREREZ
jurisdictions MBETE (2,826) 530
Tax effect of concessionary tax rate BERENRBEE (156) 518
Under/(over)-provision in prior years, net BEEEEELRE,
(EBEaEH) P8R 238 ©6)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FERFTER (K% B (2,563) 4,958
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

11

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 1
Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year is based on the following
data:

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

shieR# (5
skREFERN  (EiH)

rEEXRDEEANBLEESRELRE
F,/ (B8 IHERUTEESE !

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
b el 111 3 ZEI=F
$’000 $'000
FT T
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AT A AEIEER
owners of the Company mH (B518) 6,721 (16,160)
Interest on PSCS KARAR ARG B HF] R (50) (50)
Farnings/(loss) used in the calculation of st ESREARFIFTA
basic earnings per share B (E518) 6,671 (16,210)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
el 111 - AT =4
+-_A=+—H| +—A=+—H
Number of ordinary shares BiERME
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ Bt EEREARREF), (F518)
shares in issue for the purpose of basic TS B &1TZ @K
earnings/(loss) per share MRS 8L 1,054,564,508 1,059,232,823

For Year 2024 & Year 2023, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share
has been adjusted for the effect of shares held by the custodian of
Award Scheme (the “Custodian”) pursuant to the Award Scheme.

R_E_NEER_S_ZFE 5
SEESREARA, (BB Mg
FBRMEEEHME M EREEEA
(MFEB L) IRIBEB T BT AR
PR EER B
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

11 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 1 sSkEH - (EH @
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SRIEERY - #B
The earnings/(loss) used in the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) STESREERR (B518) FrARER
per share are as follows: (B518) HAWT -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_HA=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
ko 11} 2 —B=fF
$’000 $'000
FT T
Earnings/(loss) used in the calculation of StESREARZEF, (B#8)
basic earnings/(loss) per share FRE&A, (EB518) 6,671 (16,210)
Reversal of share-based payment FBER IR U BRI RS 12 Bh
expenses for the subsequently Bk 0] NN
forfeited share awards (1,482) -
Interest on PSCS KARAR ARG B HF] R 50 -
Farnings/(loss) used in the calculation of st ESREERF) (58
diluted earnings/(loss) per share FrR&A, (E518) 5,239 (16,210)

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_HA=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
b Sl 11 3 —ET=F
FHT TAT
Number of ordinary shares EiER%A
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FLstEESREARF, (E518)
shares for the purpose of basic mE N ERINEEEE
earnings/(loss) per share 1,054,564,508 1,059,232,823
Unvested shares under Award Scheme — #ZEhstE|IE TR ERBIRHD 4,854,000 -
Perpetual subordinated convertible KARAR P RGEE 5
securities 28,570,000 -
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FLEtEER#EERF], (B18)
shares in issue for the purpose of mENBEETZERME
diluted earnings/(loss) per share S 1,087,988,508 1,059,232,823
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SREERT (518) 0.48 HK centsElll | (1.53) HK cents/& 1Ll
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N [

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

11

12

RAFS R MIEE

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

During Year 2024, the Group excluded potential shares arising from
conversion of CB from the computation of diluted earnings per share
due to anti-dilutive effect.

For Year 2023, as the Group incurred losses, the potential ordinary
shares under Award Scheme, PSCS and CB are not included in the
calculation of diluted loss per share as their inclusion would be anti-
dilutive.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors did not recommend any dividend for the Year
2024 (Year 2023: nil).

During the Year 2024, a subsidiary of the Company made the
following distributions:

11

12

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

siEH @R @
SREERT (R @

TR NEE AR REBENE
FEBRBMRARRESELENER
Rin W EAA SR SR H

RIEZ=ZFE ARFEEELS
B AEERBEEER RANRE
BYRNERFIETNETE S
B&~ IR AR R PR IR 58 55 A P IR 1R
S A EIEER -

HQI%\
EFEFEEN T _MFEIREE
WRE (CE=FE 8-

A TETMEE AATWBERE LY
IR -

2024 2023
—EmE —EC=F
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Dividends declared and paid to non- Data Star Inc. [EIE4Z B B R
controlling shareholder by Data Star Inc. &k A&k {FBIR B 2,730 -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

13(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13(A) ¥ BERKRE
Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold  Furniture and and office Motor
buildings  improvement fixtures equipment vehicle Total
HELH Bk
RigF HERE HFEREE MARE RE @t
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000
T T T T T T
Cost o valuation AR E
At anuary 2023 RIEZ=£—-F—H 89,776 3646 1,044 5799 2633 102,898
Additions RE - 364 99 407 = 870
Disposal HE - = = (82) = (82)
Exchange realignment ERBE 17) (46) 0) (14) 23) (301)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=f(+ZA=+-H 89,559 3964 1142 6,110 2610 103,385
Comprising; fiE:
Cost A = 3964 1142 6,110 2610 13826
Valuation hfE 89,559 = = = S 89,559
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=f(+ZA=+-H 89,559 3964 1142 6,110 2610 103,385
At 1 January 2024 RZIEZNF—F—H 89,559 3,964 1,142 6,110 2,610 103,385
Additions RE - - - 746 1,806 2,552
Disposal HE - - - - (768) (768)
Deficit on revaluation Ry (14,788) - - - - (14,788)
Exchange realignment ERHE (236) (61) (3) (30) (30) (360)
As at 31 December 2024 RIEZME+ZA=+—H 74,535 3,903 1,139 6,826 3,618 90,021
Comprising: B
Cost A - 3,903 1,139 6,826 3,618 15,486
Valuation e 74,535 - - - S 74,535
As at 31 December 2024 RIBZME+-A=+—H 74,535 3,903 1,139 6,826 3,618 90,021
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13(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13(A) % - BERSEE @
(CONTINUED)
Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold  Furniture and and office Motor
buildings  improvement fixtures equipment vehicle Total
gL Bk
RigF HERE HRERKE Mok HE s
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §'000
T T T T T T
Accumulated depreciation REINE
At 1 January 2023 RI2Z=%—-F—H 3410 21 1010 3648 1912 12,091
Charge for the year FRZH 3582 672 19 812 333 5418
Disposal HE - = = (49) = (49)
Exchange realignment ERHEE (16) (12) = 7 13) (48)
fsa3iDecember20s | WCRCSFTCASYR e a4 @ 1742
At 1 January 2024 RIZ2ZME—F—H 6,976 2,771 1,029 4,404 2,232 17,412
Charge for the year FRZHY 3,576 683 38 867 476 5,640
Disposal HE - - - - (456) (456)
Deficit on revaluation Efh A (10,540) - - - - (10,540)
Fxchange realignment ERHE (12) (40) (1) (13) (12) (78)
fsat3 December20d  _ WERCWETA=1-8 | R AL 1066 ___ 58 220 Mom |
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZWME+ZA=+—H 74,535 489 73 1,568 1,378 78,043
As at 31 December 2023 W_E_=#+-A=+-H 82,583 1193 113 1,706 378 85973
Leasehold land and buildings S+ EEF
The leasehold land and buildings of HK$67,750,000 have been RoE-NE+-/B=+—H> 2%
mortgaged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group #677500008 T AE T RIETE
at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$76,025,000). s DRSS EE T —RRTE

B (CET =4 : 76025000 7T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

13(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13(A) % - BER:SE @&

(CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of leasehold land and buildings at the end of
the year are analysed by the term of the leases are as follows:

FARZHEET M RIETFT ZIREEHRE
A ¢

2024 2023
—EMmE —E=F
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
In Hong Kong nRE#E
— Medium term leases —HHRRE 67,750 76,025
In the PRC W E
— Medium term leases —HHRRE 4,452 4,437
— Long term leases —EHEE 2,333 2,121
74,535 82,583

The Group applied the revaluation model to measure leasehold land
and buildings. The leasehold land and buildings were revalued on
31 December 2023 and 2024. The revalued amount of the leasehold
land and buildings as at 31 December 2024 are determined by
the Directors with reference to the appraisal undertaken by an
independent professional valuer. As at 31 December 2023, the
Directors conducted a review of the Group's leasehold land and
buildings carried at revaluated amounts and estimated that the
carrying amounts of these assets did not differ significantly from
which would be determined using revaluation.

In determining the fair value of properties, it is the Group’s policy
to engage an independent professional qualified valuer to perform
the valuations. The management works closely with the valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The leasehold land and buildings were revaluated at 31
December 2024 on an open market value basis by Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent professional valuer, who
have among their holding recognised and relevant professional
qualification with recent experience in the location and category of
properties being valued.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

e TR MYEE

13(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the leasehold land and buildings was determined
based on the direct comparison method by reference to sales
price of comparable properties which is publicly available. Relevant
comparable properties were analysed and considered with
adjustments including location, time, size, building age and others
as appropriate. This is a recurring fair value measurement that
categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The most significant
input into this valuation approach was price per square foot/meter.

For the Year 2024 and Year 2023, there was no transfer between the
levels of fair value hierarchy.

The revaluation for the year ended 31 December 2024 gave rise
to a revaluation deficit net of applicable deferred income tax of
approximately HK$3,623,000 which had been charged to the asset
revaluation reserve at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, if the leasehold land and buildings had not
been revalued, they would be included in the consolidated financial
statements at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation, of
approximately HK$63,130,000 (2023: HK$66,160,000).

13(B) LEASES

The Group has lease arrangements for properties leased for office,
car parking space and warehouse use. The lease terms are generally
ranged from 1 to 5 years. The followings are right-of use assets
recognised according to HKFRS 16

Right-of use assets

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

13(A) 4913 « = Re s fs (48D

HETMREFHRAFENBBZZE
AIARIREHNABELBYEEEBIRE
RLEBUAMETE - BRI BLEBZE
FLIES ~ B~ A/ 1Bl R ELAM (U078
) SRBFUDMRER - ZEEM
WAFEAERERATERBRFE
BoZEEREIREZNBAREBELAE

FHRREVERE
B MEER-E-=GE AT

BRI o

BE_Z_ N+ _BA=+—HILF
EEEEERBRANRLEMEREN
B{HEEAL493,623,0008 T BN ZE MM
F+_RA=+—HZEEEGHEET
IZ%O

ATERCUE+"A=+—H #kH
HET M RIETFETE G BRESL
B 7SR & 5 T BE 963,130,000 7T (&
T =4 1 66,160,0005870) 5t ALEE BT
]Eo

136) fHE

FEBEAHEYEFERAE FE
KB ERRNEEZ R HEA—ARNTF
—ERF - RESBMHREERF 6
SRR EREEENT ¢

EREEE

Properties Leased for Own use

FIEERMNEEME
2024 2023
—E_NE —EC=F
$'000 $'000
FiT T
1 January nw—A—H 8,849 9,367
Additions RE 1,210 3,129
Depreciation e (4,161) (3,363)
Disposal HE - (23)
Exchange realignment bE R EE (228) 261)
5,670 8,849
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

RATS IR AR M 5E

13(B) LEASES(CONTINUED)

128 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED HREERHS IR AR AE

Right-of use assets (Continued)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit

138) HE @

ERAEEE (@
REDERZEREENEREED

or loss is as follows: WU -
2024 2023
—E_UE ZEI=F
$'000 $'000
FT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FERAE E D B E AR
assets by class of underlying asset: BEZIEER
Ownership interests in leasehold land REEBRANMEE T
and building for own use KRIEFHNHEB R 3,576 3,582
Properties leased for own use FEEBRAMNEEY 4,161 3,363
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFE 427 436
Expenses relating to short term leases BRAFAAEEER 415 881
A—

For the Year 2024, there were additions to right-of-use assets of
HKS$1,210,000 (Year 2023: HKS$3,129,000) related to the capitalised

lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

The total cash outflow for leases for the Year 2024 amounted to

HK$4,664,000 (Year 2023: HK$3,740,000).

Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of

the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the year

A BT NEEIREEREE A

REACENEERIEZFRAEEE
TNE 51,210,000 7T (
3,129,000 7T,) ©

A — 5=

TETZFE!

\—v—llqﬁir_ *ﬂ —I"ﬁ./ﬂi\/ﬁﬂjuugg%
4,664,000870 (ZE "= | 3,740,000

BIT) °
HEaR
TREHAEBNRFERNEEE
BRIEFSXIHAIR
2024 2023
—E-mE —ET=F
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease payables

lease payment

lease payables

lease payments

RIEHEE RIEHE REREE REREE

TRRERE IRE¢EE RHIRE R ABEE

$'000 $'000 $'000 §'000

¥ Fr Tt Tt
Within 1 year —FR 4,268 4,504 3,702 4072
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMENR 1,990 2,056 3,528 3,715
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ MEZERAER 326 330 1920 1,980
6,584 6,890 9,150 9,767
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14

e TR MYEE

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14 REYE
2024 2023
—EmE —TC=HF
$'000 $'000
Frx Fo

At fair value BAFE

1 January *—HB—H 48,200 51,200
Decrease in fair value NFEERLD (1,800) (3,000)
At 31 December R+_-_B=+—H 46,400 48,200

The Group's investment property is a commercial property situated
in Hong Kong, held on medium term leases and leased out to
third party. The investment property was revalued by Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
on an open market value basis. It is an independent professional
valuer, who have among its staff holding recognised and relevant
professional qualification with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued.

The valuation at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was arrived by
adopting the direct comparison method where comparison based
on price information of comparable properties is made. Comparable
properties of similar size, character and location are analysed
and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison
of capital values.

The investment property has been mortgaged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

AREBNKREYXAUNESBNEE
ME - BPPEERELHBEFE=
F o BEYET R LB NG EA
BRABIN _E_NEE_ZS_=4F
+ZB=+—HEBE ARmEREET
B o BABIEXMEN BF
L ETHARYREREEERIT
R EYE I RER S EARR
HRAR B o

KRB NER-_ZF_=ZF+_AH
=+—BRHERMERLLEBIE B
BB B LB ENERBERETIE
B R/ FERUBEEER T ELER
YIZES WO > WAF RS R AP
BB fEMAFLERERE

BEY IR LUERG S _MFE
R_E_=F+"_BA=+—HBBFXK
EEMN—AIRITRE o
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED) 14 IEME @
Details of the Group's investment property and information about the FRNAEEBREMENHFBERERAR
fair value measurements for the year are as follows: TEFTENERSHIINT !
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
iR ot B i
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt
Recurring fair value measurements BEEATEHNE
Commercial property located in Hong Kong A &EEHIEEY %
31 December 2024 “EBCIWE+ZA=+—H - - 46,400 46,400
31 December 2023 —BC=F+"A=+—H = S 48,200 48,200

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into REE_E _NENR_SE_=ZF+_
or out of Level 3 during the years ended 31 December 2024 and B=+—HIEE BiEF—RHEET
2023. A R E A S = Ak

The fair value of investment property is determined using direct
comparison method by reference to sales price of comparable
properties which is publicly available. Relevant comparable
properties are analysed and considered with adjustments including
location, time, size, building age and others as appropriate. The most
significant input into this valuation approach is price per square foot.

The fair value measurement for investment property as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 was categorised as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. Key unobservable inputs used in valuing the investment
property as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Valuation technique Key unobservable inputs

As at 31 December

REYENRATEDZEESE AR
SHA BB R EE RAEELL
BOAMETE - HAERE A & LLBW S miith
R BERE S K/ 128 R EoAth (B )
FRBETFLUDTRE R - &LER AR
EENRABBERETHRIERE-

A TETMERTET=ZF+"H
=t+—HB REVMENATEFEDEE
RATEEBRBE=ZR-N T _MFK
TEC=F+TR=+—RH HKREY
FETHEEANIETTHRERA

M

Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair
value measurement

1 BT TERTRRRARRER
f{E TEFARRHALRE T ATEEZANBEME
2024 2023
—T-nE s
Direct comparison Adjusted market unit rate per HK$12,801 HKS14,734  Increase in market unit rate,
square feet in gross floor area to HK$18,854 to HK$17,360 increase in fair value of the
investment property
ERLERE KHEBTHREEER 12,8018 TE 14734BTE MHBUEEEN RENE
F’E%Efﬂfﬁ 18,85487T 173607t RATEEM
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(F#IES AR LIABTTHR)
14 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED) 14 KEYME B

The movements during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 in the balance of the Level 3 fair value measurements are as

RBE_Z_MER"_T_=F+_
A=1t—HLFE F=RAFEE

follows: EERZ BET -
$'000
T
At 1 January 2023 R_E2_=%—H—H 51,200
Change from fair value adjustment included in profitor 5t AIB# 2 AT {EHZE 2 B8
loss — Change in fair value of investment property —KREYERNFEED (3,000)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 AR _F+"RB=+—HK
“Z2-F—HF—H 48,200
Change from fair value adjustment included in profitor st AIB& 2 AT EHE &)
loss — Change in fair value of investment property —REYENFEED (1,800)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE_ME+—B=+—H 46,400
The loss/gains recognised in profit or loss for the years arise from the FARERERZBEE WaEER
investment property held at the end of the year. FRTFENREYE-

15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

15 BATEFARSNEMTIAR

PROFIT OR LOSS

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
+=-—A=+—H | +=-B=+—H
$’000 $'000
FiT T

Deposit placed for life insurance policy, ~AZRERE
included in non-current assets Gt AIFERENE E) 13,481 13,125
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15

RATS IR AR M 5E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balance represented the
deposit placed for life insurance policy. Such policy was subscribed
by the Group with an insurance company in the year ended 31
December 2022 for a member of the senior management of the
Company who is a son of Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (the Chairman,
executive Director and the CEO) and Ms. Lo Yuen Lai (executive
Director). Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary and the total insured sum
is US$8,000,000 (approximately HKS$62,400,000). The Group was
required to pay an upfront deposit of approximately US$1,694,000
(approximately HK$13,211,000), including a premium charge at
inception of the policy amounting to approximately US$7,000
(approximately HKS$53,000). The Group can terminate the policy
at any time and receive cash value of the policy at the date of
withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront payment plus
accumulated interest earned and minus the accumulated insurance
charge and policy expense charge (“Cash Value”). In addition, if
withdrawal is made between the Tst to 18th policy year, there is a
specified amount of surrender charge. The insurance company will
pay the Group an interest of 5.25% per annum on the outstanding
Cash Value of the policy for the first year. Commencing on the 2nd
year, the interest will be a variable return with minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2% per annum by the insurance company on an
annual basis.

During the Year 2024, a fair value gain of approximately HK$356,000
(Year 2023: HK$451,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the entire deposit placed for a life insurance
policy had been pledged as security for certain bank borrowings
(2023: entire).
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15

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

BRATESARHNERTA @

A TETNER_E-_=ZF+_"H
Zt+t—H EHREASRBERER
T RRBEHAERRE_T -
+-RBR=+—HLEEAKXAT —
LEREEENRERE (BEFE -
HITESRTHRERERCAEH
ETBEZLIMNRT) B—BREAE
ﬁ%;’ﬁﬁm*&)\&%*ﬁ/\i’jﬁwz}
B—EEERNBAR RFELEEL
8,000,000 7T (4962,400,00058 7T) ° A £
& B {+491,694,0003E 7T (8913,211,000
BIT) PEMES SERFERNEE
#97,0003 7T (4953,000587T) ° &<EE ]
BERS 4R IE1RES » WINMREMRRE AU
IRENREEEE £EAENTEN
BEMEBAFNERUBRBREE LR
BT ((REEE)) b BRE
RE1E1EFREEERR FRAT
B UWEE TRIRE o 7 A”THQ}E E‘
FMREHE fﬁ%t“;{éh$$l§zﬁ
FEB525%  F_FE FIEOIHREE
28 REBATR: %T&@%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
2%

A T IOEE 5 £9356,00058 T A
$TEH&/\(:;__Er“ 451,00038
7o) RiEm

RIE_NE+_"_B=+—H 2%
ANERBEZEEEPFIRITIESRIET
ERER (CE_ZF 28 o
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

Distributorship

rights

e

$'000

T
Cost 2%
At January 2023 N2 =F—H—H 23,856
Exchange realignment PE R aE % (675)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 N E=F+"“HA=+—H

M_ZE_WE—H—H 23,181
Exchange realignment  E=m#E (763
At31December2024 ] R_Z_RET—_A=t—H 22418
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss ReHgE R ERE
At 1 January 2023 N ZTE=F—HF—H 11,576
Amortisation iy 4716
Exchangerealignment  ______________ _BRW®#® 664
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 N_Z2-_=F+"“H=+—H
RZZEZNFE—F—H 15,928

Amortisation oy 4,780
Bxchangerealignment ER&® (64
At31December2024 D SSECOET_RA=tTTH 20084
Carrying amount fRMEE
At 31 December 2024 N_ZZHFE+"H=+—H 2,334
At 31 December 2023 N ZE_=F+"H=+—H 7,253

During the year 2020, the Group completed acquisition of intangible
assets which are the distributorship rights for electronic components
and other ancillary products and plastic components in the PRC.

The Directors of the Company determines the estimated useful
lives and related amortisation charges for its intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the contractual terms and the extension options
that the Group could exercise under the acquisition agreement.

R_E_BFE AEE TR EETE
BE ZEFNEEANTRERSEF T
R E e E R UL ERE D

AABDEFEEHELEEZAEH
ERFHRERITEER st /5 U
GRFRRAERAIREW B RET
fERVIEHRE R A IR iR o
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

17 DERIVATIVE ASSET 17 TEEE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
“EME EC=F
+=RA=+—B | +t-A=+—H
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
CB: AIRARIES :
Early redemption option 12 Al BB ol 1 262 1,730
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, derivative asset represents the fair N CE_NER_E_=Z%+_H

value of early redemption option embedded in the CB issued by the
Company.

Further details of CB are set out in note 26.

=+—BH TEBEEERABETH
ﬂ%ﬁﬁfﬁ%q:‘ﬁ'ﬁ]\gﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁg@%?ﬂ@
A =

fﬁ}%ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬂ%%%ﬁ@?&—iﬁ'l‘%%ﬁﬁ’sw
5£26°

18 INVENTORIES 18 78

2024 2023
—EomE T =F
$’000 $'000
T T
Trading inventories B57F8 379,349 227,665

19 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19 BIEUEIRRREWERE
2024 2023
—E-mE TEC=HF
$’000 $'000
FiT T
Trade receivables &5 E AR 577,021 818,065
Bills receivable e Z4% 1,938 1,220
578,959 819,285
Less: allowance for impairment BB (65,710) (71,564)
513,249 747,721

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on open
account terms, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The balance of the business is on open
account terms which is often covered by customers' letters of credit
or is factored to external financial institutions. The credit terms vary
from 1 day to 120 days after the monthly statement. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by management.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and their carrying
amounts approximate to their fair values.
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19

RAFS R MIEE

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the
invoice date:

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

19 ERBEKIRTSKREKERE @

B 7 B AR 712 3 R 0 BIRV AR & 0 A
LIS

2024 2023
—EmE T =F
$'000 $'000
F T
0-30 days 0%F30H 234,371 273,114
31-60 days 31&260H 136,421 257,946
61-90 days 61290H 93,091 124,439
More than 90 days 908U £ 113,138 162,566
Total trade receivables before impairment & 5 FEUR BR 0 (B A 42 28 577,021 818,065
Bills receivables e EZ 1,938 1,220
Less: allowance for impairment BB (65,710) (71,564)
513,249 747,721
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using %%F’E‘TH& AR ESBRXAEERE
an allowance account based on lifetime expected credit loss unless 2HIFEHIE ERBAR EERIAE

there is no expectation of recovery, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly. The movement in
the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

TEEERR L R T HES AR
7 B 53 FE R RIS o 74 Pu > BRI
BEBWT :

2024 2023

—EME —EBC=H

$'000 $'000

T T

1 January *—H—H 71,564 63,449

(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment F&E53 CRl{EE538# @)

loss recognised EE R (5,710) 8,191

Exchange realignment PE A% (144) (76)
At 31 December Pr+—_A=+—H 65,710 71,564

At 31 December 2024, trade receivables of the Group with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$221,810,000 (2023:
HK$452,792,000) have been assigned to banks to secure the general
banking facilities of the Group.

\:7_@¢‘|— B=+—8> ¢%l
MEERTEI(E 221,810,000 T (2=
fE 1 452,792,0007 7T) Z%%KH@EME‘,
BETIRIT LUERAEE —IRITRE
:§O
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 20 HthfEWFIE S RFEGTIE

2024 2023
—EmE T =F
$'000 $'000
F Tt
Other receivables HAh e IE 4,984 9,336
Interest receivables FEUHI 2 326 295
Loans receivable (note i) e E R (FI5E) 10,631 7,478
Deposit for purchase (note i) RIS (%) 65,491 82,507
Utilities and other deposits KEREMIZE 1,363 1,590
Prepaid expenses B 12,188 2,638
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, UXBBYIZE ~ BB K s& B9
plant and equipment BffEE - 228
Refundable deposit previously paid for BT EZ N EEEIE L T
proposed acquisition (note iif) BelRER S (i) = =
94,983 104,072
Less: amount classified as current assets  J8 : 3 dEA BN S EMN S EE (94,983) (103,844)
Amount classified as non-current assets D iEAIER BB EN SR - 228
Note M=
2024 2023
—E-mE —EI=F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Loans receivable Bl ER 13,547 10,422
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (2,916) (2,944)
10,631 7478
The aging analysis of loans receivable at the end of the reporting WMEHAREWERERE DT
period is as follows
2024 2023
—EUE —EI=HF
$'000 $'000
T FT
Not past due FRigHA 10,791 7,572
Past due within 3 months AHERER K = =
Past due over 3 months AHREEIE3E A 2,756 2,850
13,547 10,422

136 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED HREERHS IR AR AE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—.H
=

RAFS R MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Note (Continued)

21

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, loans receivable with principal amounts of
approximately HK$3,900,000 (2023: HK$3,900,000) are interest-bearing
and secured by guarantees executed by owners of the debtors.
The Group has agreed to waive the interest receivable from these
debtors. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the remaining balance
of approximately HK$9,647,000 (2023: HK$6,522,000) consists of
unsecured and interest-free loans receivable. The loan periods of these
loans fall within 1 year in both years.

As at 31 December 2024, included in deposit for purchase of
approximately HK$23,701,000 (2023: HK$23,701,000) is secured by
guarantee executed by an independent third party and is interest-free.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the gross balance of refundable
deposit of approximately HK$2,145,000 (2023: HK$2,145,000)
represents the amount previously paid to a third party vendor (the
“Vendor”) for the proposed acquisition. The proposed acquisition had
been terminated and the deposit had agreed to be refundable. As at
31 December 2024, an allowance for impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,145,000 (2023: HK$2,145,000) was made. During the Year 2024,
no amount has been received. During the Year 2023, the Group
received HK$1,720,000 and reversal of impairment loss was made.

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

20 EfthFEWRRIR & R FRTTRIE (B)

PY5E -

(%)
(&)

AT _WNE+"A= + H:#&
£ EA£93,900,0008 7T (ZE =4 :
3,900,000 7T) B’J%H&‘éﬂﬁ%ﬁ
B IHEBANEE AE 4?%
RIEAEB AEFEBRERRZ
EEFANEWFIE Lo BT
TME+_RBA=+—H ERE
IR R B EEREEA £9,647,00078 70
(ZEBZ=%F:652200057T) ° %%
EFNERERmEEESEIEN
ﬁqo

A _E_NE+_HB=+—H"5f
AREIR$£4923,701,0008 7T (Z&
=4 123,701,000 7T) UWBIIE=
FEINEREAIRF BARB -

AR CNER_E=F+"1
=+—H>IRERESWEERFY
2,145,000/ 70 (ZZE T =4 : 2,145,000
BT IR EBEWEEER—%
S=HHEs (MEER) SO0
FHoEBWHEEBERILL BEWRE
e RE-R_Z_WNE+_A
=+—HEBstiRAEEEEEFELN
2,145,000/ 70 (ZZE T =4F : 2,145,000
Brt) RIE-_WNEE WEKE

S NR_E=FE > AEBRIKE

1,720,000 7T K2 E H R (B K518 435 (0] o

BANK BALANCES, PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED 21 $R1T4ERR  BIRIR RS IRFIAEER R
BALANCE AND CASH iﬁﬁ
2024 2023
—E_WmEF CEBC=F
$'000 $'000
F T
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBESZEEY 101,941 86,165
Pledged and restricted balance BRI R Z R H 4R 39,756 10,355
Total bank balances pledged and fET‘L\Eﬁ? BRI R RH
restricted balance and cash LR MIR e AEER 141,697 96,520

ANNUAL REPORT 20243 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 BANKBALANCES, PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED
BALANCE AND CASH (CONTINUED)

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits held
with financial institutions and carry interest at prevailing market rates.

Pledged and restricted balance represented the current account
and fixed term deposit of approximately HK$39,756,000 (2023:
HK$10,355,000) placed to banks to secure general banking facilities
granted by these banks.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group places approximately
HK$37,985,000 (2023: HK$29,907,000) in banks in the PRC, the
remittance of which is subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

21

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

iR1T4ER « IR R ZIRFIEER R
Bt (@
IRITERRRTERRERFERE
RO BRI AR BIIRITHHHE
EtEe

BIEFR R ZREGEFRIEERNIRITH
TRENER B K B BB #A939,756,0008 7T
(ZE =4 10,355,000 7T) > LUE
AZEFRTRFN—RIBITHENGE
o

ATE_WE+_A=+—H'&&E
E R A IRTT 2 5 E E£937,98500078 70
(ZEZ=4:29907,00087T) > B2
5% o B B T 1 175 B 48 R 91 BB 5 B AR B

RARBIFRRIR

22 TRADE PAYABLES 22 HESEMRM
2024 2023
“E-mEF TEI=HF
$’000 $'000
Fi T
Trade payable B 5 EIERER 216,078 164,622

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of each reporting date, is as follows:

AEERSREARRLEZHHE
SR E 5 BT BRRBVBRES DARAO T ©

2024 2023

—E-WmE TEBI=HF

$'000 $'000

FT Tt

0-30 days 0ZE30H 112,514 114,953
31-60 days 31E60H 49,773 33,620
61-90 days 61F90H 26,805 8,288
More than 90 days 90H U 26,986 7,761
216,078 164,622
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23

24

e TR MYEE

OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS
RECEIVED

23

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

%ﬂﬂﬂ%ﬁ RIE  FESHH AR B U

2024 2023

—EmE T =F

$'000 $'000

FT T

Other payables and accruals HhENRIBERESTER 8,113 10,085
Commission payable e AT 1,492 3,027
Value added tax payables FEIEETR 1,823 2,367
Customer deposits received BWEFRZE 64,318 9,360
Rental deposit received B WHERE 236 236
Long service payment obligations RIRBEEEE 361 =
76,343 25,075

Customer deposits received represents consideration received
from customers for goods before the Group recognises the related
revenue. Customer deposits of HK$8,406,000 included in the balance
as at 1 January 2024 were recognised as revenue during the Year
2024 (2023: HK$3,859,000).

LOAN FROM CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER,
UNSECURED

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount is unsecured,
repayable within 1 year and carries interest of 6.5% (2023: 7%) per
annum.

24

Bl E AR EAEERIERKG
FItEYRE R WENKE TR ES
8,406,00038 70 (ZE = 1F : 3,859,000
7o) BETARZE _IUE—F—Hp4
Eﬂ: / il]fﬁ\_v _Iﬂlﬁfﬁﬁm?}ruﬁ“ ©

KB ERRAREVE ™ - FRIEHH

RIE_OMER_E-_=%+_"H1
=+—H ZFBEAERKE BINE
NEE EFEABsSw (CEZ=F
7%) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 20244E3% 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 BANKBORROWINGS, SECURED

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

25 $RITEE-HIEE

2024 2023
—E_WmE TEI=HF
Note $'000 $'000
B aE Fr T
Current liabilities REMAaR
Bank instalment loans IRITHHAE
— portion of loans due for repayment —ZBR—HFREEZ ()
within one year BRED 1,743 5123
— portion of loans due for repayment —ZBR—HFREEZ ()
after one year which contain a EBRED WHE
repayment on demand clause BERER
&N 14,122 15,868
Factoring loans RIBEMN (ii) 132,469 320,552
Other bank loans HARITEM
— supplier finance arrangement —(HEEEmME L (iif) 478,087 417,529
- others —HAth 3,180 =
629,601 759,072
Note: 5T

0] At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the bank instalment loans were
due for repayment as follows, which are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect
of any repayment on demand clause:

0] W_E_NER_E_=F+_A1
=+—H RBITOHEREREER
MRS BREERBMEE B
WS AERREREBERZF
-

= -

2024 2023

—E-mE =

$'000 $'000

FT Tt

Within one year —&FRN 1,743 5,123
After one year but within two years —FRERMERN 1,558 1,730
After two years but within five years MEBBRAEEN 10,838 4,765
After five years hFE® 1,726 9,373
15,865 20,991

None of the portion of the term loans due for repayment after one
year which contain a repayment on demand clause and that is
classified as current liability is expected to be settled within one year.

Bank instalment loans are variable-rate borrowings and carry effective

interest rate of 3.00% to 5.43% per annum at 31 December 2024 (2023:
3.02% to 6.01%).
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25 BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)
Note: (Continued)

(if)

(if)

Factoring loans are variable-rate borrowings which carry effective rate
(which is also equal to contractual interest rate) of 5.89% to 6.82% per
annum at 31 December 2024 (2023: 6.68% to 7.40%).

Other bank loans represent the Group's supplier finance arrangements,
including import loans and trust receipts loans which are variable-
rate borrowings and carry effective interest rate ranging from 3.70% to
7.62% per annum at 31 December 2024 (2023: 4.15% to 7.82%).

Supplier finance arrangements are characterised by one or more
banks offering to pay amounts that the Group owes its suppliers and
the Group agreeing to pay according to the terms and conditions of
the arrangements at a date later than when the suppliers are paid.
These arrangements provide the Group with extended payment terms

25 $R1T
BisE

(i)

(iff)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

5 S -BigiR (@
(l\g)
REEFRBIEBRE BN _Z
“mE+—RA= YA ZEBRERNE
(TMEEREHFIE) £A589%F6.82%

(CBE =1 6.68%ZE7.40%) ©

HthiRTT ET%EZISE@EW#E%%%%
B2 @% O 8 ;K= 5t UE
B30 B T,é?’ AR _m4E

+-B= + BZEBEEMENF
370%FE7.62% (ZBE =4 | 415%F
7.82%) ©

HESREZFNEEA—HXS
BRITEEX M AEERAMHERD
By > A S B AFE R IRE 25
BYR R IR R B S
B BRI R - ZEREDEEE

compared to the related invoice payment due date. REREAEEMRIAEHLERDN
fIFRER ©
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
ZEME —ET=HF
+-B=+—H +=A=+—~8
$'000 $'000
T T
Carrying amount of financial liabilities &+ A 5188 Mm@ i e
that are part of the supplier finance MEZH IR
arrangements included in: BEZRAEE !
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMEE 478,087 417,529
Of which suppliers have received HrHEm BRI
payments 478,087 417,529
Range of payment due dates R H &5 &
Trade payables subject to supplier T#Fgﬁ_ﬁiﬁﬁﬁh‘f& HNE5
finance arrangement (dates after FETERR (BRBHEHE
invoice date) 45-150 daysH* N/AZR 78 F 2
Comparable trade payables (days after FJ & ttﬁx B & 52 FE (T BR R
invoice date) (EEZHHZ A 0-60 daysH N/AZR 7 F 2
. Typically, trade payables under supplier finance arrangement 1 —RmE M Fgﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂc

are settled within 45 days to 90 days after the invoice date
except for certain suppliers who granted the credit term to the
Group. These invoice payment dates could further be extended
by an additional 60 days to 150 days from the invoice date.

2 The Group applies transitional relief available under
"Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 - Supplier Finance
Arrangements” and has not provided comparative information
in the first year of adoption in current year.

The non-cash change in the carrying amounts of other bank loans
represents net foreign exchange loss of approximately HK$824,000
(2023: HK$386,000). For the Year 2024, trade payables of approximately
HK$2,414,820,000 (2023: HK$2,147,978,000) have been transferred to
other bank loans under supplier finance arrangement.

HNE S EMRREEZEHRR
ASHEOHRESE BﬂF%:F
HEBRNAERRFEER.
ZE (] AEIHHTQE@L—
FIER > B8 ZHAAEEEIMNE
§60E|§150E°

2 AEEAERTEBGHEAS
TR BB RS ERF75E
(E5T &) —HIEmEE 25
THBEMRER IEREHRE
ﬁfgéﬁﬁé)ﬂ FEMLEERE

HMRITERREENIFERSEE
50 7 538 3 8549824,0008 7T (Z &
T =4 1386,000587T) e
FE > #92,414,820,00058 7T (ZE =
£ 1 2,147,978,00078 7T) B E ZET IR
NEREHETRETHEREH
IRTTER
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25 BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)
Note: (Continued)

(iv)

At 31 December 2024, the banking facilities of the Group were
secured by trade receivables of the Group with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$221,810,000 (2023: HK$452,792,000),
the legal charge over the investment property of the Group of
approximately HK$46,400,000 (2023: HK$48,200,000), leasehold land
and buildings of the Group of approximately HK$67,750,000 (2023:
HK$76,025,000), deposit placed for life insurance policy of the Group
of approximately HK$13,481,000 (2023: HK$13,125,000), bank deposit
of the Group of approximately HK$39,756,000 (2023: HK$10,355,000),
personal guarantees executed by Mr. Pai Yin Lin (a director and a non-
controlling shareholder of subsidiaries of the Company, “Mr. Pai"),
and corporate guarantees executed by the Company, several of its
subsidiaries and a third-party company.

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of
covenants relating to the Group's financial position. If the Group were
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become
payable on demand. As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
the Group has breached the covenant requirements under banking
facilities with a bank, as the Group's net tangible assets was less than
and external gearing ratio was greater than that required by the bank.
The Group has obtained one-off waivers from strict compliance with
the covenant requirements in relation to all the outstanding bank
borrowings. Management was of the opinion that the breach has
no significant impact on the Group's financial position as all bank
borrowings were classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023.
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25

BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

During the Year 2024, the Group has transferred the collection right
of certain trade receivables to financial institutions under factoring
agreements, but such transfers do not qualify for derecognition in the
consolidated financial statements. A transferred asset is derecognised
when the Group transfers the asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. The factoring
facilities are secured by pledge of assets and corporate guarantees
executed by the Group and personal guarantee executed by Mr. Pai.
Given that the financial institutions are authorised to realise and sell
the pledged assets in case of default and guarantee is provided to
the transferees, the Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to the transferred assets to the financial institutions.
Accordingly, the transferred assets continue to be recognised in its
entirety and the consideration received is recognised as a liability.

The carrying amounts of the transferred assets and their associated
liabilities are as follows:

25

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

iR{TEE - HIEE (@
HHEHEEREMAG
RTECMFER AERBSRERE
s A T B 5 B UARRR B U O] 1 88
YRS BAREERGERN
RO MR IR - EREEEE
BERKEEFAEEXEN &R
KRERERES B AIRIEESE
HEREE - RIEMBUB BT RARE
B FrtE R BE R B e EPTFEAE
RAitifam - BN ERIEEEREEN
REEZBARBERNBR TEREK
LEEEREE  HAERERRER
BEENE AR EREE SR
BoHIt EEREERBSEES R
BRAERESERER

BEEESEMHEARARZREEN
T

Carrying amount of transferred assets

Carrying amount of associated liabilities

EEREEZREE

RS EZREE

2024 2023

- 111} 3 B =F
Trade receivables Trade receivables
transferred under transferred under
factoring factoring
agreements agreements
IRIR(RIE RIFIRIE
WEREEZ HEREE

B 5 U ERTR B 5 EWERR
$’000 $'000

Ft T

197,685 403,124

132,469 320,552
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26 CONVERTIBLE BOND 26 FIARIES
$'000
T
Liability component at 1 January 2023 N_ZE=_F—A—HHN&EE&E
B R ER 15227
Add: effective interest expenses mn:BRMNEZH 1,023
Less: coupon payment P SENEN (100)
Liability component at 31 December 2023 and N TE=F+"A=+—H
1 January 2024 “EmMFE—HF—H
NaEHEmE D 16,150
Add: effective interest expenses m:BERAEXE 1,023
Less: coupon payment A BRI (100)
Liability component at 31 December 2024 N_ZEWNF+"A=+—HHK
S5 E D 17,073

During the Year 2022, the Company issued a CB with principal
amount of HK$20,000,000 to Nicegoal Limited to satisfy a portion
of the Consideration. The coupon rate of the CB is 0.5% per annum.
The CB will mature in the fifth anniversary of the issue date, i.e.
23 February 2027 (the “Maturity Date”), or can be converted into
57,140,000 shares at any time up to and including the date falling
on the seventh day immediately prior to the Maturity Date at the
bondholder’s option at the conversion price of HKS0.35 per share. At
any time prior to the Maturity Date, the Company shall have the right
to partly or fully redeem the CB early, by giving 10 business days' prior
notice in writing to the bondholder.

The CB comprises a liability component, an equity conversion
component and an early redemption option. The Group appointed
a professional valuer to estimate the fair values of the CB and its
components and option at 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.

Further details on fair value measurement at initial recognition of CB
and liability portion of the CB are set out in Note 36 below.
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27 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 27 EEMIEEE &fF
The net movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows: RERIBEE (BB 2 FEEHU
B
2024 2023
—EmE T =F
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
Balance at 1 January nR—A—HZ 48R 8,542 7,905
Credited to profit or loss (note 10) st Az (FI5E10) 3,126 499
Credited to equity AR 751 126
Exchange realignment bE 2 FEEE (114) 12
Balance at 31 December R+__B=1+—HZ 4 12,305 8,542
Deferred tax assets IRERIEEE
Provision
for
impairment  Tax losses Lease Others Total
HERE HIESE g Hith izt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E_=Z&—HF—H
2t 1017 10,576 = 213 11,806
(Charged)/credited to profitor ~ (30BRB) /5t AER
loss for the year B@ 393 (496) 1247 199 1343
Exchange realignment bE R AL (5) - (40) (10) (55)

Balance at 31 December 2023 A

+-A=+—H
28R 1,405 10,080 1,207 402 13,094
(Charged)/credited to profitor  (FRE) /st AER
loss for the year Ba (408) 3,731 (92) (169) 3,062
Exchange realignment R ®) (125) (39) ®) (179)

Balance at 31 December 2024 P E[IUE
+-A=+—H
285 989 13,686 1077 225 15,977
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

27 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

27 BERIREE BfE @

Deferred tax liabilities IRERIEE R
Revaluation
Accelerated  of leasehold
tax land and
depreciation buildings Lease Others Total
fni& EftHE
REHE  IHRIEF g Hitr Wit
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T Tr
Balance at 1 January 2023 RIZZ=F—-B—Bz#&H 384 3253 = 264 3901
(Credited)/charged to profitorloss for (5t A) /HNBREEMIEH
the year (156) - 1,247 (247) 844
Credited to equity for the year SABERER - (126) = = (126)
Exchange realignment ERAZ - (21) (40) (6) (67)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZE2-=F+"B=+-H
ko 8 3,106 1,207 1 455
(Credited)/charged to profit or GtA) /B BERNER
loss for the year 2 - 92) 6 (64)
Credited to equity for the year STAFRRR - (751) = s (751)
Exchange realignment EREE - 27) (38) = (65)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RIEZNE+ZA=+—H
2 HER 250 2328 1077 17 3672
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27

e TR MYEE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position

For the purpose of consolidated statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

BERARE AR @
RAMBRRROHIR

REINGEMBRRE  BETFIELER
HEEMBEEFTLURHE - LU T AT
P #5 R B RIPR1E 2 IR SE IR TEAE BR D
#r

2024 2023
—E-mE B4
$'000 $'000
Ft Tt
Deferred tax assets Liﬁ HEE 15,977 13,094
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIBE R (3,672) (4,552)
12,305 8,542
Deferred tax assets not recognised RIERDZIRLERIEEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$78,818,000 (2023: HK$87,588,000) available for
offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$13,686,000 (2023: HK$10,080,000) have been recognised
in respect of tax losses of approximately HKS$71,575,000 (2023:
HK$61,085,000) in the current year. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of approximately
HKS$7,243,000 (2023: HKS$26,503,000) due to unpredictability of future
profit streams. Tax losses of approximately HK$48,548,000 (2023:
HK$61,570,000) may be carried forward indefinitely, tax losses of
approximately HK$29,064,000 (2023: HK$24,759,000) will expire on
various dates within five years from the end of the reporting period
and tax losses of approximately HK$1,206,000 (2023: HKS$1,259,000)
will expire within ten years from the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2024 temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of a subsidiary amounted to HK$9,312,000
(2023 HKS$12,465,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$466,000 (2023
HK$623,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as
the Group controls the dividend policy of the subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

AERZRIERBEEN T Y
F+ZA=+—8"> K%lzﬂi@ﬁﬁ
RIEESIE4978,818,0008 T (ZE =
F 1 87,588,000/ 7T) B T,JE_E%#?HE P
Flo REFEEBEMMRIBEIELI71,575,000
BT (CE =4 61,08500087T) K
uuLLﬁIEﬁé”]B 686,000 75 (Z
T = 10,080,00038 70) ° AN HA
EA B % ,ﬁniﬁu&ﬁ WEEE,.“?/“%HQ
TEE518497,243,0008 7T (ZE =
26,503,0007 7T) EEWLLﬁIEﬁé °
TR IEE5184948,548,00058 75 (ZE_=
F 61 5700007&@7@%&&? i
TEET184929,064,0008 70 (LB =4 .
24,759,000 70) BRI EHEFRE R
FANZEBHEE MREBELY
1,206,00078 70 (Z & Z = £F 1 1,259,000/
7o) BRI ERERE TFEANEHE

KR ZIRIEIRIEAE
A CENE+_BA=+—H ' —M&
MBATGRD KGN 2 BRELES

9,312,000 7% (Z T =4 © 12,465,000
HBIT) o WRFED Jf&&z—?ﬁéﬂ,ﬁﬁ%uﬁ'ﬁﬁ%

1 2 13 TE e 504 7R TE & (5466,00078
T (CE =4 162300058 7T) » JHEAZA
ERZEFZENB AR ZKREBEK
BEeRERERAKRZE &FRA
FEER A ED K
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28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 g%
Number of shares Amount
iR &H =5
HKS
BT
The Company AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FROONETZEBR
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 January 2023, RZE—=
31 December 2023, —A—B-
1 January 2024 and T =
31 December 2024 +-_A=+—H-
“ZETMFE—A
—HBERZEZOF
+-A=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
As at 1 January 2023, A ZE =
31 December 2023, —H—B8-
1 January 2024 and ==
31 December 2024 +-B=+—8"
—ETUF
—B—HkKk
g S
+—-_B=+—H 1,075,110,000 10,751,100
Note st

1. During the Year 2024, the Company caused the Custodian to purchase
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange for the Award Scheme as

. RIZTMHEE > AREREEE
ABBERF BN BB ELART

follows: AT :
Price per share
SRER
Number of Aggregate
ordinary consideration
shares Highest Lowest paid
Month of purchase BEAM LER#E BE RiE S{E8EE
(HKS) (HKS) HK$'000
(B7T) (B7T) FAT
April 2024 —EFEMA 1,950,000 0410 0405 797

As at 31 December 2024, 21,105,000 of the Company's shares are
held by the Custodian (2023: 19,155,000).
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29

30

e TR MYEE

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

The Company issued PSCS with face value of HK$10,000,000 to
Nicegoal Limited on 23 February 2022.

The PSCS are included in equity in the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not have a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or other financial assets arising from the issue of
the PSCS. The PSCS will remain as equity reserve until the PSCS are
converted, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share capital and share premium.

During the Year 2024, no PSCS was converted into ordinary shares
and the Company has made distribution of HK$50,000 (2023:
HK$50,000) to the PSCS holder.

As at 31 December 2024, approximately 28,570,000 (2023:
28,570,000) ordinary shares would be issued upon full conversion
of PSCS. Conversion into ordinary shares is not permitted when
conversion into ordinary shares of the Company would result in
insufficient public float of the Company’s shares.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(a) Retirement benefits scheme

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income
capped at HKS$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC participates in defined
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities for its employees. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees' basic salaries and wages to the schemes,
The local government authorities undertake to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these
subsidiaries with respect to the scheme is to meet the required
contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contributions
will be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

29

30

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)
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R Bt i & o
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RIE-WE+-_BA=+—H KA
RIJ ARG RS S E R BB IR 21T
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Retirement benefits scheme (Continued)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to LSP in accordance with
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. The amount of LSP payable is determined with
reference to the employee’s final salary (capped at $22,500)
and the years of service, reduced by the amount of any
accrued benefits derived from the Group's contributions to
MPF scheme, with an overall cap of $390,000 per employee.
Currently, the Group does not have any separate funding
arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right
of an employer to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong
employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme. The Amendment Ordinance will come into
effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). Separately,
the Government has introduced a subsidy scheme to assist
employers after the abolition. Among other things, once
the abolition of the offsetting mechanism takes effect, an
employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective of
the contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date)
to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment
commenced before the Transition Date, the employer can
continue to use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP
in respect of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition,
the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date. The Group has accounted for the offsetting
mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in note 2(b).

Total contributions paid or payable to the retirement benefit
schemes by the Group amounted to HK$3,231,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$4,277,000), which
had been recognised as expense and included in staff costs
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Group has no other material obligation for payment of
retirement benefits beyond the contributions as described
above.
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

RAFS R MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Restricted share award scheme

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the
‘Award Scheme”) on 30 August 2019 (the "Adoption Date").
The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise
the contributions by the Group’s personnel and to increase
their incentives in working for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. Eligible participants
of the Award Scheme include employee, executive officer or
director of the Group.

The restricted shares to be granted comprise (i) new shares
to be allotted and issued by the Company; and/or (i) existing
shares purchased by the custodian on the market, the costs of
which will be borne by the Company. All such restricted shares
will be held by the custodian upon trust for the benefit of the
selected participants before vesting.

The movement of share-based payment reserve for the Year is
as follows:

(b)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

30 EEREF @

PR B {7 32 Bh 5t &1
TRBRRZE-—AENB=1H
(TER# B H3L) AR HIME R 10
RENETE (T2ERN5TE)) - RRfnER
BB E AR AEREINE
B MBI FER TAEEN ST > LU
RAREEFEEENRERE k&
FEBNE—DERRSIGBEA
TR G ERSHRERRE
FEBREE TTHAEHES

1 5% H BY BB 1 1% IR 1D B E (i) 4
NERGECEE R TR K
SHFEEARTIE LBEMNIR
B BB A REA NG XK
BB BERGIERD NS
BRIHTE A AEESHEENF
MMM EFEFERIFE

RAFELURN IR EE
ES)

2024 2023

—EmE “BTCHF

$’000 $'000

FT T

At 1 January n—A—H8 1,399 1,641
Employee share-based payment 1B B AR Z(IFIE (FI5E8)

(note 8) 83 568
Vesting of shares of Award Scheme #ZEht2|BIRE 17 57 /B - (810)
Reversal of share-based payment  FEHETE /2 UK AY IR 17 B2 B $35 (0]

expenses for the subsequently N AN ENE B

forfeited share awards (1,482) -
At 31 December W+-_B=+—H = 1,399
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Restricted share award scheme (Continued)
Details of Award Scheme granted

On 23 July 2021, the Board has resolved to grant 9,550,000
restricted shares (the “Restricted Shares”) to nine selected
participants (the “Grantees”) in accordance with the terms of
the Award Scheme at nil consideration, subject to acceptance
by the Grantees. The Restricted Shares granted shall vest in
three tranches as follows:

(i) 20% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2022;

(i) 40% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2023; and

(i) 40% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2024.

The estimated fair value per share granted on 23 July 2021 was
HK$0.3. The fair value was estimated by taking reference to the
market price of the Company’s share on the grant date. The
Grantees are not entitled to dividends on any Restricted Shares
that are not yet transferred to them.

The movement in number of Restricted Shares granted under

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

30 EEREF @

(b)

PREIERR (D IR EISTEI (4B)
SR IREE T EIRE S
W_E_—F+tA_+=H'8
BIREIRIEEEN ST B AR RE
EnmhaEEREE (TRKEA)
#7 1H9,550,0000& PRl 14 A2 17 (TPR
MERZAD ) o METRIE R AJZAN o P
BHRGIMERMDIZU T AR D=
HEERE

() PRHEHMERMDI20%N _E
_“HF=A+HEB;

(i PREIMERMDAI40%0N
TZEZR+HREE &

iy PREIMERMDAI40%0N _ &
“HE=A+HES-

R_EZ—FtRZ+=H&
HE SRS 5t A FER3E
Lo AFETBERABRMR
&% QAR B 5t o A IR AR
RE A 180 2R [5) HL 89 38 2 (T I PR 61 1

RIDESRE -

P EEER 5T IR H BRI IR 1%

Award Scheme for the years is as follows: RHBMBEEHHMT !
2024 2023
—E-mE —mo=&
‘000 ‘000
Fig T
Number of awarded shares e =
Outstanding at 1 January K—A—HHEKRITE 4,940 7,640
Vested BEHB - (2,700)
At 31 December R+Z—A=+—H 4,940 4,940

On 12 February 2025, the 4,940,000 Restricted Shares were
forfeited for the reason that the vesting condition had not
been fulfilled before the relevant vesting dates.
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31

COMMITMENT
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has the following capital

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

i
B ixiE

A TETNE+"RA=+—H'&&

commitment: BEMUTEARKIE:
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
k- 113 TEI=fF
+-A=+—H | +-A=+—H
$'000 $'000
FT T
Capital commitment in respect of EBENHFNEARRIE
acquisition of a software:
— Contracted but not provided for —BFIBREE - 279
- 279
Operating lease commitments RERERE
The Group as lessor FEEELHHAA
The Group leases its investment property under operating lease AEEREKEHELTHHEEERE

arrangements. The lease of the investment property is negotiated for
a term of 2 years. The lease agreements do not include an extension

M KR REYEHEBASHAN
F AN A FT LR = F Y

option. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the operating lease FERZEC=F+"B=1+—H &&
receivables are as follows: FEEWBEIENT !
2024 2023
—E-mE TEC=F
$'000 $'000
FT T
Within one year —FR 1,416 472
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BF_EFEEFHF
(BiIEERME) 472 -
1,888 472
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32 SUBSIDIARIES

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

32 MIERE

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: MEABIFENT !
Registered/issued and Percentage of equity attributable to Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation fully paid sha? capital the Company Principal activities operation
it/ B&f YR,
2 HBALHEREN Righs  SOUREREEAL  ypgy e
2024 03
o 5=
Apex Ace Innovative Investment Limited Hong Kong NN 100 10 Inactive Hong Kong
- 6 December 2021 _HKS]
HEANREBRAT B \ 188/ 100 0 E2K &%
2 -#+2R5A BT
ApexTeam Limited British Virgin Islands N 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
15 June 2009 _Uss] )
ApexTeam Limited B TER/ 100 0 RERR &%
ZEE)ErATEA %7
Ascent Way International Limited Hong Kong NN n 72 Slesof electronic Hong Kong
18 January 2016 HKSW,QO0,000 components
FRERERAT & 188/ 7 n o BESTRH &%
“2-E-AT)\A 10000007
Ascent Way International East China) Limited Hong Kong N n 70 Salesof electronic Hong Kong
N 27§eptember 20 HK§1 0000 components
FRER E%) 53R & TR/ 7 n o BEETRH (3]
TECTEARCHEA 10000E7
AVT Electronics Corporation Taiwan TWD2,063600/ 100 100 Sales of electronic Taiwan
16 January 2019 . TWD2063600 components
BN RRNERAT Gl \ M0,/ 100 0 HEETLH g%
“Z-E-BtrA Hakss0n
AVTInternational Limited Hong Kong N 100 100 Salesof electionic Hong Kong
7May 1992 HK$4999.986 components, and sales
and integration of storage
\ ‘ \ gtem )
BELERERERAR B TER/ 100 0 BEETRARHEEN R
—ANZELALH 4909R6ETT FRAR
Data Star Inc. British Virgin Islands US§3000000/ n 72 Investment holding Hong Kong
5 January 2016 1552200000 ]
Deta St . ABRUES 30000007,/ n N REER E#
ZE-3\E-RIA 200007
(Great Win Technology Limited Hong Kong N 100 100 Inactive Hong Kong
‘ 1 A 2021 _HKS!
EBREARAT & TR/ 100 0w EEE BR
“B-EMA-A &7
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32 MIBARE @
Registered/issued and Percentage of equity attributable to Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation fully paid slﬁre gpﬁital the Company Principal activities operation
i ﬁ IS AL
2 HBATALRRE Rdens  SDMRHERL  agey aEE
2024 03
-1 TBCCE
Heroic Path Group Limited British Virgin Islands US850000/ 100 10 Investment Holding Hong Kong
9 July 2001 036100
EREBARAT AERYEE S0000ET/ 100 0 REER B
“ET-FLANA 100570
ISy Electronic Limited Hong Kong A/ 100 100 Properties holding Hong Kong
12 June 2000 HKS2
FHETERA &4 188/ 100 0 e B4
“EREEATCR %
Jumbo Fame Investrments Limited British Virgin Islands US850000/ 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
9 April 2018 Y
E4LEERAT EREYHE S000ET,/ 100 0 RERR EA
“E2-\FmANH %7
Shenzhen Lisigao Electronics Company Limited * The PRC HK$20000000/ 100 100 Salesof electionic The PRC
(FIBHZELERAT) Note 1) 18 July 2008 HK$20000000 components, and sales
(2023: HK$17,600000) of storage system and
provision of elated
supporting service
REFREFARAR (e e 200000037,/ 100 0 HEEFRMREEE M
“ER)\FLATAR 000077 EARREMIAR
(CFzf: Bl
176000003 7)
Speed Extreme Limited Biitsh Virgin slands US950000/ 100 100 Investment Holding Hong Kong
18 March 2021 US100
BRERAE AERLHE 0007/ 100 0 RELR E#
2 -#-Bt\R 10087
Stingray Technology (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong N 100 100 Salesof electionic Hong Kong
3 August 2018 HKS1 components
BEBEOHEARAR B BB/ 100 0 HEEFRH Bk
“Z-)\E\R=H 187
Team Wel Electronics Technology Limited Hong Kong A/ n 72 Seesof electronic Hong Kong
1 May 2020 HK$10000 components
EEETREARAT & 188/ n N HEETRH E#
“2_%2%1R-H 1000087
Triumpha Raise Limited British Virgin Islands US850000/ 100 10 Investment Holding Hong Kong
2 August 2018 US9100
HZERAE HBRUES 0000/ 100 0 RERR &4
“E-\FNAZHZR 10E7
Wise King Electronics Limited Hong Kong NN 100 100 Salesof electionic Hong Kong
23 November 2017 HKS1 components
BHETARA &4 188/ 100 0 HEEFRH E#
“E-tE+-ACtzA 1E7
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32 MEBAR @
Registered/issued and Percentage of equity attributable to Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation fully paid share capétal the Company Principal activities operation
B H& E ﬁ IS AL
2 HRATEREN pipRs  SOUREREEAL  ygy ag
2024 03
- a3 TBCCE
A EEHEBR AT Note 1) The PRC HKS13,000000/ 100 100 Technical development, The PRC
15 Novernber 2018 HKS7.500000 sales of electronic
products, computer
hardware and software
and accessories
B ESHEERAS (i) Ll 1300000087,/ 100 i EfERHRRAES 4E
2 )\#+-PB+1R 75000007 ggwm%&
FIERAHEFERAR Note) ThePRC RVIB10,000,000/ 100 100 Technical development, ThePRC
3 August 2021 RIB6,463,000 sales of electronic
products, computer
hardware and software
and accessories
HMIERAREFERAT () q: AEBi0000007,/ 100 0 BYERGERARE 0E
2" -%)\B=H NEBs4630007 ggwmw
FITABMAEREERAE) Note ) ThePRC RVIB1 000,000/ 90 % Sdeofelcronicproducts,  The PRC
20 September 2022 RMBI,000,000 technical development
and promotion of new
materials
MITAENEREARAS (D) HE AEB10000007,/ 90 0 EFE@AEFMEN  0E
ZETEARCTR AR 000007 EmEERER
FISERTERERAR Note ) ThePRC RVBI0000000/ 70 10 Newmateriltechnoogy ~ The PRC
30 March 203 RMB4,009.000 development and
\ ] ) (2023: RV 000,000) promotion senvice
ML ERIERBRAE () EPI T— /\E}\ﬁgg&mﬂmﬁ[ 10 0 %ﬁgﬂ&%%ﬁ%&%ﬁ%ﬁ& e
_5°= 400900070 i
(CE=F: AER
100000070
FERFEEERAR Noe ) ThePRC HKS 13000000/ 100 100 Investment Holding ThePRC
27 July 2001 HKS7660,000
B+ ERERAT (1) EPI 130000007,/ 100 0 RERR e
2 766000087
FIREETERAE Noe ) ThePRC HKS 35000000/ n 7 Sesofelectionicpodudts,  The PRC
9.July 2019 HK$35,000000 computer hardware and
‘ (2023: HK$18,000000) software and accessories
BT ARAR () e 3S00000%T/ n N BTEDHER el
ZF-hELANE (35(@0_00_0?%75 BRAREAHE
AREI300000%)
LEREERNEARLR Note) ThePRC RVBS1,000,000/ 51 NA  Salesofelectonic poducts,  The PRC
15 May 2024 RMB NIl computer hardware and
(203:NA) software and accessories
LERRERNEERAF (i) EP S AR %JQEOOOE/ 51 HER %ﬂiﬁfw% e
“Z_MERATH z HE
catas
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32

RAFS R MIEE

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Note:

1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
in the PRC under the PRC law.

2 These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability companies in the
PRC under the PRC law.

The English name is translated for identification purpose only.
All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability companies.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have material
non-controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation/

32

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

MBAR (&)
s :

1 ZEM B R RRBEREERI T
MR AINEEERE

2 ZEMBRAERBERBUEENTEH
AR ABEREEAT -
o AXRTEBEMHRER

FARMENBAREAEREER
E‘o

%g%k?FEH&EﬁZ?FQE MBS
TRINHBEEEARFERERZ AE
B F2EMBABZHFIE

Proportion of ownership interests
and voting rights held by

Name of subsidiary operation non-controlling interests
EIEREERFEZ
b /NGB ML SE R BEEE G RISTEELLS
2024 2023
ZEZME TET=F
Ascent Way International Limited Hong Kong 28% 28%
("Ascent Way")
IR EIRBRAT (REU) BE
Ascent Way International (East China) Hong Kong
Limited 28% 28%
IREERR (FER) BRAF BE
FYREAEBFARAF The PRC 28% 28%
AR E F B IRA S HHE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ascent Way underwent
restructuring by allocating certain business transactions to its
subsidiaries namely Ascent Way International (East China) Limited
and FYIIRENE F B RAF). Therefore, the aggregate financial
information of Ascent Way and these subsidiaries (“Ascent Way
Group") are disclosed. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
standalone financial information of Ascent Way is disclosed.

The summarised financial information for the year ended 31
December 2024 below represents amounts after eliminations
amongst Ascent Way Group but before intragroup eliminations of
other group companies. The summarised financial information for
the year ended 31 December 2023 below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

BE_ZT_NE+"_H=+— EIthE
B IRBUETTEE RETEBR

Fo T H I B A B RAIE R (FER) EﬁE
AR RARNREREFBRAE - HIt
ERERERZEHBAR (MHrE&E
B NERMBZEN - BE_T_=F
+TA=1T—HLEE BRERMH
B BER

U E_ZE_WFE+_-_A=+—H
LFEENMBEERHEASIRBRERRM
HigEERNEM A HHEANE
Mo THE_ER-_=F+="/=+—
HIEFENMBENBELAEERR
GG ESFEEIENE R
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

32 MIBARE @

Summarised statement of financial position MR RREE
Ascent Ascent
Way Group Way
IREVER Hr BR
2024 2023
k- 113 TEI=fF
$’000 $'000
FiT Tt
Non-current assets ERBNEE 7,990 18,133
Current assets REINEE 392,140 432,390
Current liabilities mENEE (308,255) (329,546)
Net current assets REEEFE 83,885 102,844
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTSAasE 91,875 120,977
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,748) (14)
Net assets BEEFE 90,127 120,963
Accumulated non-controlling interests & 5+ IE =PI HE & 25,236 33,869
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

32 MBAE @

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other HERHE M2 mERETE
comprehensive income
Ascent Ascent
Way Group Way
RS E RER
2024 2023
- 111} 3 “EC=F
$'000 $'000
Ft T
Revenue Wz 1,278,940 969,669
Profit for the year FEWNEF 304 24,269
Other comprehensive loss for the year R EMEEEIE (461) .
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FRE2ME BB WWmiREE
for the year (157) 24,269
Profit allocated to non-controlling PDEEEFFTERER 2 EF
interests 85 6,795
Dividends paid to non-controlling TN FIRERETZRE
interests
- by Ascent Way —RER - -
- by Data Star Inc, the parent company ~ —#RE{Z /A BData Star Inc.
of Ascent Way 2,730 S
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

32 MIBARE @

Summarised statement of cash flows REREsRIUE
Ascent Ascent
Way Group Way
IREVER REX
2024 2023
—E-ME TEI=HF
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from ETERERA (R
operating activities IRE R 135,194 (101,036)
Net cash outflow from KREEE RIS $3E
investing activities (14) (6,779)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow BEES CRL) /ARA
from financing activities IRE R (122,984) 106,154
Net increase/(decrease) B RIBSEHEYIEN/
in cash and cash equivalents ORi/L) 28 12,196 (1,661)
Financial support MEZIER

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company and AVT
International have issued financial guarantees to banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to Ascent Way and Team Well Electronics
Technology Limited.

Restriction of assets

As at 31 December 2024, Ascent Way Group has cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$2,627,000 maintained at banks in
the PRC. Remittance of these balances is subject to relevant rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. As at 31 December 2023, Ascent Way had no cash and
cash equivalents maintained at banks in the PRC.
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances with related parties set out in the
consolidated statements of financial position and respective notes,

(a)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

33 RBIERRH
Friz & B PSR 3= R 4B A Mﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁfﬁi

B 75 BUAS RSN - ANEEE IS E A B RR

the Group had the following material transactions with related FETUTEKRIRZS !
parties during the years:
Transactions with related parties @ RMEFRS
2024 2023
—EmE “BCCHF
$’000 $'000
FT Tt
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong ERMEE
~ rental paid (note i) —BHE (EE) 819 711
- advancement of loans (note 24)  —ERRER (I5E24) 19,188 43470
— repayment of loans (note 24) —EIEER (F5F24) 45,466 -
—interest on shareholder’s loans ~ —fEEEHBIF] 2 1,682 314
Nicegoal Limited EBBRAR
— rental paid (note i) — B & (i) 240 240
~ interest on CB paid (note iii) — B TMRESNFE
(Bt i) 100 100
— distribution on PSCS paid — B KARR AR S
(note iii) B9 2 I (B Siii ) 50 50
Note: g
) The rental expenses were based on the tenancy agreement i) HEMAEDIREAEREEFS
entered by the Group and Mr. Lee. AT BIEATE
i) Nicegoal Limited is controlled by Mr. Lee. The rental expenses iy EFERABIHAZTHELEES -

were based on the tenancy agreements entered by the Group
and Nicegoal Limited.

iii) The Consideration paid for acquisition of a property, interest
on CB and distribution on PSCS paid to Nicegoal Limited were
based on the sales and purchase agreement entered by the
Group and Nicegoal Limited, the Instrument of CB and Deed
Poll of PSCS. The Consideration was satisfied by issuance of CB
and PSCS.

Rental paid to Mr. Lee and Nicegoal Limited were de minimis

continuing connected transactions exempt from shareholders'

approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's deposits for a
life insurance policy with fair value of approximately
HK$13,481,000 (2023: HKS 13,125,000) were placed with an
insurance company for a member of the senior management
of the Company who is a son of Mr. Lee Bing Kwong and Ms. Lo
Yuen Lai. The total insured sum is US$8,000,000 (approximately
HK$62,400,000) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HEMAZDIREAEEEER
BRABEIIIMBNME

iy ONEMARADZBENE
ZEMAE TR ESNE
RAA R BB BE D IR
BN AEEEERARADN
ST BB p R EEY
BERAARBOIARESSE
ZEmMED  BMAEBAE
AR ES RKA RE T
REAEN.

XN FELREREBBRATN
248 Al B 1 B4 2 /K T BY 5 A
BR 5 WEHRRET EHER
SBI4AETE TR R FEE
RIRPRE R ERTE °

N2 _H&E+_-_B=+—8H"
KEBAKRLNT —LEHREER
WREME (BEFRALLHEE
TERZINEF) B—EREA
A ASRENZE AT ES
#913,481,0008 5 (ZE =%
13,125,000 7T) e R ZE Y4
B -FE+"A=+—H>
1R S %845 1£8,000,000% 7T (89
62,40000037T) ©
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(@) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by personal guarantee executed by Mr.

Pai. Details of which were set out in note 25.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel and
related party

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including the amounts paid to the Company's directors as
disclosed in note 9(a) is as follows:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

33 FIERZB @
(@) PBIESRRH @)
A CECNERCE_=F+ T
B=+—H ' ~&EBIRTRE U
B EEANERERITF B
BEISEINEYAE

b) FEEEASREESHRMN

AEETEEEASHWN (B
MEEoREZ X FARBES
IR W

2024 2023

—E_NEF TEC=HF

$'000 $'000

Fi Tt

Short-term employee benefits RHES T 9,591 8873
Contributions to defined ERRHFURREH 5T 2 (H =R

contribution retirement benefits

scheme 29 135

Share-based payment expenses  LAB& 1A 2 4 FUIBRA 43 294

9,733 9,302

34 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balances. The overall strategy remains unchanged during the Year
2024.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes CB, lease liabilities, loan from controlling shareholder,
and bank borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves, and PSCS.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically. The Group considers the cost of capital and risk
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends and raising of new
capital.
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REBEEHEAR  LERAERE T
BRAFECEXS ANEBEBEE
BB A G R > SRR A R AOR

N TETMER AEEREER R

REBENEARBEEFET (B1EF
MRES HERE REERRRZ
ERKRBTEE HRRERIRESE
BY) - xABEAE ANELED (BEE
BITIR A R it ) Feok A R AR P HARR 58
o
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(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35 £RTAH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@ E=WMIANDEE
The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities as at REREHRNEMEEREE
the end of reporting period are as follows: FEREEERTIAT :
2024 2023
—E-mE B
$’000 $'000
FT T
Financial assets: EWMEE:
Financial assets at fair value through 22 FE5t ABHH
profit or loss: TREE !
Financial instrument at fair value 32 AF EsF AR
through profit or loss EMTH 13,481 13,125
Derivative asset TEEE 262 1,730
13,743 14,855
Amortised cost: HIEpRAS
Trade and bills receivables B 5 BRI BN ZE % 513,249 747,721
Financial assets included in other 5t A ELfth FE U RIS ~
receivables, deposits and BERFBNRIEZ
prepayments EREE 14,465 16,537
Bank balances, pledged and IR1TAE R ~ BRI 2 RS
restricted balance and cash HERRIRE 141,697 96,520
669,411 860,778
Financial liabilities EHaE
Amortised cost: I A
Trade payables B IR 216,078 164,622
Financial liabilities included in T AE MBS FRIE
other payables, accruals and FEstERkBERIZE
deposits received G Y= 7,814 11,078
Loan from controlling shareholder, ZRE#EREAE R ~ S5
unsecured IR 19,188 43,784
Lease liabilities ME&E 6,584 9,150
Bank borrowings RITEE 629,601 759,072
Convertible bond AR ES 17,073 16,150
896,338 1,003,856
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERIEAMGEIRBEREE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

FEBETHEHZEMBRE
miZAR (BEEERRRA X

B EERBARBESR
WOQDH/)W(« ZEREAIHERE
KT Efiéii&m¥§$
VR AR (R IR T RS Fe B RURY 75
B IE = o
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FETAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currency giving
rise to this risk is USD. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy with respect to
its foreign exchange exposure. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposures and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arises.

The following table details the Group's exposure at the
end of reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in USD. For
presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate at the end
of reporting period.

(b) TREREEBRREE (@)
0 KRR
AEETERMUERER

MINEE B T LIy B S 5t
18 BY $5 & K £ B8 0 @ bR S
TR - BRI ERAYE T
#ETT o NG BRI
TE Sh BB & B B R B9 S S
AR AT BEE S
PESNE R\ 82 o 3R IS TR
EEEMERINERLR

TRHAVNKAERN RS
HAZR P B (Rl A 32 o 5t {E
WERBEENEEME
ENEBAER - 525 H
By B = ER 5 LA TS
T {8 PR & B R Y b R 4
Bo

2024 2023
bk 111~ 3 B
$'000 $'000
FT T
Financial instrument at fair 32 A EFF AEB TR
value through profit or loss & E: T & 13,481 13,125
Trade and bills receivables B 5} & UK BR 70 R FE U S 4% 334,824 641,055
Financial assets included in st A EMMEWFIE %%
other receivables, deposits ~ &HTBMRIBEZ SREBE
and prepayments 6,022 11,645
Bank balances and cash IRTTAGRRIRE 91,026 54,062
Trade payables B S ETIRA (85,911) (89,479)
Financial liabilities included in 5t A EL{hFE (I 7R IE «
other payables, accruals FESTER R EWEE
and deposits received ZERAE (2,081) (3,983)
Loan from controlling REEZERKERZER
shareholder, unsecured EE (19,188) (43,784)
Bank borrowings, secured  $R1TEE > BILF (592,995) (725,031)
Net exposure arising from  ERBEENREEBESE
recognised assets and Z RBEFER
liabilities (254,822) (142,390)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SMNEGRE T
The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange XEBFEHREREETZE

fluctuation of the currency of USD against the currency
of HKD. The Directors consider that the Group's exposure
to USD does not give rise to significant foreign currency
risk on the ground that HKD is pegged to USD. Therefore,
no sensitivity analysis of USD against the functional
currency of the respective group entity is disclosed.
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

35 HFEMTAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arises
primarily from its variable-rate bank deposits and bank
borrowings.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors the
Group’'s exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging interest rate risk should the
need arises.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based
on the exposure to interest rates for the Group's variable-
rate bank deposits and bank borrowings at the end of
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of these assets and liabilities outstanding at
the end of reporting period were outstanding for the
whole period. A 100 basis points increase or decrease
in interest rates is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis for 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had
been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points) higher/
lower in respect of the Group's variable rate bank
deposits and bank borrowings, with all other variables
held constant, there would decrease/increase the Group's
post-tax profit for the Year 2024 and the Group's equity
as at 31 December 2024 by approximately HK$4,790,000
(2023: increase/decrease the Group's post tax loss and
decrease/increase the Group's equity by approximately
HK$5,727,000).

(b)

THEREEERREE (B

(i)

FERE

REBRAST ZREREF
%}_HZN\EEZZ;E g E/?/@\ﬁﬁ
TERRIBITER-

AEBRFHECHF X
HAHBR-AM BEEEE
SEEEREEN KRR
DI SN S Akl
=Ko

FE R Z T

DU SRR 2 A 5 AR 1% 2R
EHARANEEZFEBIRT
ERRIRITEEME RN
FER R - PRE DT
B R 5% ﬁA$E¢HH5Em’I’\E’J
ZEEEREBESER
CRARS A AE R o %IJTLDFW
THRIOEEMNRAZTEE
EBEENERNPRSHER
SRER TABEEEHT
EHEBOSEEBMNTH R
TE T ZEWND IR A
EIRZERR

REERR HAERF]
Ko #MIRITERMIET
%EE’\J%I%LEE/T%EWO
BEE (ZTE =4 :100
EE ) - T 2 B A
N REER T NE
ENREEMN REAEER
“ECNE+ZRA=+—
B R L, EINL
4790000870 (ZE =4
wmm, R AEENRE
EREERLD IENAESR
W5 495,727,0005 7T) ©
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FETAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iiii)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, loans and interest receivable, other
receivables and bank deposits. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is the carrying amounts of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statements
of financial position without taking account of any
factoring that do not qualify for derecognition in the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December
2024, trade receivables amounting to HK$197,685,000
(2023: HKS$403,124,000) has been transferred to financial
institutions under factoring agreements.

Trade receivables:

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has a credit
policy in place and will perform credit evaluations on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. Certain
trade receivable balances on open account terms are
covered by customers' letters of credit or are factored to
external financial institutions.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt regularly to ensure that adequate allowance for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on trade receivables. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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(iii)
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EHRBERRAENENNE
ERIBEHEENRE
B> Rt REAAEERR
IREMBEMRLILEIZ
FRREB R - _IUFE
+ZB=+—H &85
197,685,000 (Z&E =
F 1 403,124,0005%87T) B 7
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

35 HFEMTAG

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) ESEEK @)
Trade receivables: (Continued) EBZEKER . (8
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables AEBEREL2PAEREE
based on lifetime expected credit losses, which is BIEFTEE S BWRADN
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's ESIRTEE A o M0 A B XE AT
historical credit loss experience does not indicate HoHRAEBENBREEE
significantly different loss patterns for different customer BESRIARRBAAEAR
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is FRENEEEXFERA
not further distinguished between the Group's different EEE WRBHAIKRFE
customer bases. HNEBEEIrERAE
NABEREEE—TE
6_3\ o
As at 31 December 2024, allowance for impairment of RZZE-_WNMH&E+ A
HK$65,710,000 (2023: HK$71,564,000) was recognised in =+—8B > B ZEWER™M
respect of trade receivables. The following table provides MR R (B 13 65,710,000 7T
information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and (CZE =4 71,564,000
expected credit losses for trade receivables: 70) e TREIEREER
FrEBREERMNESE
WERRTEHR(E fl&??ﬁ &
e
2024 2023
—ECmE ZZCCF
Gross  Allowance Gross Allowance
Expected carrying for Expected canying for
loss rate amount  impairment loss rate amount  impairment
FOGEE RELE AERE EESEx  RE%E  AERE
$'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
T Fr Fr T
Current (not past due) 0 (Rad) 0.13% 359,367 460 021% 540517 1,162
0t0 3 months past due AME3ER 0.19% 144,013 270 1.14% 195,792 2230
41012 monthspastdue  HIERAZE 12(B R 36.50% 4,985 1,817 2149% 7847 1,686
More than 1 year pastdue ~ HIER1EE LA b 92.00% 68,656 63,163 89.96% 73909 66,486
577,021 65,710 818,005 71,564
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FETAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iiii)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables: (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, decrease
in expected loss rate resulted in recovery of long
outstanding debt during the year. For the year ended 31
December 2023, increase in expected loss rate resulted in
an increase in allowance for impairment.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the
Group's largest trade debtor accounted for 7% of its
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
20%). In addition, the Group's top five major customers
accounted for 17% of its total trade receivables as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 41%).
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

35 HFEMTAG

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EEREE @)
Loans receivable: JEWEZ .
In respect of loans receivable from customers and HRERER RBEMHRE
potential suppliers, the Group manages and analyses ENER > NEE BB
the credit risk for each of its debtors before payment BHBANGEEER LERE
terms and conditions are concluded by assessing the HABK I BENEEL
credit qualities of the debtors, taking into account its 5 FTFA VIR IR | R EH AL
financial position, past settlement experience, collateral A& > THEENRIFR R F
held and other factors. Loans receivable balances are HEBEERDMEEBA
monitored on an ongoing basis, management reviews NEERE - FEREREI
the loans receivable at each reporting date to ensure that B R SEEERSRS
adequate impairment allowance is made. In this regard, HERE R E U E AR
management considers that the Group's credit risk is SHE B SR E B o pLLE
significantly reduced. = BEERALEENE
ERRBE AR o
An analysis of changes in the gross amount of loans R EMAEEEEE DT
receivable is as follows: B
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month credit loss credit loss
expected - not credit - credit
credit Loss impaired impaired
(stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) Total
27N 2780
1288  GEEE- GEBEE-
BHEEHFE  JFEEREE EEAE
(B1MEER) (B2MED) (E3MER) it
§'000 §'000 §000 §'000
i Fr i T
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-F—H
ByE B 3900 - 2933 6833
Advance during the year ERBR 3672 = = 3672
Exchange realignment ERAZ - - (83) (83)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R_E-=F+_H
=+—B&ER 757 - 2850 10422
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZE_ME-B—H
Ry 7,572 - 2,850 10,422
Advance during the year FREBT 8,825 - - 8,825
Repayment during the year ERER (5414) - - (5,414)
Exchange realignment ERHE (192) - (94) (286)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R_E_ME+_A
=+—ANER 10,791 - 2,756 13,547
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35 HEMTHAG
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) E=REMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) i) SR @G
Loans receivable: (Continued) JEINEZ . (&)
An analysis of changes in the expected credit loss THHREEEBEEESH D
allowance is as follows: Mal
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month credit loss credit loss
expected - not credit - credit
credit loss impaired impaired
(stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) Total

2HER 2HFEM
28R FEBH- EEBR-
BHEESRE  JHEEEE (ERHE

(FRR) (MR  (EER) At
$'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T T 1 T
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZZ=F-B—H
By R - - 2933 2933
Change in loss allowance: BREEEEY.
- Provision made during the year —ERPER % - = 9
- Exchange realignment -ERBE - - (83) (83)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZB_=%+_RA
=+—ANER % - 2850 294
Balance at 1 January 2024 RIZ-ME-A—HN
s 9% - 2,850 2,944
Change in loss allowance: BEREEE .
- Provision made during the year —ERPERE 66 - - 66
- Exchange realignment -ERAE - - (94) (94)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+—A
=+—Bi&ER 160 - 2,756 2916
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables:

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

35 HFEMTAG

(iii)

For other receivables, the Group measures impairment
for other receivables (including refundable deposit
for proposed acquisition and refundable deposit for
purchase) based on 12-month expected credit loss or
lifetime expected loss, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The directors of the Company make
individual assessment on the impairment of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
historical default experience, past due status of the
debtors and forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. For the Year 2023, the
Group recognised a reversal of impairment loss in
respect of refundable deposit for proposed acquisition
of approximately HK$1,720,000 as such amount was
received during the Year 2023. No provision or reversal of

provision was recognised in the Year 2024.

For the Year 2024, the Group recognised impairment
loss on other receivables, and refundable deposit for
purchase of approximately HK$404,000 (Year 2023: HKS
HKS$1,174,000). The directors of the Company consider
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
other receivables other than the refundable deposit for
proposed acquisition since initial recognition.

Bank deposits:

The credit risk for liquid funds is limited because such
amounts are placed with various banks with good credit
ratings. The Group is exposed to concentration of credit
risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several

banks with high credit ratings.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
loans and other receivables are set out in notes 19 and

20 respectively.

THEREEERREE (B

8RR @
BitfEsE
HPEHMEWRIE AEE
HER12@EBEHREERIE
REAEREEFEEFZ2
HiEWRIERE (B158
EWEEENTRERS
KREREXRBEERE) » BUR
R EBESRUEEER
e R EEEM AATE
$W#F$m I ESE
EBARE B ANARR
RURBEFHANEDN
BY A< 5% 5% /71 Al 18 2 A B
MER HEMEWREIEN
BEETENFGH R E
= FE - AEREERCIE
= FEEWREBRERIEM
HREHEZWBEEEDN
AR B E491,720,00058 70
HNEEBREER KRZE
T EENEREREE DR
R EEE] o

RIS _EE > AEH
MR EHMEW I & TR
ERBERTRAEEBFEY
4040008 7C CEZ=FE .
117400078 7T) e K RB)ESH
m% » EfhEIRIE (B
WREEENRERZ SR
SN BEE R B YRR
DASE G S R 1 0 o
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RSB EERBRER
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FETAG

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) E=REMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) B SRR
The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by the rEBRZEEEREYE
management of the Group. In the management of the @I%.Zuu@]ﬁ%ﬁkzﬂ“
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level rEEBERSHESRAR S E
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the AEEBEEMEEEER
management to finance the Group's operations and to RATEZREARESE
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer BYKE UAREERZE
term. ERERMmEERBARR
R REBE ST K
During the reporting period, the Group financed its RRESHE AEBFEE
working capital requirements principally by funds BEEEENEERIET
generated from operations and bank borrowings. BEEREHEEEEERE K
The following table details the Group's contractual TRAFMAEERNRBRSH
maturities at the end of reporting period for its financial rAeHMBEZENEHY
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on Mre TRDLBEEHNAEE
undiscounted cash flows of financial and lease liabilities BEZARMRBAERE I
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be UAREBBNTNEEH
required to pay. The table includes both interest and HAEERE RABIEF
principal cash flows. ERFERERE
Repayable on Total
demand or undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year 1-5years cash flows amount
FRERY KRR
R—-FREE —-E1f mERE IREfE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i Tr
As at 31 December 2024 RZF-ME
+ZB=+-H
Trade payables BRRMRN 216,078 - 216,078 216,078
Financial liabilities included in other SAHMEMTIE
payables, accruals and deposits received  FESERREKIRSE
ZEHEE 7814 - 7,814 7814
Leases liabiltes REEE 4,504 2,386 6,890 6,584
Loan from controlling shareholder, REERREZER
unsecured 2 19,852 - 19,852 19,188
Bank borrowings RITEE
~ factoring loans -REEH 132,469 - 132,469 132,469
- instalment and other loans (note 1) —PBRHMER
(1) 19,045 - 19,045 19,045
- other bank loans - supplier finance —HAtRT B — R
arrangement (note 1) RE R (EH) 478,087 - 478,087 478,087
(8 o BRIES 100 20,200 20,300 17,073
877,949 22,586 900,535 896,338
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

RAFS R MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

35 £REITHG

ERAREEBFRREE (8)

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) SREIESREM @&
Repayable on Total
demand or undiscounted Carrying
within T year 1-5 years cash flows amount
ARERIN FERRE
—EREE —Eff mERE REfE
§'000 §000 §'000 §000
T R T T
As at 31 December 2023 RZIZZ=F
+ZB=1+-H
Trade payables BEREAED 164622 = 164622 164622
Financial liabilities included in other STARMERTIE
payables, accruals and deposits received  EEFBRRBKIRE
ZERER 11,078 - 11,078 11,078
Leases liabilities RE&E 4072 5,695 9,767 9150
Loan from controlling shareholder, REZRREZEZ
unsecured il 44565 = 44565 43784
Bank borrowings RITEE
~ factoring loans —-REEY 320552 = 320552 320552
- instalment loans (note 1) - DHED () 20991 = 20991 20991
- other bank loans - supplier finance -HtiRTER-1ED
amangement (note 1) RERHE (f5H) 417529 = 417529 417529
(8 AR ES 100 20,300 20400 16,150
983,509 25,995 1,009,504 1,003,856
Note 1: FMIEET

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “Repayable on demand or within 1 year”time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of these borrowings amounted
to HK$497,132,000 (2023: HK$438,520,000). Taking into account
the Group's financial position, the Directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

R EMEERH DA ERE
KREZERINEEATER
BRFP—FREEIRFER R
_E_NE+_B=+—8"
ZEEENRIIRASEEES
497,132,000 7T (ZTE =4 :
438,520,000 7T) © &t R AE
EEHEAR T EETA IR
TARKRAETEERNIBEERK
BN -BERA ZEIER
TERBREERRERETE
TEENHHREE
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

35 H£FETAG

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) E=REMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) wEEERR (@
Note 1: (Continued) MizE1 @ (58)
In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain RIEMBRZERERERNE
a repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile of TER ZEBRNBREHAFR
these loans as at the end of reporting period, based on the HEIHRIE R (2 & 4RI
contractual undiscounted payment according to the scheduled MEREBEREERER NT:
repayment dates, is as follows:
Within 1 year 1to5years  Over5 years Total
—ER —-Eif BRLE it
$'000 §'000 §000 §'000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-mE
+ZR=+-A
Instalment and other loans PHRHEMER 5,685 14,320 1,766 21,mM
Other bank loans - supplier finance HiiRTEm—HERS
armangement MEZH 483,176 - - 483,176
438,861 14,320 1,766 504,947
As at 31 December 2023 g ——
t-A=+-H
Instalment loans PHER 6,025 9091 9734 24,850
Other bank loans - supplier finance HitRITEH— R
arangement MELH 42299 - - 42299
429015 9,091 9734 447840
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36

RAFS R MIEE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

36

The Group's financial instruments that are measured at fair values and
are measured at amortised cost whose carrying amount differs from

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

R TRATENE

FEBRAFEFEREHHMAS
ENEHMIE (HREERATER

fair values, are as follows: B) T :
Carrying amount Fair values
IREE AFE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EPomE | ZZT-F| ZT@mE| ZZZ=F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Fr Tt
Financial assets: SHEE:
-financial instrumentat VIPL ~ —H@AFEIABZNEHRTE 13,481 13,125 13,481 13,125
~ derivative asset —TEEE 262 1730 262 1,730
13,743 14,855 13,743 4855
Financial liabilities: EHEaE:
- (B — AR RES 17,073 16,150 16,904 15,133
Management assessed that the fair values of cash and cash EEETFMIAA ReEkREEEB

equivalents, restricted balance, trade receivables, trade payables,

)~ ZBRAUAEER %%E%H&EE?\K\ 85

financial assets included in other receivables and deposits, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, loan from
controlling shareholder and the current portion of bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

FEATERTR 5t AH MW IE R i &

MERMEE ST AHMB I RIERE
StEANERa R REERKRREZ
ERRBITEENRBH DA TE
HHREEREG T2ANZSIIA
PRAEHEAP ZIH -

SHRIRTTEERIFREE DA FE
EEBRERAAREFHELURR EEER
RFEGHRNTANER AR X

HIEHRKRIRSNEBETRRFAR -
R _E_NER_F_=ZF+_H

_—1— B> x&EFEEENEET
BHRBERT AR TIER
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36 FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 36
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period for
recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy.

EMTALTENE @

TRINHR SRS HERMEE S
BURATEFENER T RO RIR
AEBGFEREATFENIRER
ERRE—ES=MAe

Assets measured at fair value BAFEIENEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—4 FZHR BZH Mt
$'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
31 December 2023 —E-Z®#+-RA=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEHABGNEREE
Deposit placed for life insurance ~ — ASREILS
policy - 13,125 - 13,125
Derivative asset in respect of early — S ] IR B 4512 A1 HE I £ A RARY
redemption option of CB TEBE - = 1730 1730
Total st 13,125 1730 14,855
31 December 2024 —E-ME+-RA=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEStABRNEREE
Deposit placed for life insurance ~ AS{REBERSE
policy - 13,481 - 13,481
Derivative asset in respect of early S A[$EH R A1 BB BN
redemption option of CB THEEE - - 262 262
Total st - 13,481 262 13,743

There were no transfers between level of fair value hierarchy in
current and prior years.
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36

e TR MYEE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

TMTAATENE @

Assets measured at fair value (Continued) ?E’\EFTE%'f%BgﬁE (€59
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements on recurring basis: MR B EEETE=RINAFES
ERHER !
Early redemption
option on CB
Al AR RS
2 A1) BE 5] 1
$'000
Tt
1 January 2023 é:;:_ﬁ B—H 1,001
Gain arising on changes of fair value recognised in IR Bm R A ES B E LK
profit or loss 729
At 31 December 2023 R CEBEC=F+"HA=+—H 1,730
Loss arising on changes of fair value recognised in IR IBm RN AT EESEENEIE
profit or loss (1,467)
Others Hith (1)
At 31 December 2024 B _NE+"H=+—H 262
Since the Level 3 of financial assets are not quoted in an active HRE=REMmEENEEM ST &

market, Hull model is used to estimate the fair value. When
estimating fair value using valuation technique, observable inputs
and data from the practical market (e.g. share price volatility, credit
spreads and risk free rate etc) are adopted. If the observable inputs in
the market cannot be obtained, the observable input data that are
calibrated as closely as possible to the market observable data are
used for estimating the fair value.

Meanwhile, the credit risk, volatility, correlation, etc of the Group
and the counterparty are estimated by the management. The
changing of these factors will affect the estimated fair value of the
financial instruments; therefore, there were uncertainty of accounting
estimation on Level 3 of financial assets.

%ET%’W%FHMEE& UEEtATFETE
fERAERM G A FERFEAER
% P SR A iR R R (Dﬂﬁxf 4
M EEEERERRANXSE) - HE
SRS AR AR AR
B pERA T B A R AR 2 EHE
BRm ANt AFE

FE AEBRHFHHNEEERR
RIERBRMESTEEEEE LG
steRERRMELELE) BRESR
TEMGESHATE ; At B=RE/
BEEFAESHOStIREE N
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36 FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The above (loss)/gain arising from derivative asset for the Year 2024
and Year 2023 has been included in “fair value (loss)/gain in derivative
asset” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Below is the summary of significant unobservable input to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

36 ERITAATEIZE @

RATEAENEE (8

AR NFERCE T =FE B
TEBEELEN (B1B) RHEB5A
fraEnmkEMEE N %EE’]WJE,Q
EMATE (518 W

UFAR 2 _MF+—"HA=+—H
rRZEZF+"RA=+—HEMI
QT&TEE'J%ﬁTT%E%%U\%ZFWE
BEEEBRKEDN

Relationship of

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs to
Description technique Key input unobservable inputs  fair value
) RBATENRTRES
it fE{E Rl FEHARE ERFIRRBARE ABBHNRMEZ
Derivative asset in respect of Hull model Expected volatility, credit  Expected volatility of The higher the volatility rate,

early redemption option of CB spreads, spot price

and risk-free rate

HEARESRAELOE  HRER TREIRIENMEERE
BERNITEEE REERK
EE RN R

The fair value of derivative asset in respect of early redemption
option of CB was determined using Hull model that considers the
possible future prices of each period in time as well as the respective
probability.

The fair value measurement of the derivative asset is positively
correlated to the volatility level. As at 31 December 2024, it is
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the expected volatility by 10% would have increased/
decreased (2023: decreased/increased) the Group's profit (2023: loss)
by approximately HK$343,000 (2023: HK$1,051,000) and HKS$136,000
(2023: HK$848,000), respectively.

178 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI 2R A IR AT

TEHRRIE32.73% (&

32.73% (2023:40.54%) the higher the fair value

WX ATEES
T = 4054%)

BT RS R A BB R ITE
BEMNATETLVERAMBRELEE &%
BREE R T K EE R A AERRERE
Bk BRI

MEBENAFES2HE KBKF
2FEHEEEGR - R _S_WE+_3
=+—H Bt EFrEHME SR
FARSIERT  BEREE 0,

10048 1 2~ 5= @ 8935 7’FIJ (ZEZ=F:
E18) HRIEm, mb ( CEZ=F: ﬂz
b/ HEN) 4 7343000575 (CB==F:

1,051,0005 7T) F136,00058 7T (ZE_=
£ 84800058 7T) ©
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36 FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 36 MTAATFEAE @

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Below is the summary of valuation technique used for Level 2 inputs:

BRATEAENEE @)
BURARARE R A BB ER
TR

Description Valuation technique Inputs
g & 1B K il A BIE
Deposit placed for life insurance policy Expected cash flows Cash value quoted by an insurance
company
AERERE TEHRERE REBEABIPMRNIREEE
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EHEEATENAR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—4 -t B=H st
$'000 §°000 §000 $'000
F7T T T T
31 December 2024 —E-mE+=ZBA=+—H
C8 oA 1E 25 - 16,904 - 16,904
31 December 2023 “EC=Ft+ZRA=+—H
CB o] 1S 25 - 15,133 - 15,133
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37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities.

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

37 =ABME
AR NEAR_E_=F+_A1
=+—H > mEFTEFMEARAE

o

38 RARERERMGE

FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) BB EREIFREEXABINEHER
activities
Bank borrowings
HTEE
Other bank Loan from
Factoring, bank borrowings - controlling
instalmentand ~ supplier finance sharefolder, Lease
other loans anangement unsecured Liabilities (B Total
Bttty RBER
REBATE  GE-HEE  RELER
REMER HELH Eigigid L ThRES st
§000 §000 5000 §000 5000 §000
T T T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2023 RIEZE
-f-8
Rt 137010 346656 = 9616 15207 508509
Changes fom financing actinties BEFNES .
Advancement of benk instalmentloans B SRITHHER 3289 = = = = 3289
Repayment of bank instalment loans BRETIHER (5,536) = = = = (3,536)
Increase in actoring loans REEZEM 1957 = = = = 29572
Net increase/(decrease) in other bank EfREESEn/
borrowings (A1) 38
- supplier finance amangement ~EFHERY = 7159 = = = 71,259
- others -t (2279) - - - - (2279)
Increase in loan from controling TBERRENEN
shareholder, unsecured (IR S8 - = 43470 = = 43470
Interests on bank borrowings paid BREENE (953) (24019 = 5 5 (33,551)
Interests on convertible bond paid BRTRRESHE - - - - (100) (100)
Capital element oflease rentals paid BARERSERYH - - - (3304) = (3304)
Interest element oflease rentals paid BAREREAESD - - - 430) > 430)
Total changes flom financing activites HETHNEHNT 195,001 47240 43470 (3,740 (100) 281871
Other changes; HETHNEHNT
Finance costs charged to proft or loss RERNBHRERE
(note ) (z7) 9532 2019 314 43% 1023 3534
Increase in ease liabilties from entering into - &~ =T HAE
new leases during the Year 2023 EHRESEEN - - - 319 = 319
Disposal RE - - - ) - )
Exchange realignment ERBE - (3%6) - (268) = (654)
Total other changes Eteaes 953 3633 314 374 103 31776
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZBE_=%+_A
=+—AiEH 34154 417509 43,784 9150 16,50 828,156
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(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 38 AR RERME (B
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) MEZFFIELESGERHIE
activities (Continued) (€59)
Bank borrowings
i
Other bank Loan from
Factoring, borrowings - controlling
bankinstalment  supplier finance shareholder,
and other loans arrangement unsecured  Lease Liabilities (] Total
BT REk
REEEAE  RE-GEE  RENER
REMER MERH g 88k iRfES it
$'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 $'000 §'000
T T T i T i
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZZ-ME-F-H
Bt 31,583 07,529 43,784 9,150 16,150 828,156
Changes fom financing actinties: BEFINES .
Advancement of bank other loan BYEMSROER 3,249 - - - - 3,249
Repayment of bank instalment loans BERTIPER (5,092) - - - - (5,092)
Decrease in factoring loans REERED (188,083) - - - - (188,083)
Netincrease in other bank borrowings -~ SRS INFE
supplier finance arrangement ~EBRERH - 61,382 - - - 61,382
Advancement of loan from controlling REFRRROER
shareholder, unsecured (B8 B3 - - 19,188 - - 19,188
Repayment of loan from controlling EERBERRRNED
shareholder - - (45,466) . s (45,466)
Interests on bank borrowings paid BRAHEENE (15,261) (27,345) - - - (42,606)
Interests on convertible bond paid BRTRRESHE - - - - (100) (100)
Capital element oflease rentals paid BAREREELSH - - - (4237) - (4237)
Interest element oflease rentals paid BARERSAESND - - - (a27) - (427)
Totel chenges fiom fnencing actiites ~ BAEEENVEE)REE (205,187) 34,037 (26,278) (4,664) (100) (202,192)
Other changes: EtEg.
Finance costs charged to proft or loss RERTBHRERE
(note ) () 15,261 27,345 1,682 47 1,03 45,738
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into — % —TVEBE] I HHE
new leases during the Year 2024 EErNRESEEM = = - 1912 - 1912
Exchange realignment ERBE (103) (824) - (241) - (1,168)
Totel other changs AtEEEE 15,158 26521 1,682 2,098 1,023 46,482
Balance at 31 December 2024 RIE-METZA
=+—ARER 151,514 478,087 19,188 6,584 17,073 672,446
(b) Material non-cash transactions (b) BEXFERERS

RTENFE AEEEUT
ERFREMEED

- the Group entered into new lease agreements and — AEEGTUHMBEEHRIL
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RBERESERHEES
approximately HK$1,912,000 (2023: HK$3,129,000). E#1,912,0008 7T (Z&

=4 3,129,00057T) ©

During the Year 2024, the Group has the following material
non-cash financing activities:
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39 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

OF THE COMPANY

39 FATNMBIKNRRRfHE

2024 2023
—EmE T =F
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries REATNEE 14,065 15,464
Total non-current assets EMBNEEMRE 14,065 15,464
Current assets RENEE
Derivative asset TTEEE 262 1,730
Amounts due from subsidiaries =N 150,660 154,069
Deposits and prepayments BERFEMTIE 207 10
Bank balances IR1THE R 372 306
Total current assets MEEERE 151,501 156,115
Current liabilities mEafE
Other payables, accruals HhfENRIE Bt & 13,530 13,482
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI ENCIE = 13,034 10,493
Total current liabilities MENBRAREE 26,564 23,975
Net current assets RENEERE 124,937 132,140
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bond AT ES 17,073 16,150
Total non-current liabilities JEMEN B EARRE 17,073 16,150
NET ASSETS BERE 121,929 131,454
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B RKi#E
Share capital (&N 10,751 10,751
Reserves HE 101,178 110,703
Perpetual subordinated convertible KA R AR A ARG 55
securities 10,000 10,000
TOTAL EQUITY miE s 121,929 131,454
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHERA LIATIIR)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 39 ZSABIMIMTEHR R R (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company’s issued capital and reserve EATNB B ITIRE KR HEES
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
restricted  Share-based subordinated
Share Share  share award payment  Convertible Retained convertible
capital premium scheme reserve  bond reserve earnings Subtotal securities ~ Total Equity
MR
REHET  MRGEA Ak KARR
ks RIYVEE BERD  RERE  GHEE  RIEN It TRES g
§000 §000 §000 5000 §000 §000 §000 5000 §000
Tr i A T Tr i i T T
At1 January 2023 R-E_=E-B-H 10,751 132,388 (5104 1641 9735 (20438) 128973 10,000 138973
Loss for the year ERER - = = 5 (5047) (5047) = (5047)
Shaes purchased for the Award AREGEEANRS
Scheme - - (2990) - - - (2990) - (2990)
Recognition of equity-setted SNRHEE 2R
share-based payment fiFE - - 568 - - 568 = 568
Shares vested for the Award Scheme 52 BIEtBIR B BRI = 5 937 (810) 5 (127) = 5
Distribution to holder of perpetual LKA AR AT 4Bk 285
subordinated convertible securides A AR - - - - (50) (50) = (50)
31 Deceroer 2003 e L T A - T T L T
At T January 2024 RZ2-ME-A-H 10,751 132,388 (7157) 1399 9,735 (25662) 121454 10,000 131,454
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (7,279) (7,279) - (7,279)
Shaes purchased for the Award AREFEEANRS
Scheme - - (797) - - - (797) - (797)
Recognition of equity-settled SNRHEE 2R
share-based payment fIFE - - - 83 - - 8 - 8
Reversalof share-based payment G RENRAREIEEN
expenses for the subsequently RAETER
forfeited share awards - - - (1,482) - - (1,482) - (1,482)
Distribution to holder of perpetual ~ EXARRATRRESFHAA
subordinated convertible securities — BY) R - - - - - (50) (50) S (50)
31 December 2004 RIECMETZASI-8 | 051 1338 (7854 o () g9 1000 12199
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Five year financial summary

L FERBRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out below.

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

RBELEMBREENEEREZGEURE

B BERIHEREDIMEHIM T

RESULTS 45
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“ECNE | CE=F ZRI-HF B EBTEE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fr Fr Fi Fr
Revenue Wi 3,051,943 2,529,796 2,689,094 2,640,100 1,756,038
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIRETER],
(K518) 3,659 (5,202) (33,867) 23,107 1,771
Tax I 2,563 (4,958) 831 (6,487) (1,650)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEWiEF (58 6,222 (10,160) (33,036) 16,620 121
Attributable to: MUFALFEG:
- Owners of the Company  VNCIEZ 2SN 6,721 (16,160) (32,386) 6,735 (5115)
- Non-controlling interests —JEERER (499) 6,000 (650) 9,885 5236
6,222 (10,160) (33,036) 16,620 121
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BHiE B ERIEERERS
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZECNE | CTT=F Z-F TT-F EZ2IEF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Frx T T T FIT
Total assets BEMAE 1,292,661 1,354,286 1,013,434 1,094,117 1,028,529
Total liabilities BEME% (968,704) (1,026,207) (670,884) (753,771) (707,035)
Non-controlling interests R (34,644) (37,463) (31,386) (35,518) (28,080)
PSCS KARER (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) = =
oJHRE S
Equity attributable to the owners Z<A TR A
of the Company (G 279,313 280,616 301,164 304,828 293414
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Glossary

R

Act
NELE

AGM
BRRBFRG

Annual Report

FR

Articles of Association

EEEEAA

Audit Committee
BREES

AVT
MR

Award Scheme

5 st 8

Best Sheen
[EF—
Board
Ex5g

Board Diversity Policy
EFEMESTTIEER

CB
AR ES

CEO
TEABEL

CG Code
AT

Chairman

S

CODM
TEEEREE

Company

PN/NS|

Company Secretary

NEWE

Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman

Islands

FEHE(ATNE) E2E (1961 FF35REH (RERE RIERD))

annual general meeting of the Company

KABRRBFARG

annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z_ME+_A=+—HLEMHRFEEZFER

articles of association of the Company

KRB EBEZMER

audit committee of the Board
EEEBE%EEY

AVT International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
BBV ERBEEBRAR BRARBMBAZ

restricted share award scheme adopted by the Board on 30 August 2019

EFER_T-AF/N\B =T HEMZIRHER M EZR 58

Best Sheen Limited
EEERAE

the board of directors of the Company

KABEEFE

board diversity policy of the Company
FABREFEMEZSTTIEER

the convertible bond in the principal amount of HK$20.0 million

AEFRA2008 B BT BRKRES

chief executive officer of the Company

A BT R,

Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix to the Listing Rules

ERAIMERCI PR X EE A

Chairman of the Board

EREXRE

chief operating decision maker

TBEERES

Apex Ace Holding Limited
FERIERBRAR

company secretary of the Company

KABRBME
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PR R

Controlling Shareholder(s)
R IR R

CovID-19
CovID-19

Custodian

sEEA

Director(s)

5%

Dividend Policy
iz BECR

Dr. Chow
MWEE

Global Offering
2IKEE

Group
~EE

HKD/HK $
BTT

HKFRSs
BAMBREGER

HKICPA
EEBHOAE

HKSAs
& BB A

Independent Auditor

J& 3 A% BB

INED(s)
BIFRITES

Listing
£

Listing Date
EmHE

Listing Rules

EHRA

controlling shareholder(s) (has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules) of

the Company

FRBIERKRR (BA LHRAEFZA0EE)

Coronavirus disease of 2019
20198 AR E B IR

the custodian of the Award Scheme appointed by the Company

KABEERNRBFETEA

directors of the Company

KFABEF

dividend policy of the Company
KRB REBEER

Dr. Chow Terence

SEHBE

global offering of ordinary Shares
EREEEER

Company and its subsidiaries

FABREWEAF

Hong Kong dollars
BT
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

BRHBREEL

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
EERHPAG

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
BAEEL

independent auditor of the Company

NS ERVR 2 Gl

independent non-executive Directors

BIJFRTES

The issued shares of the Company were initially listed on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange
RABBETRONB A ERER LS

16 March 2018
—F-\FZH+H

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

32T aE s L ARAY
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R

Main Board

EWR

Memorandum and Articles

KA K 4R AY
Model Code
1Z2ESTH|

Mr. CH Lee
FEERE
Mr. Cheung SK
sR/NER S

Mr. Cheung HK

Mr. Lee
FRE
Mr. Lo
Bk
Mr. Yim
BTk
Ms. Lo
Bzt
NCTOR
RELZESHERHE
NED(s)
ERITES
Nicegoal

EW

Nicegoal Investments

EBRE

Nomination Committee
RREEE

Nomination Policy

RBHBR

PRC
FRE]

the stock market (excluding the option markets) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM

B PrE EMB L N CGEMKR BEAGEMIE 1T EB 2 R 55 (R EIEHET5)

memorandum and articles of association of the Company

PNt N4

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

EFHRAIMERCGPAE EHEITAERETESIZNRETE]

Mr. Lee Chak Hol
EEENRE

Mr. Cheung Siu Ku
SR/NEI A

Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong
RIBIIE

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong
FRAFKE

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin
e

Mr. Yim Kwok Man
EE s

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai
ErxELL

terms of reference of the Nomination Committee

RUEEIRIESE

non-executive Director(s)

FERTES

Nicegoal Limited

EBARRF

Nicegoal Investments Limited

EBREBRLQT

nomination committee of the Board
EERRLEETY

nomination policy of the Company

RABRBER

People’s Republic of China
hEARHEME
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PR R

Prospectus
BRER

PSCS

IKAR A P) 4 IR 5

Remuneration Committee
¥FI’E)‘H§/ = =

RMB
AR

SFO
5 RS RA

Share(s)
&R

Share Option Scheme

BERREStE

Shareholders

BB

Stock Exchange

Bk 32 PR

Subsidiaries

(N EYANE
Substantial Shareholder(s)
FERE

TWD
e

USD/USS
=TT

Year 2024/Reporting Period
REE RS

Year 2023
SECCERE

%
%

prospectus of the Company dated 28 February 2018
AABIHBAZE— N \FZAZ+N\HZBRER

the perpetual subordinated convertible securities in the principal amount of

HK$10.0 million
REZEA1008 EBTTZ KARMTIRGE

remuneration committee of the Board
EEFHWEZES

Renminbi

ARH

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BHEEBIFE1 B S KA R

Company's issued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

RABBREBIBTZEETEER

share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 February 2018
KRR ZBE—-N\F_A+ILBHMNZ BRESE

shareholders of the Company

KATIRER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEAMERZFIARAR

all or certain subsidiaries of the Company(as the case may be)

ARBPRAERETHBAR (RIBERME)

substantial shareholder(s) (having the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing

Rules) of the Company
AABEBRE (BB LTRUBTZANEE)

New Taiwan dollar

Mmar

United States dollars

ETT

financial year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z_NMFE+_A=+—HLHFHFE

financial year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_=—F+_RA=1t—HLEMBFE

Percent

BOLE
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